AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ON JULY 1, 2003.

**REGISTRATION NO. 333** 

#### SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

### FORM S-4

**REGISTRATION STATEMENT** UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

WELLPOINT HEALTH NETWORKS INC. (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

DELAWARE (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

6324 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

95-4635504 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

**1 WELLPOINT WAY THOUSAND OAKS, CALIFORNIA 91362** (818) 234-4000

(Address, Including Zip Code and Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Registrant's Principal Executive Offices)

> THOMAS C. GEISER **EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT,** GENERAL COUNSEL AND SECRETARY **1 WELLPOINT WAY THOUSAND OAKS, CALIFORNIA 91362**

(818) 234-4000

(Name, Address, Including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Agent For Service)

COPIES TO:

GARY I. HOROWITZ SIMPSON THACHER & BARTLETT LLP 425 LEXINGTON AVENUE NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10017

JOSEPH C. BRANCH FOLEY & LARDNER US BANK CENTER 777 EAST WISCONSIN AVENUE MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN 53202-5367

APPROXIMATE DATE OF COMMENCEMENT OF PROPOSED SALE TO THE PUBLIC: As soon as practicable following consummation of the merger described in this registration statement.

If the securities being registered on this form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box.  $\Box$ 

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.  $\Box$ CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

TITLE OF SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED	AMOUNT TO BE REGISTERED(1)	PROPOSED MAXIMUM OFFERING PRICE PER SHARE(1)	PROPOSED MAXIMUM AGGREGATE OFFERING PRICE(2)	AMOUNT OF REGISTRATION FEE(2)
Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per				
share	N/A	N/A	\$519,852,701.79	\$42,056.08

(1) Pursuant to Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act, this information is not included.

(2) This registration statement relates to common stock of WellPoint to be issued in the proposed merger of Cobalt Corporation into Crossroads Acquisition Corp. through which Cobalt Corporation will become a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint. The Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price and registration fee was calculated pursuant to Rule 457(f) under the Securities Act as 45,685,721 (the maximum number of shares of Cobalt common stock and options to purchase Cobalt common stock that are to be converted into shares of WellPoint common stock and options to purchase WellPoint common stock) multiplied by \$20.64 (the average of the high and low prices of Cobalt common stock on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions Tape on June 27, 2003). Pursuant to Rule 457(f) under the Securities Act, the anticipated \$423,100,576.65 amount of cash consideration to be paid by the registrant to the holders of Cobalt Corporation common stock in the merger has been deducted from the value of the securities to be received by the registrant in the exchange.

THE REGISTRANT HEREBY AMENDS THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON SUCH DATE OR DATES AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO DELAY ITS EFFECTIVE DATE UNTIL THE REGISTRANT SHALL FILE A FURTHER AMENDMENT WHICH SPECIFICALLY STATES THAT THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL THEREAFTER BECOME EFFECTIVE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 8(a) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR UNTIL THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE ON SUCH DATE AS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ACTING PURSUANT TO SAID SECTION 8(a), MAY DETERMINE.

#### Subject to completion, dated July 1, 2003



**Cobalt Corporation** 

Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203 , 2003

Dear Shareholder:

You are being asked to vote upon a historic event for your company. The boards of directors of Cobalt Corporation and WellPoint Health Networks Inc. have agreed that WellPoint will acquire Cobalt in a merger.

In the merger, Cobalt will become a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint. For each share of Cobalt common stock you own, you will receive \$10.25 in cash and 0.1233 of a share of WellPoint common stock. The exchange ratio will be adjusted if WellPoint's stock price falls below \$70.97 so that you will receive no less than \$8.75 per share in WellPoint common stock and a total of no less than \$19.00 per share in cash and WellPoint common stock. WellPoint's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "WLP."

You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of shareholders of Cobalt to be held at , Milwaukee, Wisconsin, at local time, on , 2003. At the special meeting, you will be asked to vote to approve the merger.

Your participation in the special meeting, in person or by proxy, is welcome, although you should be aware that Wisconsin United for Health Foundation, Inc. owns approximately 59.6% of our outstanding shares and has already agreed with WellPoint to vote or cause to be voted, subject to certain termination rights, all of the shares it owns and has a right to vote in favor of the merger, which will be sufficient to approve the merger regardless of the vote of any other shareholders. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, you may complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card promptly in the accompanying postage paid envelope. If you do not vote, you will have effectively voted against the merger.

# This document includes detailed information about the merger. Please read this document carefully, including the section describing risk factors that begins on page 21.

Your board of directors has approved the merger and recommends that you vote to approve the merger.

I look forward to your support.

Sincerely,

Stephen E. Bablitch Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved the shares of WellPoint common stock to be issued in the merger or determined whether this document is accurate or adequate. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The information in this proxy statement/prospectus is not complete and may be changed. WellPoint may not sell the securities being offered by use of this proxy statement/prospectus until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, is declared effective. This proxy statement/prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is prohibited.

This proxy statement/prospectus is dated on or about , 2003.

, 2003 and was first mailed to shareholders



**Cobalt Corporation** 

Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203

#### NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TIME:	local time on , 2003
PLACE:	[ ]
ITEM OF BUSINESS:	To consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the acquisition of Cobalt by WellPoint Health Networks Inc. pursuant to the plan of merger included in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 3, 2003, among Cobalt, WellPoint and Crossroads Acquisition Corp. The merger and the merger agreement are described in this proxy statement/ prospectus and the merger agreement is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Appendix A.
RECORD DATE:	You are entitled to vote if you were a record shareholder at the close of business on , 2003.
VOTING BY PROXY:	All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the special meeting. Whether or not you intend to be present at the special meeting, your board of directors requests you to promptly sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is exercised, and it will not be used if you attend the special meeting and prefer to vote in person. Your vote is important, and all shareholders are urged to be present at the special meeting in person or by proxy.
	By Order of the Board of Directors,
	Lorna J. Granger Secretary
Milwaukee, Wisconsin	

, 2003

#### **REFERENCE TO ADDITIONAL INFORMATION**

This proxy statement/prospectus incorporates important business and financial information about Cobalt and WellPoint from documents that are not included in or delivered with this proxy statement/ prospectus. This information is available to you without charge upon your written or oral request. You can obtain documents related to Cobalt and WellPoint that are incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus, without charge, by requesting them in writing or by telephone from the appropriate company:

Investor Relations Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203 Telephone: (414) 226-6900 Investor Relations WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1 WellPoint Way Thousand Oaks, California 91362 (818) 234-4000

If you would like to request documents, please do so by the Cobalt special meeting.

, 2003 to receive them before

See "Where You Can Find More Information."

#### **Table of Contents**

	Page
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER	1
SUMMARY	3
The Companies	3
The Special Meeting	4
Merger Consideration	4
Recommendation of Cobalt's Board of Directors	5
Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor	5
Interests of Directors and Officers in the Merger that Differ from Your Interests	5
No Dissenters' Rights	6
Approvals of Regulatory Authorities and the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association	6
Conditions to the Merger	6
Termination of the Merger Agreement	8
Non-Solicitation	10
Accounting Treatment	10
Market Price Information	10
Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger	11
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	12
MARKET PRICE INFORMATION	12
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	20
RISK FACTORS	20 21
INFORMATION REGARDING THE SPECIAL MEETING	<sup>21</sup> 34
	34 34
Time, Date and Place	34 34
	34 34
Purpose of Special Meeting	
The Number of Votes You Have	34
How You Can Vote	34
Quorum Requirement; Vote Required	34
How Proxies Will Be Voted	35
Voting of Foundation Shares	35
How You Can Revoke Your Proxy or Change Your Vote	35
Costs and Method of Solicitation	35
Dissenters' Rights	35
THE MERGER	36
Merger Consideration	36
Background of the Merger	36
Cobalt's Reasons for the Merger	39
Recommendation of the Cobalt Board of Directors	41
WellPoint's Reasons for the Merger	41
Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor	42
Closing; Effective Time of the Merger	49
Manner and Basis of Converting Shares; Procedure; No Fractional Shares; Effect on	
Certificates	49
Effects on Employee Benefit Plans	50
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger	50
Equity Incentive Plan	50
2003 Incentive Plan	51
Stock Options	51

i

	Page
Chief Executive Officer Severance Agreement	51
President and Chief Operating Officer Severance Agreement	52
Executive Severance Agreements	53
Indemnification and Liability Insurance	55
Restrictions on Sales of WellPoint Common Stock	56
Governmental and Regulatory Approvals	56
Merger Expenses, Fees and Costs	57
Accounting Treatment	57
No Dissenters' Rights	57
Form of the Merger	58
Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger	58
Delisting and Deregistration of Cobalt Common Stock	61
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	62
Merger Consideration	62
Closing and Effective Time of the Merger	62
Conversion of Cobalt Stock Options	62
Medicare Part A Claims Processing	63
Conditions to the Merger	63
Representations and Warranties of WellPoint and Cobalt	65
Conduct of the Business of WellPoint and Cobalt Prior to the Merger	66
No Solicitation of Transactions	69
Conduct of the Business of the Combined Companies Following the Merger	69
Affiliate Agreements	69
Termination	70
Termination Fee; Reimbursement of Certain Expenses	71
Indemnification and Insurance	72
Amendments to Cobalt's Articles of Incorporation	72 72
Amendments to Cobalt's Bylaws       RELATED AGREEMENTS	72 73
	73
Voting and Lockup Agreement	73 74
Registration Rights Agreement	/4
STOCKHOLDERS	75
Board of Directors	75
Committees of the Board	77
Discretion of Officers and Directors	77
Actions by Stockholders Without a Meeting; Special Meetings	77
Amendments to Certificate or Articles of Incorporation	78
Amendments to Bylaws	80
General Voting Requirements	80
Vote Required for Certain Transactions	81
Certain Restrictions on Ownership of Securities	81
Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders	83
Control Share Voting and "Greenmail" Transactions	84
Conflicting Interest Transactions	85
Appraisal Rights	85
Dividends and Repurchases of Shares; Par Value	86
Assessability	87
SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2004 ANNUAL MEETING	87
EXPERTS	87

ii

	Page
LEGAL MATTERS	87
AVAILABLE INFORMATION	87
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE	88

#### APPENDICES:

Appendix A— Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 3, 2003, by and among Cobalt, WellPoint and Crossroads Acquisition Corp.

Appendix B— Opinion of UBS Warburg LLC, now known as UBS Securities LLC.

#### QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER

#### Q. What does Cobalt's Board of Directors recommend?

A. Cobalt's board of directors has unanimously approved the merger and the merger agreement. The board recommends that the Cobalt shareholders vote "FOR" the proposal to approve the merger and the merger agreement.

#### Q. What will I receive for my Cobalt common stock?

- A. For each share of Cobalt common stock you own you will receive:
  - (1) \$10.25 in cash; and
  - (2) 0.1233 of a share of WellPoint common stock, subject to adjustment if WellPoint's stock price falls below \$70.97 so that you will receive no less than \$8.75 per share in WellPoint common stock and a total of no less than \$19.00 per share in cash and WellPoint common stock.

You will not receive any fractional shares of WellPoint common stock. Instead, you will receive cash, without interest, for any fractional share of WellPoint common stock you might otherwise have been entitled to receive based on the market value of the WellPoint common stock on the date the merger occurs.

### Q. What should I do if my shares of Cobalt common stock are held by my broker or otherwise in "street name?"

A. If you hold your shares of Cobalt common stock in "street name" (i.e., your bank or broker holds your shares for you), you should receive instructions regarding voting procedures directly from your bank or broker. If you have any questions regarding these procedures, you should contact your bank or broker directly, or you may contact WellPoint or Cobalt at the addresses or telephone numbers listed on the next page.

#### Q. Can the value of the transaction change between now and the time the merger is completed?

A. Yes. The value of the merger consideration composed of WellPoint common stock can change, although the cash portion of the consideration will not change. The 0.1233 exchange ratio is subject to adjustment if WellPoint's stock price falls below \$70.97 so that Cobalt shareholders will receive no less than \$8.75 per share in WellPoint common stock and a total of no less than \$19.00 per share in cash and WellPoint common stock. Therefore, the market value of the total transaction, and of the WellPoint common stock you may receive in the merger, will increase or decrease as the trading price of WellPoint common stock during the period immediately preceding the closing of the merger is below \$62.50, each of WellPoint and Cobalt has the right to terminate the merger agreement and abandon the merger. See "The Merger Agreement—Termination."

#### Q. When will the merger be completed?

A. It is intended that the merger be completed as soon as possible after Cobalt's shareholders approve the merger and the merger agreement, all other regulatory approvals have been obtained and other conditions to the closing have been satisfied or waived.

The regulatory approvals are described below at "The Merger—Governmental and Regulatory Approvals."

#### Q. What should I do now?

A. Mail your signed proxy card in the enclosed return envelope as soon as possible so that your shares of Cobalt common stock may be represented at the special meeting. It is important that the proxy card be received as soon as possible and in any event before the special meeting.

#### Q. Can I change my vote after I mail my proxy card?

- A. Yes. You can change your vote at any time before your proxy is voted at the special meeting. You can do this in one of three ways:
  - First, you can send a written notice to Cobalt's corporate secretary stating that you would like to revoke your proxy.
  - Second, you can complete and submit a new proxy card to Cobalt's corporate secretary.
  - Third, you can attend the special meeting and vote in person. Simply attending the special meeting, however, will not revoke your proxy.

If you choose either of the first or second methods, you must submit your notice of revocation or your new proxy card to Cobalt's corporate secretary prior to the special meeting. Your submissions must be mailed to Cobalt's corporate secretary at the address listed below. See "Information Regarding the Special Meeting—How You Can Revoke Your Proxy or Change Your Vote."

#### Q. How will I receive my shares of WellPoint common stock and cash?

A. After the merger is completed, you will receive a letter of transmittal, which you should fill out at that time and return with your Cobalt stock certificates in accordance with the instructions contained in the letter of transmittal.

#### Q. Will I be able to sell the WellPoint common stock I receive in the merger?

A. Yes, in most cases. The shares of WellPoint common stock to be issued in the merger will be registered under the Securities Act and listed on the New York Stock Exchange. However, certain shareholders who are deemed to be "affiliates" of Cobalt under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (generally, directors, executive officers and shareholders of Cobalt holding 10% or more of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock), must abide by certain transfer restrictions under the Securities Act. See "The Merger—Restrictions on Sales of WellPoint Common Stock."

#### Q. What are the tax consequences of the merger to me?

A. Your tax consequences will depend on your basis in Cobalt common stock and whether WellPoint makes the reverse merger election. For more detail, see "The Merger—Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger."

#### Q. Whom should shareholders call with questions?

A. If you have more questions about the merger, you should contact:

Investor Relations Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Wisconsin, Milwaukee 53203-2896 (414) 226-6900

Investor Relations WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1 WellPoint Way Thousand Oaks, California 91362 Telephone (818) 234-4000

#### SUMMARY

The following summary does not contain a complete description of all material features of the merger agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the more detailed information contained or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus, including the Appendices hereto. Shareholders of Cobalt are urged to read carefully the entire proxy statement/prospectus, including the Appendices. Throughout this proxy statement/prospectus the term "you" is used. On these occasions, "you" refers to all Cobalt shareholders.

#### The Companies

WellPoint Health Networks Inc	<ul> <li>1 WellPoint Way Thousand Oaks, California 91362 (818) 234-4000</li> </ul>
	WellPoint Health Networks Inc. serves the health care needs of more than 13.4 million medical and approximately 49.0 million specialty members through its subsidiaries operating under the trade names Blue Cross of California, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Missouri, HealthLink and UNICARE. WellPoint offers a broad spectrum of quality network-based health products, including open access preferred provider organizations, point of service plans, health maintenance organizations and specialty products. Specialty products include dental, pharmacy benefit management, medical management, vision, mental health, life and disability insurance, long term care insurance, flexible spending accounts, COBRA administration and Medicare supplements.
Cobalt Corporation.	<ul> <li>401 West Michigan Street</li> <li>Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203-2896</li> <li>(414) 226-6900</li> </ul>
	Cobalt Corporation is an independent licensee of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association and holds the exclusive right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks in the state of Wisconsin. Cobalt is one of four publicly traded Blue Cross and Blue Shield companies. Headquartered in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Cobalt offers a diverse portfolio of complementary insurance, managed care products and administrative services to employer, individual, insurer and government customers.
Crossroads Acquisition Corp (Merg Sub).	

MERRILL CORPORATION SLYUBOM//30-JUN-03 16:58 DISK016:[03CHI0.03CHI3500]CC3500A.;19 mrll.fmt Free: 170DM/0D Foot: 0D/ 0D VJ RSeq: 2 Clr: 0 DISK024:[PAGER.PSTYLES]UNIVERSAL.BST;25 3 C Cs: 4920

(see page 34)	
Time, Date and Place	The special meeting will be held at , located at , on , , , 2003, commencing at , local time.
Record Date and Shares Entitled to	
Vote	Shareholders of record as of the close of business on , 2003 will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting and on any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting. On the record date, shares of Cobalt common stock were outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting.
Purpose of the Meeting	The purpose of the special meeting is to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the acquisition of Cobalt by WellPoint pursuant to the plan of merger included in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 3, 2003, among Cobalt, WellPoint and Crossroads Acquisition Corp.
Vote Required	The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Cobalt common stock outstanding on the record date is required to approve the merger and the merger agreement. As of the record date, there were shares of Cobalt common stock outstanding, of which approximately 59.6% were beneficially owned by Wisconsin United for Health Foundation, Inc., referred to in this proxy statement/ prospectus as the Foundation. The Foundation has agreed with WellPoint to vote, or cause to be voted, all of the shares of Cobalt common stock it owns and has the right to vote to approve the merger and the merger agreement, subject to certain termination rights. See "Related Agreements—Voting and Lockup Agreement." The Foundation's vote will be sufficient to approve the merger and the merger agreement regardless of the vote of any other shareholder.
	WellPoint beneficially owns approximately 712,300 shares of Cobalt common stock.
Merger Consideration	
(see page 36)	The merger agreement provides that all shares of Cobalt common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the merger (other than those owned by Cobalt, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin or WellPoint) will be converted at the effective time into the right to receive \$10.25 in cash and 0.1233 of a share of WellPoint common stock, subject to adjustment if WellPoint's stock price falls below \$70.97 so that you will receive no less than \$8.75 per share in WellPoint common stock and a total of no less than \$19.00 per share in cash and WellPoint common stock.

Recommendation of Cobalt's Board of Directors	
(see page 41)	The Cobalt board of directors believes that the merger is advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of Cobalt and its shareholders. Cobalt's board unanimously recommends that Cobalt shareholders vote "FOR" the proposal to approve the merger and the merger agreement.
Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor	
(see page 42)	In connection with the merger, the Cobalt board of directors received a written opinion from UBS Warburg LLC, now known as UBS Securities LLC and referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as UBS, as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the merger consideration to be received by the holders of Cobalt common stock (other than WellPoint, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin, and their respective affiliates). The full text of UBS's written opinion dated June 3, 2003 is attached to this proxy statement/ prospectus as Appendix B. You are encouraged to read this opinion carefully in its entirety for a description of the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken. UBS's opinion was provided to the Cobalt board in its evaluation of the merger consideration. UBS's opinion does not address any other aspect of the merger or any related transaction and does not constitute a recommendation to any Cobalt shareholder with respect to any matters relating to the proposed merger.
Interests of Directors and Officers in the Merger that Differ from Your Interests	
(see page 50)	The directors and executive officers of Cobalt, together with their affiliates, beneficially own approximately % of the Cobalt common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. Some of the directors and officers of Cobalt have interests in the merger that may differ from, or may be in addition to, the interests of other shareholders of Cobalt. These interests include, among other things:
	• Employment and severance agreements that certain officers of Cobalt and its subsidiaries have entered into with Cobalt and its subsidiaries that provide these officers with various severance benefits if their employment is terminated following the merger.
	• All options to purchase common stock of Cobalt outstanding under Cobalt's existing stock option plans will be assumed by WellPoint, each option that is unvested at the effective time of the merger will become vested and exercisable at the effective time of the merger, and all options will become exercisable

	for shares of WellPoint common stock rather than shares of Cobalt common stock, in a number and at an exercise price adjusted to reflect the exchange ratio in the merger.
	• WellPoint agreed in the merger agreement to indemnify and provide liability insurance for Cobalt's officers and directors.
	The directors of Cobalt and WellPoint knew about these additional interests and considered them when they approved the merger and merger agreement.
No Dissenters' Rights	
(see page 57)	Under Wisconsin law, Cobalt shareholders will not have dissenters' appraisal rights in connection with the merger. See "The Merger—Dissenters' Rights."
Approvals of Regulatory Authorities and the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association	
(see page 56)	The Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the HSR Act, prohibits WellPoint and Cobalt from completing the merger until (i) each of WellPoint and Cobalt have furnished certain information and materials to the United States Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission and (ii) the required waiting period under the HSR Act has been satisfied. On, each of WellPoint and Cobalt filed a Pre-Merger Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with the Justice Department and the FTC and on, 2003 WellPoint and Cobalt received notice of early termination of the required waiting period under the HSR Act.
	In addition, the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance must approve WellPoint's acquisition of control of certain Cobalt subsidiaries, and approval by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association is required under the license agreement of Cobalt. On June 20, 2003, WellPoint filed a Form A "Statement Regarding the Acquisition of Control of or Merger with a Domestic Insurer" with the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance as required by Wisconsin law. These approvals are more fully described below at "The Merger—Governmental and Regulatory Approvals."
Conditions to the Merger	
(see page 63)	Conditions to Each Party's Obligations to Consummate the Merger. The respective obligations of Cobalt and WellPoint to effect the merger are subject to fulfillment, at or prior to the

effective time, of the following conditions, unless waived by the parties:

- No injunctions or restraints prohibiting the merger shall exist.
- The waiting period under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.
- The WellPoint common stock to be issued or reserved for issuance in connection with the merger shall have been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange.
- The registration statement on Form S-4 filed by WellPoint shall be effective.
- Approval of the merger and the merger agreement by Cobalt's shareholders shall have been obtained.
- The average WellPoint common stock price for the 15 consecutive day trading period ending on and including the business day immediately following the day on which all other conditions to the merger have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the closing date) must be at least \$62.50.

Additional Conditions to the Obligations of WellPoint. The obligation of WellPoint to effect the merger is further subject to fulfillment (or waiver by WellPoint) of the following additional conditions:

- Cobalt shall have performed its obligations under the merger agreement and the representations and warranties of Cobalt shall be true and correct.
- Unless WellPoint makes the reverse merger election described below under "The Merger—Form of the Merger," WellPoint shall have received an opinion of its tax counsel that the merger will qualify as a reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes.
- No suits, litigation or other similar proceedings relating to the merger or the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and as to which there is a significant likelihood of material liability to any of WellPoint, Cobalt or any of their affiliates shall be pending.
- Any required approval of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association shall have been obtained without any material, adverse and non-customary conditions.
- The consent of the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance shall have been obtained

	without any material, adverse and non-customary conditions.
	• Required governmental consents shall have been obtained without any material, adverse and non-customary conditions.
	• Required third party consents shall have been obtained.
	• Cobalt will be in material compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and other state and federal privacy laws and regulations that are effective or scheduled to become effective on or prior to the later of October 14, 2003 and the effective time of the merger.
	• No material adverse change to Cobalt's business, assets or financial condition shall have occurred.
	Additional Conditions to the Obligations of Cobalt. The obligation of Cobalt to effect the merger is further subject to fulfillment (or waiver by Cobalt) of the following additional conditions:
	• WellPoint shall have performed its obligations under the merger agreement and the representations and warranties of WellPoint shall be true and correct.
	• Unless WellPoint makes the reverse merger election described under "The Merger—Form of the Merger," Cobalt shall have received an opinion of its tax counsel that the merger will qualify as a reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes.
	• Any required approval of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association shall have been obtained.
	• The consent of the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance shall have been obtained.
	• Required governmental consents shall have been obtained.
Termination of the Merger Agreement	
(see page 70)	WellPoint and Cobalt can agree to terminate the merger agreement without completing the merger, and either company can terminate the merger agreement if any of the following occurs:
	• the merger is not completed by January 31, 2004;
	• the shareholders of Cobalt fail to approve the merger and the merger agreement;

MERRILL CORPORATION SLYUBOM//30-JUN-03 16:58 DISK016:[03CHI0.03CHI3500]CC3500A.;19 mrll.fmt Free: 230DM/0D Foot: 0D/ 0D VJ RSeq: 7 Clr: 0 DISK024:[PAGER.PSTYLES]UNIVERSAL.BST;25 3 C Cs: 25132

• a court or other governmental body permanently prohibits the merger;
• the board of directors of Cobalt authorizes Cobalt to execute a binding written agreement with respect to a third party's proposal to acquire Cobalt, which proposal the board of directors of Cobalt determines in good faith after consultation with its advisors would result in a superior transaction (although Cobalt must give WellPoint an opportunity to match such a proposal); or
• the average closing price of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 15 consecutive trading days ending on and including the business day immediately following the day on which all other conditions to the merger have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the closing date) is less than \$62.50.
Cobalt may terminate the merger if:
• WellPoint breaches any covenant or agreement or there is an inaccuracy of any of WellPoint's representations or warranties which breach or inaccuracy cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days and would give rise to the failure of certain conditions to the merger, or
• Any condition to Cobalt's obligations to effect the merger as described above becomes incapable of being fulfilled.
WellPoint may terminate the merger if:
• Cobalt breaches any covenant or agreement or there is an inaccuracy of any of Cobalt's representations or warranties which breach or inaccuracy cannot be or has not been cured within 30 days and would give rise to the failure of certain conditions to the merger; or
• Any condition to WellPoint's obligations to effect the merger as described above becomes incapable of being fulfilled.
If the merger agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, including the board of directors of Cobalt authorizing Cobalt to execute a binding written agreement with respect to a third party's acquisition proposal, Cobalt will be required to pay WellPoint a termination fee equal to \$27.2 million. See "The Merger Agreement—Termination Fee; Reimbursement of Certain Expenses" for a complete discussion of the circumstances in which Cobalt would be required to pay the termination fee.

MERRILL CORPORATION SLYUBOM//30-JUN-03 16:58 DISK016:[03CHI0.03CHI3500]CC3500A.;19 mrll.fmt Free: 230DM/0D Foot: 0D/ 0D VJ RSeq: 8 Clr: 0 DISK024:[PAGER.PSTYLES]UNIVERSAL.BST;25 3 C Cs: 2794

	WellPoint has agreed, under certain circumstances, to reimburse the Foundation for its documented out-of-pocket expenses in an amount not to exceed \$600,000 and to reimburse Cobalt for its documented out-of-pocket expenses (other than any broker's or finder's fee or any other payment to any broker, investment banker or financial advisor) in an amount not to exceed \$1.5 million. See "The Merger Agreement—Termination Fee; Reimbursement of Certain Expenses" for a complete discussion of the circumstances in which WellPoint would be required to make these expense reimbursements.
Non-Solicitation	
(see page 69)	So long as the merger agreement is in effect, Cobalt may not solicit any proposal from a third party with respect to the acquisition of Cobalt by means of a merger, reorganization, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction or any purchase or sale of any significant portion of the assets or equity securities of it or any of its subsidiaries, other than as disclosed by Cobalt to WellPoint in accordance with the merger agreement. Under certain conditions, Cobalt may terminate the merger agreement to accept an acquisition proposal from a third party which is superior to that offered by WellPoint in the merger agreement that WellPoint has elected not to match. If Cobalt terminates the merger agreement to accept a superior proposal, Cobalt must pay a termination fee of \$27.2 million to WellPoint. For further details, see "The Merger Agreement—No Solicitation of Transactions."
Accounting Treatment	
(see page 57)	The merger will be accounted for under the purchase method of accounting.
<b>Market Price Information</b>	
(see page 18)	<ul> <li>On June 3, 2003, the last trading day immediately preceding the public announcement of the proposed merger, and on , 2003, the most recent practicable date prior to the mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, the closing sale prices of WellPoint common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Transactions Tape were \$83.15 and \$ , respectively. You are urged to obtain a current market quotation for shares of WellPoint common stock.</li> <li>On June 3, 2003, the last trading day immediately preceding the public announcement of the proposed merger, and on , 2003, the most recent practicable date prior to the</li> </ul>
	mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, the closing sale prices of Cobalt common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Transactions Tape were \$17.95 and \$,

Τ

respectively. You are urged to obtain a current market quotation for shares of Cobalt common stock.

#### Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger

(see page 58)

The merger is intended to qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, so that you will recognize gain (but not loss) for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of the merger to the extent of any cash received as part of the merger consideration. The merger is conditioned on the receipt of legal opinions that the merger will qualify as a reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes. If this condition is not satisfied, WellPoint has the right to complete the merger in a manner that is fully taxable to you.

You should read "The Merger—Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger" for a more complete discussion of the United States federal income tax consequences of the merger. Tax matters can be complicated and the tax consequences of the merger to you will depend on your particular situation. You should consult your tax advisor to fully understand the tax consequences of the merger to you.

#### SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

#### **Preparation of the Financial Data**

The following information is provided to aid you in your analysis of the financial aspects of the merger. This information is derived from the audited financial statements of WellPoint for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, December 31, 2001, December 31, 2000, December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998 and the unaudited financial statements of WellPoint for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 and from the audited financial statements of Cobalt for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, December 31, 2001, December 31, 2000, December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998 and the unaudited financial statements of Cobalt for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002. December 31, 2001, December 31, 2000, December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998 and the unaudited financial statements of Cobalt for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002. The information is only a summary and you should read it together with WellPoint's and Cobalt's historical financial statements and related notes contained in WellPoint's and Cobalt's negretive annual reports on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 that WellPoint and Cobalt have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and that are incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus. See "Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference."

#### Selected Historical Financial Data of WellPoint

The following selected historical financial data for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, December 31, 2001, December 31, 2000, December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998 has been derived from WellPoint's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes. The following selected historical financial data for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 has been derived from WellPoint's unaudited interim consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of WellPoint's management, the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the selected historical consolidated financial data. Results for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. This information is only a summary and you should read it together with WellPoint's historical financial statements and related notes contained in its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 that WellPoint has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated by reference."

All WellPoint per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect WellPoint's two-for-one stock split that was effected on March 15, 2002.

	Year Ended December 31,						nths Ended ch 31,
	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2002	2003
	(In thous	ands, excep	t per share	data, member	ship data an	d operating	statistics)
Consolidated Income Statements(A)							
Revenues: Premium revenue	\$5 034 812	\$6 806 857	\$8 583 663	\$11 577 170	\$16 206 161	\$3 608 650	\$4 548 305
Management services and other	ψ5,754,012	\$0,070,057	\$0,505,005	φ11,577,170	\$10,200,101	ψ5,070,057	φ-,5-0,505
revenue	433,960	429,336	451,847	609,693	818,375	184,437	226,171
Investment income	109,578	159,234	193,448	241,784	314,004	59,914	66,315
	6,478,350	7,485,427	9,228,958	12,428,647	17,338,540	3,943,010	4,840,791
Operating expenses:							
Health care services and other benefits		5,533,068	6,935,398	9,436,264	13,211,090	2,982,604	3,717,500
Selling expense		328,619 1,075,449	394,217 1,265,155	502,571 1,666,587	681,802 2,166,744	155,725 542,089	191,997 589,669
General and administrative expense							
Operating income	6,031,522 446,828	6,937,136 548,291	8,594,770 634,188	11,605,422 823,225	16,059,636 1,278,904	3,680,418 262,592	4,499,166 341,625
Interest expense(B)		17,078	23,978	49,929	66,752	16,485	12,774
Other expense, net		40,792	45,897	74,714	55,086	10,923	7,004
Income from continuing operations before							
provision for income taxes, extraordinary							
item and cumulative effect of accounting							
change	391,986	490,421	564,313	698,582	1,157,066	235,184	321,847
Provision for income taxes	72,438	191,319	222,026	283,836	462,937	94,084	128,794
Income from continuing operations before							
extraordinary item and cumulative effect							
of accounting change	319,548	299,102	342,287	414,746	694,129	141,100	193,053
Loss from discontinued operations	(88,268)			_	—		—
Extraordinary gain from negative goodwill					8 0 <b>5</b> 0		
on acquisition					8,950		
of tax		(20,558)		_	_	_	_
Net income		\$ 278,544		\$ 414,746	\$ 702.070	\$ 141,100	\$ 102.052
	<u>\$ 231,280</u>	\$ 270,344	\$ 342,207	\$ 414,740	\$ 703,079	\$ 141,100	\$ 193,033
Per Share Data(C):							
Income from continuing operations before net extraordinary gain and							
cumulative effect of accounting							
change: Earnings per share	\$ 2.31	\$ 2.27	\$ 2.74	\$ 3.27	\$ 4.81	\$ 1.01	\$ 1.33
Earnings per share assuming full dilution .		2.20	2.64	3.15	4.61	0.97	1.29
Net extraordinary gain:							
Earnings per share	_	_	_	_	0.06		_
Earnings per share assuming full					0.06		
dilution	_	_	_		0.06	_	_
Loss per share	_	(0.16)		_	_		_
Loss per share assuming full dilution .	_	(0.15)			_	_	_
Loss from discontinued operations:							
Loss per share			_	—	_		_
Loss per share assuming full dilution .	(0.63)			_	—		—
Net income:	1 67	0.11	274	2 77	107	1.01	1 22
Earnings per share Earnings per share assuming full	1.67	2.11	2.74	3.27	4.87	1.01	1.33
dilution	1.65	2.05	2.64	3.15	4.67	0.97	1.29
<b>Operating Statistics(D):</b>				2.10		/	/
Medical care ratio	80.59			% 81.5	% 81.59	% 80.69	
Selling expense ratio	4.49						
General and administrative expense ratio .							
Net income ratio	3.69	% 3.89	% 3.89	% 3.49	% 4.19	% 3.69	% 4.0%

13

As of December 31 As of March 31. 1999 1998 2000 2001 2002 2002 2003 **Balance Sheet Data:** Cash and investments . . . \$2,764,302 \$3,258,666 \$3,780.050 \$4,986,069 \$ 6,772,777 \$ 5,453,267 \$ 7.261.352 5,597,148 7,590,256 9,922,390 12,053,510 Total assets(E)  $\ldots$  . . . . . . 4,287,988 4,639,242 11,470,631 Long-term debt . . . . . . 300,000 347,884 400,855 837,957 1,011,578 1,173,584 1,163,565 Total equity(F).... 2.132.579 1.315.223 1.312.700 1.644.417 3.976.697 3.285.824 4.018.566 10,528,047 Medical Membership(G) . . . 6,892,000 7,515,003 8,200,852 13.223.339 12,854,547 13,451,231

(A) WellPoint's consolidated results of operations for the periods presented above include the results of several acquisitions, which are components of WellPoint's national expansion strategy.

(B) In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections as of April 2002" ("SFAS No. 145"). With the rescission of FASB Statement No. 4, gains and losses from the extinguishment of debt should be classified as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria in APB Opinion No. 30. In applying the provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, WellPoint had determined that the extinguishment of debt under its Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Debentures did not meet the requirements of unusual or infrequent and therefore would not be included as an extaordinary item with the rescission of FASB Statement No. 4. For the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2002, WellPoint reclassified the extraordinary gain of \$1.9 million, net of tax of \$1.2 million, and the extraordinary loss of \$3.8 million, net of tax of \$2.5 million, to interest expense respectively.

- (C) Per share data for each period presented has been restated to reflect the two-for-one stock split in the form of a 100% stock dividend that occurred on March 15, 2002.
- (D) The medical care ratio represents health care services and other benefits as a percentage of premium revenue. All other ratios are shown as a percentage of premium revenue and management services and other revenue combined.
- (E) Certain amounts for periods prior to 2003 have been reclassified to conform to the 2003 presentation.
- (F) No cash dividends were declared in each of the periods presented.
- (G) Membership numbers are approximate and include some estimates based upon the number of contracts at the relevant date and an actuarial estimate of the number of members represented by each contract. Membership numbers as of December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 have been adjusted to include members from two WellPoint-owned or WellPointcontrolled rental networks as well as WellPoint's proportionate share of members associated with a joint venture providing Medicaid services in Puerto Rico. The total members associated with these entities for December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were: 381,102, 331,733 and 215,000, respectively. Membership numbers as of December 31, 1998 have not been similarly adjusted since the relevant information is not available. Membership numbers as of December 31, 2002 also include members from these entities. Medical membership numbers as of March 31, 2002 as previously reported by WellPoint have been revised to exclude 164,493 behavioral health members, 9,345 flexible spending account members and 3,205 dental members also reflect a reduction of RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. in 2002. The revised medical membership numbers also reflect a reduction of 12,607 behavioral health members from two WellPoint-owned rental networks. All of these members were previously reported as medical members.

#### Selected Historical Financial Data of Cobalt

The following selected historical financial data for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, December 31, 2001, December 31, 2000, December 31, 1999 and December 31, 1998 has been derived from Cobalt's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes. The following selected historical financial data for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 has been derived from Cobalt's unaudited interim consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of Cobalt management, the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the selected historical consolidated financial data. Results for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. This information is only a summary and you should read it together with Cobalt's historical financial statements and related notes contained in its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 that Cobalt has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus. See "Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference."

Cobalt was formed in March 2001 as the successor to substantially all of the operations of Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin (referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as BCBSUW) and United Wisconsin Services, Inc. (referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as UWS). Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, Cobalt's financial statements reflect the business and assets of BCBSUW, without UWS, for periods through March 31, 2001 and the combined businesses of BCBSUW and UWS for periods after that date. This presentation limits the comparability of the financial and operating data set forth below.

	Year Ended December 31,				Three Months Ended March 31,		
	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2002	2003
		(Dollars in thousands, except per share				data)	
Statement of Operations Data(1):							
Revenues:      Premium      Government services      Other	31,667	\$418,949 52,259 25,970	\$538,080 70,305 24,715	\$1,255,391 117,192 40,655	\$1,373,760 111,719 48,167	\$337,966 28,809 11,264	\$357,377 27,810 18,759
Total health services revenue          Investment income, net          Net realized investment gains (losses)          Total revenues          Expenses:	418,934 11,886 1,615 432,435	497,178 10,496 8,014 515,688	633,100 10,092 (509) 642,683	1,413,238 11,637 845 1,425,720	1,533,646 14,845 (1,141) 1,547,350	378,039 2,827 104 380,970	403,946 4,397 224 408,567
Medical and other benefits         Selling, general, administrative and other         Other(2)	297,885 133,153 115	376,814 158,187 744	497,822 176,878 922	1,119,218 303,208 5,697	1,166,671 323,239 675	292,358 76,868 172	303,841 85,918 600
Total expenses	431,153	535,745	675,622	1,428,123	1,490,585	369,398	390,359
Operating income (loss) from continuing operations Income tax (expense) benefit	1,282 78	(20,057)	(32,939) (548)	(2,403) 1,871	(7,304)	11,572 (1,180)	18,208 (7,066)
tax(3)		(22,690)	(6,526)	(22,724)		2,852	
Income (loss) from continuing operations Income from discontinued operations	5,351	(42,747)	(40,013)	(23,256) 951	65,017 8,938	13,244 9,359	11,142
Net income (loss)	\$ 5,351	\$(42,747)	\$(40,013)	\$ (22,305)	\$ 73,955	\$ 22,603	\$ 11,142
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations(4)(5)		\$ (1.37) (1.37)	\$ (1.28) (1.28)	\$ (0.61) (0.58)		\$ 0.32 0.55	\$ 0.26 0.26
<b>Operating Statistics(1):</b> Total consolidated loss ratio(6) Selling, general, administrative and other expense	82.39	% 89.9%	% 92.5%	% 89.2%	% 84.9%	% 86.59	% 85.0%
ratio(7) Net income (loss) margin(8)	31.89 1.29				/		

 WELLPOINT S-4 6-26-03
 Proj: P2093CHI03
 Job: 03CHI3500
 File: CG3500A.;17

 Merrill Corporation/Chicago (312) 786-6300
 Page Dim: 8.250" X 10.750"
 Copy Dim: 38. X 54.3

		As of December 31,				As of March 31,		
	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2002	2003	
		(In thousands)						
Balance Sheet Data(1):								
Cash and investments(9)	\$109,447	\$ 57,383	\$ 45,678	\$243,368	\$436,360	\$265,022	\$465,102	
Total assets	443,186	381,400	394,205	727,322	869,899	731,685	910,566	
Long-term debt, including current								
portion	_			7,500	29,950	7,500	27,750	
Total shareholders' equity	250,991	200,109	168,943	208,222	302,519	229,647	315,600	

- 1. Prior to March 31, 2001, data reflect only the operations of BCBSUW, accounting for UWS and American Medical Security Group, Inc. as investments in affiliates.
- 2. Includes interest and amortization of goodwill.
- 3. Includes UWS (prior to March 31, 2001) and American Medical Security Group, Inc.
- 4. When Cobalt reports a net loss, potentially dilutive securities are not included in the calculation of earnings per share because their inclusion would have an antidilutive effect.
- 5. 31,313,390 shares of Cobalt common stock issued to the Wisconsin United for Health Foundation, Inc. in March 2001 in connection with the combination of UWS and BCBWUW were used to calculate earnings per share for all periods prior to March 31, 2001.
- 6. Includes all insured products (medical, dental, disability, etc.). UWS is included in all periods subsequent to March 31, 2001. Prior to March 31, 2001, the ratio is based on BCBSUW only.
- 7. Represents selling, general, administrative and other expenses as a percentage of health services revenue.
- 8. Represents income (loss) from continuing operations as a percentage of total revenues.
- 9. Excludes investments in affiliates.

#### **COMPARATIVE PER SHARE INFORMATION**

The following comparative per share information is provided to aid you in your analysis of the financial aspects of the merger. You should read this information in conjunction with the historical consolidated financial statements of WellPoint and Cobalt contained in reports that have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and that are incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus.

Dividend information for Cobalt is not presented below because Cobalt has not declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock at any time since its creation in March 2001 in the combination of United Wisconsin Services, Inc. and Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin. Dividend information for WellPoint is not presented below because WellPoint has not declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock at any time during the past five years and currently intends to retain any future earnings for use in developing and operating its business.

	Year Ended December 31, 2002	Three Months Ended March 31, 2003
Basic Earnings Per Common Share:		
WellPoint historical(1)	\$4.81	\$1.33
Cobalt historical(2)	\$1.58	\$0.27
WellPoint Pro Forma(3)	\$4.94	\$1.32
Cobalt Pro Forma Equivalent(4)	\$0.61	\$0.16
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:		
WellPoint historical(1)	\$4.61	\$1.29
Cobalt historical(2)	\$1.54	\$0.26
WellPoint Pro Forma(3)	\$4.71	\$1.28
Cobalt Pro Forma Equivalent(4)	\$0.58	\$0.16
	As of December 31, 2002	As of March 31, 2003
Book Value Per Common Share:		
WellPoint historical(1)	\$27.04	\$27.70
Cobalt historical(2)	\$ 7.26	\$ 7.54
WellPoint Pro Forma(3)	\$29.19	\$29.85
Cobalt Pro Forma Equivalent(4)	\$ 3.60	\$ 3.68

(1) Income per common share from continuing operations before extraordinary item.

(2) Income per common share from continuing operations.

(3) The pro forma figures present WellPoint's earnings per common share and book value per common share for the periods shown after giving effect to transaction-related expenses and other appropriate pro forma adjustments (assuming completion of the merger as of January 1, 2002).

(4) The pro forma equivalent figures for Cobalt were calculated by multiplying the pro forma figures presented for WellPoint by the exchange ratio of 0.1233.

#### MARKET PRICE INFORMATION

*WellPoint.* WellPoint common stock has been traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "WLP" since WellPoint's initial public offering in 1993. The shares of WellPoint common stock to be issued or reserved for issuance in the merger will be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The following table shows the high and low sale prices for WellPoint common stock for the periods presented.

	High	Low
Year Ended December 31, 2001		
First Quarter	\$57.88	\$42.38
Second Quarter	50.09	40.83
Third Quarter	54.97	46.40
Fourth Quarter	61.45	49.75
Year Ended December 31, 2002		
First Quarter	\$65.63	\$57.58
Second Quarter	86.27	62.80
Third Quarter	81.30	65.90
Fourth Quarter	89.20	62.00
Year Ending December 31, 2003		
First Quarter	\$77.69	\$63.13
Second Quarter	91.50	71.64

On June 3, 2003, the last trading day immediately preceding the public announcement of the proposed merger, and on , the most recent practicable date prior to the mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, the closing sale prices of WellPoint common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Transactions Tape were \$83.15 and \$ , respectively. You are urged to obtain a current market quotation for shares of WellPoint common stock.

*Cobalt.* Cobalt common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "CBZ." Prior to March 31, 2001, Cobalt was named United Wisconsin Services, Inc. and its common stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "UWZ." The following table shows the high and low sale prices for Cobalt common stock for the periods presented.

	High	Low
Year Ended December 31, 2001		
First Quarter	\$ 7.99	\$ 3.38
Second Quarter	8.00	4.90
Third Quarter	9.05	4.37
Fourth Quarter	7.00	3.99
Year Ended December 31, 2002		
First Quarter	\$ 9.05	\$ 5.33
Second Quarter	23.50	8.65
Third Quarter	23.40	14.11
Fourth Quarter	18.70	12.15
Year Ending December 31, 2003		
First Quarter	\$14.80	\$11.75
Second Quarter	21.35	13.85

On June 3, 2003, the last trading day immediately preceding the public announcement of the proposed merger, and on \_\_\_\_\_\_, the most recent practicable date prior to the mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, the closing sale prices of Cobalt common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Transactions Tape were \$17.95 and \$\_\_\_\_\_, respectively. You are urged to obtain a current market quotation for shares of Cobalt common stock before deciding whether to vote to approve the merger and the merger agreement.

Τ

#### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

WellPoint and Cobalt have each made "forward-looking statements" (as that term is defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the Securities Act) and in Section 20A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the Exchange Act)) in this proxy statement/prospectus (and in certain documents that are incorporated by reference by WellPoint and Cobalt in this proxy statement/ prospectus) that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These statements are based on the current beliefs and assumptions of the management of each company and on information currently available to them. Forward-looking statements include the information concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of WellPoint and Cobalt set forth under "Summary," "The Merger—Background of the Merger," "The Merger—Recommendation of the Cobalt Board of Directors," "The Merger—Cobalt's Reasons for the Merger," "The Merger—WellPoint's Reasons for the Merger," "The Merger—Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor" and statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "estimates" or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. By their nature, they involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. The future results and stockholder values of WellPoint and Cobalt may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements due to, among other things, the matters set forth under "Risk Factors" and the factors detailed under each company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the factors detailed under the caption "Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations" or "Risk Factors" in each company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and otherwise described in their respective quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, to which you are referred. Many of the factors that will determine these results and values are beyond WellPoint's and Cobalt's ability to control or predict. Shareholders are cautioned not to put undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. Any such statement speaks only as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, and WellPoint and Cobalt do not have any intention or obligation to update forward-looking statements after they distribute this proxy statement/prospectus, even if new information, future events or other circumstances have made them incorrect or misleading. For those statements, WellPoint and Cobalt each claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

#### **RISK FACTORS**

In addition to the other information included or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/ prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described below in evaluating an investment in the WellPoint common stock offered by this proxy statement/prospectus.

#### **Risks Relating to the Merger**

WellPoint may experience difficulties in integrating Cobalt's business with the existing business of WellPoint, which could cause WellPoint to lose all or some of the anticipated potential benefits of the merger.

Cobalt and WellPoint have entered into the merger agreement because they believe that the merger will be beneficial to the combined companies. Achieving the anticipated benefits of the merger will depend in part upon whether the two companies integrate their businesses in an efficient and effective manner. In particular, the successful combination of Cobalt and WellPoint will depend on the integration of their respective operating and information systems. WellPoint and Cobalt may not accomplish this integration process smoothly or successfully. The necessity of coordinating geographically separated organizations and addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies may increase the difficulties of integration. The integration of certain operations following the merger will require the dedication of significant management resources, which may temporarily distract management's attention from the day-to-day business of the combined companies. WellPoint is currently in the process of integrating other recently acquired businesses, which may cause further management distraction. If management is unable to successfully integrate the operations of the two companies, this could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of WellPoint.

Other companies in the health care industry have encountered unforeseen difficulties in integrating acquisitions. Unforeseen difficulties or expenses may arise in connection with WellPoint's integration of Cobalt's operations following the merger. Such difficulties or expenses could have a material adverse effect on WellPoint's revenues and results of operations.

WellPoint and Cobalt must obtain several governmental and other consents to complete the merger, which, if delayed or not granted, may jeopardize or postpone completion of the merger, resulting in additional expenditures of money and resources, which may further jeopardize or delay completion of the merger or reduce the anticipated benefits of the merger.

WellPoint and Cobalt must obtain certain approvals, including consents, expiration of waiting periods and similar processes, from federal and state agencies and from the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association prior to completion of the merger. If WellPoint and Cobalt do not receive these approvals, then neither party is obligated to complete the merger. The agencies from which WellPoint and Cobalt will seek these approvals have broad discretion in administering the governing regulations. As a condition to approval of the merger, agencies may impose requirements or limitations or costs on the way the combined companies conduct business. These requirements or limitations or costs could jeopardize or delay completion of the merger. If either WellPoint or Cobalt agrees to any material requirements or limitations or costs in order to obtain any approvals required to complete the merger, these requirements or limitations of Cobalt with those of WellPoint or may reduce the anticipated benefits of the merger, which could result in a material adverse effect on WellPoint's revenues and results of operations following the merger.

### WellPoint may incur additional indebtedness to pay the merger consideration to Cobalt's shareholders, which could affect WellPoint's ability to finance operations or pursue desirable business opportunities.

WellPoint currently intends to borrow under its existing revolving credit facility, issue indebtedness under its existing shelf registration statement or issue commercial paper to finance some or all of the cash payments to be made to Cobalt shareholders. In addition, WellPoint has made significant purchases of treasury stock over the last several years and may in the future use excess cash as well as additional borrowings to repurchase WellPoint common stock in order to offset shares issued in connection with the merger. In 2001 and 2002, WellPoint incurred significant indebtedness to fund its acquisitions of Cerulean Companies, Inc., the parent company of Blue Cross Blue Shield of Georgia, and RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. Upon completion of the merger with Cobalt, WellPoint could incur significant additional indebtedness to fund not only the cash portion of the transaction, but to fund any further repurchases of WellPoint common stock. If WellPoint incurs this additional indebtedness, then WellPoint may need to apply a significant amount of its cash flow toward the payment of interest and principal. WellPoint's operations might not generate sufficient cash flow to cover required interest and principal payments.

Any additional indebtedness incurred by WellPoint may adversely affect its ability to finance operations and could limit its ability to pursue desirable business opportunities. Further, any additional indebtedness may affect WellPoint's ability to maintain an investment grade rating for its indebtedness, which could have a material adverse effect on WellPoint's financial condition and operations.

#### Risks Relating to the Business of WellPoint, Cobalt and the Combined Companies

The following are risks that currently affect the business, financial condition or results of operations of WellPoint and Cobalt individually, and will affect the combined companies following the completion of the merger.

## WellPoint and Cobalt are subject to extensive regulation, including risk-based capital requirements, which could restrict the ability of the companies to generate profits.

WellPoint's and Cobalt's operations are subject to substantial regulation by federal, state and local agencies. Regulation may either relate to business operations or to the financial condition of regulated subsidiaries. With regard to business operations, regulation typically relates to:

- prescribed benefits;
- relationships with physicians and hospitals;
- marketing and advertising;
- privacy of member information;
- quality assurance; and
- member grievance resolution.

With regard to the financial condition of regulated subsidiaries, regulation typically governs the amount of capital required to be retained by regulated subsidiaries and the ability of these subsidiaries to pay dividends. Future regulatory action by any agency may have a material adverse effect on the profitability or marketability of WellPoint's, Cobalt's or the combined companies' health plans, on their respective or combined ability to access capital from the operations of regulated subsidiaries or on their respective or combined financial condition or results of operations.

The California Department of Managed Health Care regulates WellPoint's principal California operating subsidiary, Blue Cross of California. The Departments of Insurance in California, Delaware, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, Texas and other states regulate other WellPoint subsidiaries, including BC

Life & Health Insurance Company, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia, Inc., Healthy Alliance Life Insurance Company and UNICARE Life & Health Insurance Company. Among other requirements, the California Department of Managed Health Care and the Departments of Insurance in California, Delaware, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, Texas and other states require WellPoint's regulated subsidiaries to satisfy certain minimum capital standards.

The Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance regulates various Cobalt subsidiaries, including Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin, Compcare Health Services Insurance Corporation and United Wisconsin Insurance Company. Among other requirements, the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance requires Cobalt's regulated insurance subsidiaries to satisfy certain minimum capital standards.

In addition to these capital requirements, the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association requires WellPoint and Cobalt and certain of their respective subsidiaries to maintain certain levels of capital in order to satisfy Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association requirements. Any new minimum capital requirements adopted in the future by any of these entities may increase the capital requirements of WellPoint, Cobalt or the combined companies.

### Recent and future legislation may increase WellPoint's and Cobalt's costs of doing business or force WellPoint and Cobalt to raise the price of their services.

The health care benefits industry has received significant legislative and media scrutiny in recent years. In 1996, President Clinton signed into law the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, also known as HIPAA, as well as maternity length of stay and mental health parity measures. Various states have passed similar legislation, some providing for more extensive benefits than those required by HIPAA.

HIPAA requires certain guaranteed issuance and renewability of health coverage for individuals and small groups (generally 50 or fewer employees) and limits exclusions based on pre-existing conditions. Most of the insurance reform provisions of HIPAA became effective for "plan years' beginning July 1, 1997. HIPAA also establishes new requirements regarding the confidentiality of patient health information and regarding standard formats for the transmission of health care data. In December 2000, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services promulgated final regulations regarding the privacy of "protected health information." These regulations became effective in April 2003. The rules, among other things, require that health plans give patients a clear written explanation of how they intend to use, keep and disclose patient health information, prohibit health plans from conditioning payment or coverage on a patient's agreement to disclose health information for other purposes and create federal criminal penalties for health plans, providers and claims clearinghouses that knowingly and improperly disclose information or obtain information under false pretenses. Final regulations regarding the standard formats for the transmission of health care information became effective in October 2002. In December 2001, legislation was enacted that offers health entities the option of extending the date for compliance with these regulations until October 2003. WellPoint and Cobalt have each filed for this extension. WellPoint and Cobalt, like many other companies in the health care industry, have incurred substantial expenditures as a result of HIPAA regulations and expect to continue to incur expenditures as the various regulations become effective.

The U.S. Congress and state legislatures are considering a number of proposals relating to health care reform, and WellPoint and Cobalt expect some of these proposals will be enacted. In 1999, California and Georgia, two states in which WellPoint has significant operations, adopted a number of health care reform measures. In both states, these measures included provisions allowing members to sue health plans directly for certain decisions and creating new agencies with oversight or regulatory responsibilities. Other states in which WellPoint currently operates have passed similar health care reform measures in recent years.

The U.S. Congress has from time to time considered a number of alternative health care reform measures that would, among other things, mandate external review of treatment denial decisions and provide for managed care liability. There have also been proposals made at the federal level to implement greater restrictions on employer-funded health plans, which are generally exempted from state regulation by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. During 2003, Congress may consider a proposal to authorize so-called association health plans, which would allow small employers to associate for the purpose of obtaining health coverage. Association health plans would be generally exempt from state insurance regulation and, as a result, could potentially have a significant competitive advantage over the small-employer group products currently offered by WellPoint's and Cobalt's operating subsidiaries.

WellPoint and Cobalt expect that recently enacted or future legislation will increase their costs of operations and may increase their medical care ratios or decrease the affordability of their products. As a result, compliance with legislation may have a material adverse effect on the health care services expenses, financial condition or results of operations at WellPoint, Cobalt or the combined companies.

Certain subsidiaries of WellPoint and Cobalt participate in government health care programs, which could expose the combined companies to greater liability. WellPoint provides health coverage for Medi-Cal, the California Medicaid program, for eligible individuals under contracts with the California Department of Health Services or a delegated local agency in various California counties. WellPoint's health benefits programs also include products that are marketed to Medicare beneficiaries as a supplement to their Medicare coverage. These products are subject to federal regulations intended to provide Medicare supplement customers with standard minimum benefits and levels of coverage and full disclosure of coverage terms and assure that fair sales practices are employed in the marketing of Medicare supplement coverage. In California and Georgia, WellPoint provides a senior plan product under a Medicare + Choice contract that is subject to regulation by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Cobalt provides various administrative services to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, including serving as the largest fiscal intermediary for the Medicare Part A program. Serving as a government contractor in these circumstances may increase the risk of heightened scrutiny of the combined companies by government agencies, particularly in light of governmental concern with increasing health care costs. From time to time, WellPoint and Cobalt receive requests for information from regulatory agencies or are notified that such agencies are conducting reviews, investigations or other proceedings with respect to certain of the companies' activities. This heightened scrutiny may have a material adverse effect on WellPoint, Cobalt or the combined companies either through negative publicity about WellPoint, Cobalt or the combined companies or through an adverse impact on WellPoint's, Cobalt's or the combined companies' results of operations.

## WellPoint and Cobalt are subject to class action and other lawsuits under evolving theories of recovery, which could require WellPoint and Cobalt to pay out large amounts of money in defense costs, damages or settlements.

In June 2000, the California Medical Association filed a lawsuit in U.S. district court in San Francisco against Blue Cross of California. The lawsuit alleges that Blue Cross of California violated the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, also known as RICO, through various misrepresentations to and inappropriate actions against health care providers. In late 1999, a number of class-action lawsuits were brought against several of WellPoint's competitors alleging, among other things, various misrepresentations regarding their health plans and breaches of fiduciary obligations to health plan members. In August 2000, WellPoint was added as a party to *Shane v. Humana, et al.*, a class-action lawsuit brought on behalf of health care providers nationwide. In addition to the RICO claims brought in the California Medical Association lawsuit, this lawsuit also alleges violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, also known as ERISA, federal and state "prompt pay" regulations and certain common law claims. In October 2000, the federal Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issued an order consolidating the California Medical Association lawsuit, the

Shane lawsuit and various other pending managed care class-action lawsuits against other companies before District Court Judge Federico Moreno in the Southern District of Florida for purposes of the pretrial proceedings. In March 2001, Judge Moreno dismissed the plaintiffs' claims based on violation of RICO, although the dismissal was made without prejudice to the plaintiffs' ability to subsequently refile their claims. Judge Moreno also dismissed, with prejudice, the plaintiffs' federal prompt pay law claims. On March 26, 2001, the California Medical Association filed an amended complaint in its lawsuit, alleging, among other things, revised RICO claims and violations of California law. On May 9, 2001, Judge Moreno issued an order requiring that all discovery in the litigation be completed by December 2001, with the exception of discovery related to expert witnesses, which was to be completed by March 15, 2002. In June 2001, the federal Court of Appeals for the 11th Circuit issued a stay of Judge Moreno's discovery order, pending a hearing before the Court of Appeals on WellPoint's appeal of its motion to compel arbitration (which had earlier been granted in part and denied in part by Judge Moreno). The hearing was held in January 2002 and, in March 2002, the Court of Appeals panel issued an opinion affirming Judge Moreno's earlier action with respect to the motion to compel arbitration. WellPoint filed a motion requesting a rehearing of the matter before the entire 11th Circuit Court of Appeals, which motion was denied by the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals in June 2002. On July 29, 2002, Judge Moreno issued an order providing that discovery in the case would be allowed to re-commence on September 30, 2002. On September 26, 2002, Judge Moreno issued an additional order certifying a nationwide class of physicians in the Shane matter, setting a trial date in May 2003 and ordering the parties to participate in non-binding mediation. In October 2002, WellPoint filed a motion with the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals seeking to appeal Judge Moreno's class-certification order. The 11th Circuit has scheduled a hearing for September 11, 2003 on WellPoint's motion. A mediator has been appointed by Judge Moreno and the parties are currently conducting court-ordered mediation.

In March 2002, the American Dental Association and three individual dentists filed a lawsuit in U.S. district court in Chicago against WellPoint and Blue Cross of California. This lawsuit alleges that WellPoint and Blue Cross of California engaged in conduct that constituted a breach of contract under ERISA, trade libel and tortious interference with contractual relations and existing and prospective business expectancies. The lawsuit seeks class-action status. WellPoint filed a motion (which was granted in July 2002) with the federal Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation requesting that the proceedings in this case be consolidated with a similar action brought against other managed care companies that has been consolidated with the *Shane* lawsuit.

In May 2003, a lawsuit entitled *Thomas, et. al. v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association, et. al.* was filed in the U.S. District Court in the Southern District of Florida. The attorneys representing the plaintiffs in the lawsuit are primarily the attorneys representing the plaintiffs in the *Shane* litigation described above. The defendants in *Thomas* are WellPoint, Cobalt, the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association and all of the other current Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensees. The lawsuit alleges that each of the defendants engaged in similar activities and conduct as that alleged in the *Shane* litigation. WellPoint and Cobalt currently anticipate that the *Thomas* litigation will be consolidated with the *Shane* litigation.

In July 2001, two individual physicians seeking to represent a class of physicians, hospitals and other providers brought suit in the Circuit Court of Madison County, Illinois against HealthLink, Inc., which is now a subsidiary of WellPoint as a result of its acquisition of RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. in January 2002. The physicians allege that HealthLink breached the contracts with these physicians by engaging in the practices of "bundling" and "down-coding" in its processing and payment of provider claims. The relief sought includes an injunction against these practices and damages in an unspecified amount. This litigation was dismissed without prejudice at the request of the plaintiffs in February 2003. A similar lawsuit was brought by physicians (including one of the physicians in the case described above) in the same court in Madison County, Illinois, on behalf of a nationwide class of

providers who contract with Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans against the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association and another Blue Cross Blue Shield plan. The complaint recites that it is brought against those entities and their "unnamed subsidiaries, licensees, and affiliates," listing a large number of Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans, including "Alliance Blue Cross Blue Shield of Missouri." The plaintiffs also allege that the plans have systematically engaged in practices known as "short paying," "bundling" and "down-coding" in their processing and payment of subscriber claims. Blue Cross Blue Shield of Missouri has not been formally named or served as a defendant in this lawsuit. The Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association was dismissed as a defendant in this lawsuit in August 2002.

In April and May 2002, a WellPoint subsidiary acting as a pharmacy benefit management business under the trade name WellPoint Pharmacy Management received two administrative *subpoenas duces tecum* issued by the U.S. Attorney's Office in Boston, Massachusetts. WellPoint does not believe that its pharmacy benefit management business is presently a target of investigation by the U.S. Attorney. The subpoenas appear to focus primarily on WellPoint Pharmacy Management's relationship with TAP Pharmaceuticals, including TAP's drugs Lupron and Prevacid. WellPoint has responded to the subpoenas by producing certain requested documents. WellPoint believes that it is in compliance in all material respects with all laws and regulations applicable to the pharmacy benefit management business, but it cannot guarantee that it will not become a target of the U.S. Attorney's investigation or that the costs of complying with any future requests for the production of documents will not have an adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

On March 26, 2003, a lawsuit entitled *Irwin v. AdvancePCS, et al.* was filed in the California Superior Court in Alameda County, California. WellPoint and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries are named as defendants in the lawsuit. The complaint alleges that the defendants violated California Business and Professions Code Section 17200 by engaging in unfair, fraudulent and unlawful business practices. The complaint alleges, among other things, that pharmacy benefit management companies (such as WellPoint's subsidiary that does business under the tradename WellPoint Pharmacy Management) engage in unfair practices such as negotiating discounts in prices of drugs from pharmacies and negotiating rebates from drug manufacturers and retaining such discounts and rebates for their own benefit. The complaint alleges that drugs are included in formularies in exchange for rebates and that the defendants charge patient co-payments that exceed the actual cost of generic drugs.

In addition, WellPoint and Cobalt exclude certain health care services from coverage under their health maintenance organization, preferred provider organization and other health care plans. In the ordinary course of business, WellPoint and Cobalt are subject to the claims of their members from decisions to restrict reimbursement for certain treatments. The loss of even one such claim, if it were to result in a significant punitive damage award, could have a material adverse effect on WellPoint's, Cobalt's or the combined companies' financial condition or results of operations. The risk of potential liability under punitive damage theories may significantly increase the difficulty of obtaining reasonable settlements of coverage claims. New laws adopted in 1999 in California and Georgia permit plan enrollees to sue plans, under certain circumstances, for denial of treatment. In addition, plaintiffs in legal actions are constantly bringing other new types of purported legal claims. WellPoint and Cobalt do not know what financial and operational impact these evolving theories of recovery may have on the managed care industry generally, or WellPoint, Cobalt or the combined companies in particular.

### Rising health care costs or competitive pressure to maintain premiums at current levels could adversely affect WellPoint's and Cobalt's future results.

WellPoint's and Cobalt's future results will depend in part on their ability to accurately predict health care costs and control future health care services expenses through underwriting criteria, medical

management, product design and negotiation of favorable provider and hospital contracts. A number of factors affect health care costs, including:

- changes in utilization rates;
- · demographic characteristics;
- health care practices;
- inflation;
- new technologies and pharmaceuticals;
- clusters of high-cost cases;
- continued consolidation of physician, hospital and other provider groups; and
- the regulatory environment.

These factors may adversely affect WellPoint's and Cobalt's ability to predict and control health care costs as well as their financial condition or results of operations. Periodic renegotiations of hospital contracts coupled with continued consolidation of physician, hospital and other provider groups may result in increased health care costs or limit WellPoint's and Cobalt's ability to negotiate favorable rates. In the past few years, large physician practice management companies have experienced extreme financial difficulties, including bankruptcy, which may subject WellPoint or Cobalt to increased credit risk related to provider groups and cause WellPoint or Cobalt to incur duplicative health care service expense. The aging of the population and other demographic characteristics and advances in medical technology continue to contribute to rising health care costs. Government-imposed limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement have also caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care costs.

In addition to the challenge of controlling health benefit costs, WellPoint and Cobalt face competitive pressure to contain premium prices. While health plans compete on the basis of many factors, including service and the quality and depth of provider networks, WellPoint and Cobalt expect that price will continue to be a significant basis of competition. Fiscal concerns regarding the continued viability of programs such as Medicare and Medicaid may cause decreasing reimbursement rates for government-sponsored programs. Financial condition or results of operations would be adversely affected by significant premium decreases by any major competitors or by any limitation on either WellPoint's or Cobalt's ability to increase or maintain premium levels.

Historically, competitive price pressures in the group health insurance industry have resulted in pricing and profitability cycles, the length and severity of which have varied. The primary causes of this cyclical pattern are:

- price competition among health plans;
- the entry and exit of health care insurance companies from the marketplace;
- the rate of change in provider pricing and consumer utilization of health care services;
- "cost shifting" by facilities and physicians to private payers in response to certain government program constraints; and
- actual or anticipated legislative changes.

From time to time, WellPoint and Cobalt have increased premiums for certain of their products in response to rising costs. WellPoint and Cobalt continuously evaluate the need for premium increases, plan design changes and other appropriate actions. However, any actions that WellPoint or Cobalt take

might not be successful in addressing concerns that may arise with respect to the performance of certain businesses.

In addition, medical claims payable in WellPoint's and Cobalt's financial statements include estimated reserves for incurred but not reported and unpaid claims, which WellPoint and Cobalt refer to as IBNR. The estimates for submitted claims and IBNR are made on an actuarial basis. Each of WellPoint and Cobalt believes that its reserves for IBNR are adequate to satisfy the medical claims liabilities, but WellPoint and Cobalt cannot guarantee this. Inaccurate IBNR estimates could adversely affect WellPoint's and Cobalt's results of operations in future periods.

### WellPoint and Cobalt face significant competition in the provision of health insurance, which could reduce WellPoint and Cobalt's market share and lower WellPoint's and Cobalt's profits.

Historically, traditional indemnity insurance has been the most common form of health insurance in the United States. In recent years, the developing trend has been away from traditional indemnity products and toward managed care products such as preferred provider organization, health maintenance organization and point of service products. WellPoint and Cobalt believe that this trend will continue. A continuation of this trend would result in reduced sales and profitability of indemnity products.

WellPoint and Cobalt operate in a highly competitive environment that is subject to significant changes due to a variety of factors, including:

- business consolidations;
- new strategic alliances;
- legislative reform; and
- aggressive marketing practices by other managed health care organizations.

A significant portion of WellPoint's operations is in California, where the managed health care industry is especially competitive. In addition, the managed health care industry in California has undergone significant changes in the last several years, including substantial consolidation. Outside of California, WellPoint faces competition from other regional and national companies, many of which have significantly greater financial and other resources and market share than WellPoint. If competition increases in any of its significant markets, then WellPoint's financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

A substantial portion of WellPoint's California business is in the individual and small employer group market, where the medical care ratio is lower than in the larger employer group market. WellPoint has experienced increasing competition in the individual and small employer group market over the past several years, which could adversely affect WellPoint's medical care ratio and future financial condition or results of operations.

With respect to the risk-sharing nature of products, managed care products that involve greater potential risk to WellPoint generally tend to be more profitable than management services products and those managed care products where WellPoint is able to shift risks to employer groups. Individuals and small employer groups are more likely to purchase higher-risk managed care products because such purchasers are generally unable or unwilling to bear greater liability for health care expenditures. Typically, government-sponsored programs involve higher-risk managed care products. Over the past few years, WellPoint has experienced a slight decline in margins in its higher-risk managed care products. This decline is primarily attributable to product mix change, product design, competitive pressure and greater regulatory restrictions applicable to the small employer group market. From time to time, WellPoint has implemented price increases in certain of its managed care businesses. While these price

increases are intended to improve profitability, WellPoint cannot guarantee that this will occur. Subsequent unfavorable changes in the relative profitability among WellPoint's various products could have a material adverse effect on WellPoint's results of operations and on the continued merits of WellPoint's geographic expansion strategy.

Cobalt faces competition in Wisconsin from other regional and national companies, many of which have significantly greater financial and other resources than Cobalt. If competition increases, then Cobalt's financial condition or results of operation could be materially adversely affected.

### WellPoint and Cobalt are dependent on the services of non-exclusive independent agents and brokers who may refer their business to competitors of WellPoint and Cobalt.

Both WellPoint and Cobalt depend on the services of independent agents and brokers in the marketing of health care plans, particularly with respect to individuals, seniors and small employer group members. Independent agents and brokers are typically not exclusively dedicated to one company and frequently market health care plans of WellPoint's and Cobalt's competitors. In addition, WellPoint and Cobalt face intense competition for the services and allegiance of independent agents and brokers.

### The businesses of WellPoint and Cobalt will be adversely affected if WellPoint and Cobalt cannot attract and retain skilled personnel.

The operations of WellPoint and Cobalt depend on retaining existing employees, attracting additional qualified employees and achieving productivity gains from investments in technology. Both companies face intense competition for qualified employees. WellPoint and Cobalt cannot guarantee the attraction and retention of these employees or that competition among potential employers will not result in increasing salaries. If WellPoint and Cobalt cannot retain existing employees or attract additional employees, WellPoint and Cobalt may experience a material adverse effect on their results of operations. Due to the importance of information systems to the operations of WellPoint and Cobalt, both companies are especially dependent on attracting and retaining qualified information technology personnel and other skilled professionals.

## WellPoint and Cobalt are dependent on the use of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks and names, and the licenses to use those trademarks and names are subject to termination by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association.

Under licenses from the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association, WellPoint and certain of its subsidiaries have the exclusive right in California to market products under the Blue Cross name and mark and in Georgia and in 85 counties in Missouri (including the greater St. Louis area) to market products under the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks. Cobalt and certain of its subsidiaries have the exclusive right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names and marks for the sale of Cobalt's health care products in Wisconsin. Unless the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association agrees to a waiver, these licenses automatically terminate upon the occurrence of certain events, subject to the right of Cobalt or WellPoint to prevent termination within an applicable cure period.

### Future bioterrorist activity or other potential public health epidemics could result in higher medical care expenses, which could reduce the profitability of WellPoint and Cobalt.

Following the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, there have been various incidents of suspected bioterrorist activity in the United States. To date, these incidents have resulted in related isolated incidents of illness and death. However, federal and state law enforcement officials have issued public warnings about additional potential terrorist activity involving biological and other weapons. If the United States were to experience more widespread bioterrorist or other attacks, WellPoint's and Cobalt's covered medical expenses could rise and they could experience a material adverse effect on their respective or combined results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

# State budget deficits could result in reduced revenues for WellPoint from the Medicaid portion of its business or in increased taxes for WellPoint and Cobalt.

Certain subsidiaries of WellPoint provide health care products and administrative services to Medicaid enrollees and programs in various states. As a result of the general nationwide economic downturn, many states are currently experiencing budget deficits. State legislators are exploring a variety of alternatives to address this situation. In order to address the budget shortfalls, some states may propose reductions in payments received by Medicaid managed care or administrative services providers such as WellPoint's subsidiaries. Alternatively, state legislators may seek to impose greater state taxes. Any significant reduction in payments received by WellPoint in connection with Medicaid business could have a material adverse effect on results of operations or financial condition. Additionally, any increase in state taxes could prolong or exacerbate the current economic downturn, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on the respective or combined results of operations or financial condition of WellPoint and Cobalt. Budget cutbacks could also result in reduced employment levels in public sector accounts for which WellPoint's and Cobalt's subsidiaries provide insured or administrative services products.

# **Risks Relating Particularly to the Business of WellPoint**

# WellPoint may not be able to successfully integrate previously acquired businesses or businesses acquired in the future, which could divert money and resources from WellPoint's core business.

WellPoint has acquired substantial operations in new geographic markets over the last seven years. These businesses, some of which include substantial indemnity-based insurance operations, have experienced varying profitability or losses in recent periods. Since the relevant dates of acquisition, WellPoint has worked extensively on the integration of these acquired businesses, including consolidating existing operations sites and converting certain accounts to WellPoint's information systems. WellPoint is continuing the consolidation of these acquired operations into its operations, which will require considerable expenditures and a significant amount of management time. The merger integration process, particularly integrating the information systems designed to serve these businesses, is complex. As a result, WellPoint may temporarily experience increases in claims inventory, difficulties in determining member eligibility and other service-related issues that may negatively affect WellPoint's relationship with its customers and contribute to increased attrition of customers. The success of these acquisitions will, among other things, also require the integration of a significant number of employees into WellPoint's existing operations and the completion of the integration of separate information systems. WellPoint cannot guarantee the ultimate success of the integration of these acquisitions into WellPoint's business or that it will be able to maintain or improve the results of operations of the acquired businesses.

# WellPoint may not be able to complete pending acquisitions or to identify future acquisition opportunities, which has been a key component of its business expansion strategy.

WellPoint actively considers acquisition opportunities on a regular basis. In November 2001, WellPoint entered into a merger agreement with CareFirst, Inc., which agreement was amended in January 2003. CareFirst has the exclusive right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield name and mark in Maryland, Delaware and the District of Columbia. Under the amended merger agreement, CareFirst would have become a subsidiary of WellPoint. As a result of legislation passed in Maryland in 2002 and 2003, WellPoint does not expect that it will complete this transaction. Except with respect to Cobalt and CareFirst, WellPoint currently has no existing agreements or commitments with respect to any material acquisition. WellPoint may not be able to identify any future acquisition candidates or enter into agreements to acquire any additional businesses. Any future acquisitions may require significant additional capital resources, and WellPoint may not have access to adequate capital resources to effect any future acquisition.

# WellPoint may face risks from assumed reinsurance business related to its acquisition of the group health insurance operations of John Hancock, which could lead to material losses.

In 1997, WellPoint acquired the group benefit operations of John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company, which provide group health insurance. Before WellPoint acquired the group benefits operations, John Hancock entered into a number of reinsurance arrangements with respect to personal accident insurance and the occupational accident component of workers' compensation insurance, a portion of which was originated through a pool managed by Unicover Managers, Inc. Under these arrangements, John Hancock assumed risks as a reinsurer and transferred some of these risks to other companies. These arrangements have recently become the subject of disputes, including a number of legal proceedings to which John Hancock is a party. WellPoint believes that it has a number of defenses to avoid any ultimate liability with respect to these matters. WellPoint also believes that it did not assume these liabilities from John Hancock. However, if WellPoint were to bear any of these liabilities, WellPoint could suffer losses that might have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

# WellPoint operates a mail order pharmacy and a pharmacy benefit management business, both of which are subject to extensive regulation and potential liability.

In December 2000, WellPoint completed its acquisition of a mail order pharmacy. The pharmacy business is subject to extensive federal, state and local regulations, which is in many instances different from those under which WellPoint's core health plan business currently operates. If WellPoint fails to adhere to applicable regulations, it could be subject to civil and criminal penalties, which could adversely affect WellPoint's results of operations or financial condition. In addition, pharmacies are exposed to risks inherent in the packaging and distribution of pharmaceutical and other health care products. Although WellPoint maintains professional liability and errors and omissions liability insurance, WellPoint cannot guarantee that coverage amounts will be adequate to protect against future claims or that it will be able to maintain insurance on acceptable terms in the future.

In addition, one of WellPoint's wholly owned subsidiaries operates as a pharmacy benefit manager under the trade name WellPoint Pharmacy Management. The pharmacy benefit management industry faces a number of risks and uncertainties in addition to those facing WellPoint's core health plan business. Such risks and uncertainties include the application of federal and state anti-remuneration laws (generally known as "anti-kickback" laws), whether pharmacy benefit managers operate as fiduciaries under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, also known as ERISA, and are in compliance with their fiduciary obligations under ERISA in connection with the development and implementation of items such as formularies, preferred drug listings and therapeutic intervention programs and potential liability regarding the use of patient-identifiable medical information. A number of federal and state legislative proposals are being considered that could affect a variety of pharmacy benefit management industry practices, such as the receipt of rebates from pharmaceutical manufacturers. WellPoint cannot guarantee that its pharmacy benefit management business will not be subject to challenge under various laws and regulations, or that any such challenge will not have a material adverse effect upon its results of operations or financial condition. In addition, future legislative enactments affecting the pharmacy benefit management industry could have a material adverse effect upon WellPoint's results of operations and financial condition.

# WellPoint's stock price is highly volatile, which could lead to sudden, severe decreases in the value of your investment.

The trading price of WellPoint common stock fluctuates significantly. For example, during 2002, WellPoint common stock ranged from a low sale price of \$57.58 per share (adjusted to reflect WellPoint's stock split in the form of a 100% stock dividend that occurred on March 15, 2002) to a high sale price of \$89.20 per share. From time to time, stock prices of companies in the health care industry experience periods of increased volatility due to company-specific issues and general

developments in the industry and in the regulatory environment. In addition, companies in the health care industry have recently experienced periods of increased volatility in the price of their capital stock due to post-merger integration difficulties and several highly publicized class-action lawsuits and allegations of accounting and other fraud.

#### WellPoint may be subject to adverse tax consequences resulting from its recapitalization.

On May 20, 1996, WellPoint completed a recapitalization with its majority stockholder, Blue Cross of California. As part of the recapitalization, the California HealthCare Foundation became the holder of approximately 80% of WellPoint common stock. In connection with the recapitalization, Blue Cross of California received a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service that, among other things, the conversion of Blue Cross of California from a non-profit corporation to a for-profit corporation qualified as a tax-free transaction and that Blue Cross of California recognized no gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes. If the Internal Revenue Service were to subsequently revoke, modify or decide not to honor the ruling due to a change in law or for any other reason, WellPoint, as the successor to Blue Cross of California, could be subject to United States federal income tax on the difference between the value of Blue Cross of California at the time of the recapitalization and Blue Cross of California's tax basis in its assets at the time of the recapitalization. WellPoint currently estimates that the potential tax liability to WellPoint if Blue Cross of California's conversion is treated as a taxable transaction is approximately \$696 million, plus interest and possibly penalties. Blue Cross of California and the California HealthCare Foundation entered into an indemnification agreement that provides, with certain exceptions, that the California HealthCare Foundation will indemnify WellPoint against the net tax liability as a result of the Internal Revenue Service's revocation or modification, in whole or in part, of its ruling, or an Internal Revenue Service determination that Blue Cross of California's conversion is a taxable transaction for United States federal income tax purposes. If a tax liability should arise against which the California HealthCare Foundation has agreed to indemnify WellPoint, the California HealthCare Foundation may not have sufficient assets to pay the liability. WellPoint would then bear all or a portion of the liability, which could have a material adverse effect on WellPoint's financial condition.

During the quarter ended September 30, 1998, WellPoint received a private letter ruling from the IRS with respect to the treatment of certain payments made at the time of the recapitalization and the acquisition of the commercial operations of Blue Cross of California. The ruling allowed WellPoint to deduct as an ordinary and necessary business expense the \$800.0 million cash payment made by Blue Cross of California in May 1996 to one of two newly formed charitable foundations. As a result of and in reliance on the ruling, WellPoint experienced a reduction in its income tax expense of \$85.5 million and WellPoint reduced its goodwill resulting from the recapitalization by \$194.5 million during the year ended December 31, 1998. WellPoint filed for refund claims of approximately \$198.6 million of previous year income tax payments and reduced income tax payments during 1998 and 1999 by approximately \$81.4 million. In August 1999, WellPoint received a cash refund (including applicable accrued interest) of approximately \$183.0 million, which was reflected in the statement of cash flows for such year.

In March 2002, WellPoint received a letter from the IRS notifying WellPoint that the IRS was considering revoking the September 1998 private letter ruling. The letter stated that the IRS was considering, in essence, reversing its earlier position and concluding that the \$800.0 million payment was not an ordinary and necessary business expense. The letter further stated that the IRS was withdrawing the private letter ruling and that WellPoint could no longer rely on the private letter ruling. Under Section 7805(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, the IRS has discretionary authority to limit the retroactive effect of any revocation of a letter ruling. In March 2002, WellPoint submitted a written request for such relief under Section 7805(b). On April 9, 2002, WellPoint received a letter from the IRS notifying WellPoint that its request had been granted and that the September 1998 private letter ruling would not be revoked on a retroactive basis. Based on this April 9, 2002 letter,

WellPoint intends to continue to rely on the September 1998 private letter ruling in its treatment of the \$800.0 million cash payment made in May 1996.

### **Risks Relating Particularly to the Business of Cobalt**

# Regulatory or other health care developments or an economic downturn in Wisconsin may harm Cobalt's results.

Cobalt conducts business primarily within the State of Wisconsin, and approximately 18.2% of Cobalt's insured medical members are located in Milwaukee County. Therefore, Cobalt's business may be more sensitive to local or state conditions, such as pricing dynamics, health care developments or general economic conditions, than organizations servicing larger, more diverse markets. For example, national competitors can subsidize losses in the Wisconsin market with profits from other markets in which they operate. Cobalt may be competitively disadvantaged, or otherwise harmed, by its Wisconsin focus.

# As a Medicare fiscal intermediary, Cobalt's United Government Services subsidiary is subject to complex regulations. If it fails to comply with these regulations, it may be exposed to criminal sanctions and significant civil penalties.

Cobalt's United Government Services subsidiary serves as a fiscal intermediary for the Medicare program. The laws and regulations governing fiscal intermediaries for the Medicare program are complex and subject to interpretation and can expose a fiscal intermediary to penalties for non-compliance. Fiscal intermediaries may be subject to criminal fines, civil penalties or other sanctions as a result of periodic audits or reviews. Other companies in this business have recently been subject to significant fines and censures for non-compliance. While Cobalt believes that it is in compliance in all material respects with the regulations governing fiscal intermediaries, Cobalt cannot assure you of this.

# Challenges from tax authorities could significantly affect Cobalt's results of operations.

Cobalt frequently faces challenges from domestic tax authorities regarding the amount of taxes due. These challenges include questions regarding the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income. From time to time Cobalt has litigated matters in dispute. Cobalt evaluates exposures associated with its tax positions and records reserves for probable exposures when identified. To the extent that Cobalt were to prevail in matters for which accruals have been established or was required to pay amounts in excess of its recorded accruals, its effective tax rate and income tax expense may be materially impacted.

Cobalt is currently litigating certain matters in the United States Court of Federal Claims with respect to its federal income tax liability for its 1987 tax year. During June 2003, Cobalt's motion for partial summary judgment on a key issue in the 1987 tax litigation matter was denied and the government's motion for partial summary judgment on the same issue was granted. Cobalt may appeal this decision, and plans to record an additional income tax expense in the amount of approximately \$2.0 million during June 2003 to accrue for its estimated exposure in this matter.

#### INFORMATION REGARDING THE SPECIAL MEETING

#### Time, Date and Place

The special meeting will be held at , located at , on , 2003, commencing at , local time.

#### **Record Date and Shares Entitled to Vote**

Shareholders of record as of the close of business on , 2003, will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting and on any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting. On the record date, shares of Cobalt common stock were outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting.

# **Purpose of Special Meeting**

The purpose of the special meeting is to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the acquisition of Cobalt by WellPoint pursuant to the plan of merger included in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 3, 2003, among Cobalt, WellPoint and Crossroads Acquisition Corp.

### The Number of Votes You Have

Each Cobalt shareholder has one vote for each share of Cobalt common stock owned of record on , 2003.

#### How You Can Vote

There are two ways you can vote:

- by proxy: indicate your vote on the enclosed proxy card, sign and date the proxy card and return it in the envelope provided; or
- in person: attend the special meeting and vote in person (if a broker holds your shares, you should bring instructions from your broker to vote in person).

#### **Quorum Requirement; Vote Required**

In order for there to be a quorum to transact business at the special meeting, a majority of the outstanding shares of the Cobalt common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting must be present in person or by proxy. Abstentions and "broker non-votes" will be counted for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present. Broker non-votes are shares held by brokers or nominees on behalf of customers that are represented at the meeting but with respect to which the broker or nominee has not been instructed how to vote. Brokers holding shares of Cobalt common stock in street name for customers are prohibited from voting those customers' shares regarding the merger and the merger agreement in the absence of specific instructions for those customers.

The approval of the merger and the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. Failures to vote, abstentions and broker non-votes will not be deemed to be cast either for or against the merger and the merger agreement. However, because approval of the merger and the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock, failures to vote, abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as votes against the merger and the merger agreement.

#### How Proxies Will Be Voted

If you properly execute and return your proxy card in time, the proxy holders will vote your shares of Cobalt common stock in accordance with your instructions. If you do not give instructions on your proxy card, the proxy holders will vote your shares of Cobalt common stock to approve the merger and the merger agreement.

#### **Voting of Foundation Shares**

Wisconsin United for Health Foundation, Inc., referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the Foundation, owns 25,009,390 shares of Cobalt common stock, representing approximately 59.6% of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock as of the record date. All of the shares held by the Foundation are held in a voting trust in accordance with a voting trust and divestiture agreement, among Cobalt, the Foundation and the trustee named therein.

Under the terms of a voting and lockup agreement entered into between the Foundation and WellPoint, the Foundation has agreed to vote or cause to be voted all of its shares of Cobalt common stock in favor of the merger and the merger agreement, unless the merger agreement is terminated or is amended in any manner materially adverse to the Foundation without its consent or unless Cobalt's board of directors withdraws, withholds, amends or modifies its recommendation with respect to the approval of the merger and the merger agreement.

#### How You Can Revoke Your Proxy or Change Your Vote

You may revoke a properly executed proxy at any time before it is exercised by:

- filing a written revocation with the Cobalt corporate secretary prior to the special meeting,
- filing a duly executed proxy bearing a later date with the Cobalt corporate secretary prior to the special meeting; or
- voting in person at the special meeting (if a broker holds your shares, you should bring instructions from your broker to vote in person).

#### **Costs and Method of Solicitation**

Cobalt directors, officers, employees and agents will solicit proxies primarily by mail, telephone, telegram, fax or by electronic means or personally. They will not receive any additional compensation for their solicitation. Cobalt will pay all expenses of the proxy solicitation, although WellPoint and Cobalt have agreed to share in the costs of preparing and mailing this proxy statement/ prospectus. Cobalt will request brokers, nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians to forward soliciting material to the beneficial owners of its common stock and will reimburse them for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

#### **Dissenters' Rights**

Under Wisconsin law, Cobalt shareholders will not have dissenters' appraisal rights in connection with the merger.

### THE MERGER

#### **Merger Consideration**

The merger agreement provides that each share of Cobalt common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the merger (other than treasury stock of Cobalt, shares of Cobalt common stock held by Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin and shares of Cobalt common stock owned by WellPoint) shall be converted at the effective time of the merger into the right to receive: (i) \$10.25 in cash and (ii) 0.1233 of a share of WellPoint common stock, subject to adjustment as described in the next sentence. If the average closing price of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 15 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately after the day on which all of the closing conditions have been satisfied or waived (other than the condition that the price of WellPoint's common stock be at least \$62.50 and those conditions that can only be satisfied on the closing date) is less than \$70.97 (the date on which the determination is made is referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the determination date), then each common stock share of Cobalt common stock, the numerator of which is equal to \$8.75 and the denominator of which is equal to the average closing price of WellPoint common stock over such 15 day period ending on and including the determination date, rounded to the nearest 1/10,000.

### **Background of the Merger**

Cobalt's board of directors regularly reviews the organization's business and strategic plans and objectives to determine ways to enhance shareholder value.

Cobalt has from time to time had conversations with, and received expressions of interest from, third parties interested in exploring the possibility of a business combination with Cobalt. In July 2001, Cobalt's board of directors undertook a review of Cobalt's strategic alternatives. In connection with this review, Cobalt considered, among other alternatives, possible combinations with a number of larger managed care companies, and entered into confidentiality agreements with five such companies, including WellPoint. After preliminary discussions with each of these parties, and discussion of potential terms and structures of combinations, Cobalt's board of directors determined that remaining independent would best serve Cobalt and its shareholders at that time.

WellPoint has an ongoing acquisition program as part of its regional expansion strategy and regularly considers strategic acquisition opportunities. On April 4, 2003, Leonard D. Schaeffer, WellPoint's chairman and chief executive officer, telephoned Stephen E. Bablitch, Cobalt's chairman and chief executive officer, and requested a meeting to discuss a proposal for the combination of WellPoint and Cobalt. After consultation with James Forbes, Cobalt's Presiding Director, Mr. Bablitch agreed to meet with WellPoint representatives. On April 13, 2003, John A. O'Rourke, David C. Colby and Thomas C. Geiser, WellPoint's executive vice president, Central Region, executive vice president and chief financial officer and executive vice president and general counsel, respectively, met with Mr. Bablitch and Michael E. Bernstein, Cobalt's president and chief operating officer, and expressed WellPoint's interest in exploring a potential business combination with Cobalt. This meeting was continued on April 14, and the general outlines of WellPoint's proposal were discussed. Later that day, Mr. Bablitch updated Mr. Forbes. After consulting with legal counsel, it was decided that Cobalt's board of directors should be informed of the situation.

On April 26, 2003, Mr. Bablitch convened a special meeting of the Cobalt board of directors to advise the board on WellPoint's expression of interest in a possible business combination with Cobalt. Cobalt's legal counsel, Foley & Lardner, and UBS, Cobalt's financial advisor, also participated in this meeting. Mr. Bablitch updated the Cobalt board on his meetings with WellPoint's representatives and reviewed with the board and Cobalt's legal and financial advisors WellPoint's expression of interest and related matters. Also at this meeting, Cobalt's legal advisor briefed the Cobalt board of directors on its

fiduciary duties under the circumstances. At the conclusion of the meeting, the Cobalt board of directors authorized management to explore further the possibility of a business combination transaction with WellPoint and, to that end, to share information and have preliminary discussions with WellPoint following execution of an appropriate confidentiality agreement.

Cobalt's representatives and WellPoint's representatives then negotiated and executed a confidentiality agreement dated April 29, 2003, after which the parties exchanged due diligence information concerning their companies. On May 5 and 6, 2003, members of WellPoint management attended a meeting with senior management of Cobalt in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, during which Cobalt management presented an overview of Cobalt and its business strategies and both management teams discussed the similarities of the businesses of their companies and the opportunities presented by a combination of the two companies. At these meetings, Cobalt made various due diligence materials available to WellPoint management and WellPoint's independent accountants.

On May 9, 2003, representatives of WellPoint outlined the terms of WellPoint's proposal for a combination with Mr. Bablitch and UBS. On May 12, 2003, at a special meeting of the Cobalt board of directors, the board reviewed, among other things, Cobalt management's business plan, market and financial information relating to Cobalt, WellPoint and other companies in the managed care industry, and recent acquisition activity in such industry. Cobalt's legal advisors again briefed the board on its fiduciary duties. At the end of the meeting, the Cobalt board determined that WellPoint would need to revise its proposal.

On May 15, 2003, WellPoint representatives verbally relayed a revised proposal to UBS. After discussions between Cobalt and WellPoint representatives, WellPoint submitted a further revised proposal on May 16, 2003. A meeting of the Cobalt board of directors was held on May 17, 2003. At this meeting, UBS reviewed with the Cobalt board financial aspects of the new proposal. At the board's request, WellPoint was contacted to solicit a modified proposal and, subsequently, WellPoint verbally communicated a further revised proposal, which the board discussed with Cobalt management and Cobalt's legal and financial advisors when it reconvened that same afternoon. After discussion of the terms of the revised proposal, the board authorized legal counsel to work with WellPoint counsel to prepare a definitive merger agreement for the board and management to review and consider.

On May 22, 2003, the Foundation board of directors met to hear and consider the WellPoint proposal. Mr. Bablitch made a presentation to the Foundation board, including discussion of the prospects of Cobalt as an independent entity and the views of the Cobalt board regarding the WellPoint proposal as revised. After answering all of the Foundation directors' questions, the Cobalt representatives were excused and the Foundation board reviewed an analysis from its financial and legal advisors.

On May 23, 2003, members of Cobalt senior management and Cobalt's financial and legal advisors, as well as the Foundation's financial and legal advisors, met with various representatives of WellPoint at WellPoint's offices in Thousand Oaks, California. Prior to this meeting and afterwards, WellPoint made available to Cobalt and the Foundation various due diligence materials that were requested.

Cobalt's board of directors met again with Cobalt management and Cobalt's legal and financial advisors on May 27, 2003 to receive an update on the progress of negotiations with respect to a definitive merger agreement.

On May 29 and 30, 2003, members of WellPoint senior management met with various representatives of Cobalt in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. At these meetings and afterwards, Cobalt made available various due diligence materials requested by WellPoint.

On May 29, 2003, the Foundation board of directors met to receive an update on both the progress of the negotiation of a voting and lockup agreement between the Foundation and WellPoint and on the progress of Cobalt's negotiations with WellPoint with respect to a definitive merger

agreement. On June 2, 2003, the Foundation board of directors met again to review an analysis of the proposed transaction from its financial and legal advisors. At that time, the Foundation's board of directors also received an update as to the progress of Cobalt's negotiations with WellPoint.

On various dates between May 21, 2003 and June 3, 2003, members of Cobalt management and Cobalt's legal and financial advisors met or had telephone conversations with members of WellPoint management and WellPoint's legal and financial advisors to negotiate a definitive merger agreement. Additionally, legal advisors for WellPoint and the Foundation continued to negotiate the voting and lockup agreement.

At a special meeting of the Cobalt board of directors on June 1, 2003, the Cobalt board reviewed detailed information regarding the proposed transaction, including a comprehensive overview of the terms of the merger agreement and other ancillary agreements, including the voting and lockup agreement between WellPoint and the Foundation. Another special meeting of the Cobalt board was held on June 2, 2003, at which Cobalt senior management and Cobalt's legal and financial advisors further updated the board in its review of the merger proposal and the proposed merger agreement.

At various times between May 12 and June 3, 2003, WellPoint senior management and its advisors provided the WellPoint board of directors with updates regarding discussions and negotiations with Cobalt. On May 12, 2003, the WellPoint board of directors met at a regularly scheduled meeting and received detailed information from WellPoint senior management regarding the proposed transaction. On May 20, 2003, the WellPoint board of directors met by telephone and WellPoint senior management provided the directors with an update on the negotiation between the parties. The WellPoint board of directors met again on June 3, 2003 by telephone and received from WellPoint senior management and WellPoint's advisors a further update regarding the negotiations and an analysis of the final documents. At this meeting, the WellPoint board of directors authorized the signing of the merger agreement and the proposed ancillary documents, assuming approval of such documents by Cobalt and the Foundation.

On the afternoon of June 3, 2003, the Cobalt board of directors met to again consider the proposed merger. The Cobalt board received from Cobalt's senior management and legal counsel an update on the ultimate resolution of final outstanding issues relating to the merger agreement and other ancillary agreements. Messrs. Schaeffer, O'Rourke and Geiser attended this meeting and presented an overview of the potential benefits of the merger of the two companies. Also at this meeting, UBS delivered to the Cobalt board of directors an oral opinion, which opinion was confirmed by delivery of a written opinion dated the same date, as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, of the merger consideration to be received by the holders of Cobalt common stock (other than WellPoint, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin, and their respective affiliates). At the conclusion of this meeting, the Cobalt board of directors voted unanimously to authorize the signing of the merger agreement and ancillary documents.

On the evening of June 3, 2003, after the meeting of the Cobalt board of directors, the Foundation board of directors again met and considered the proposed merger. Mr. Schaeffer attended this meeting and presented an overview of the potential benefits of the proposed merger. Messrs. Bablitch, O'Rourke and Geiser also attended this meeting and presented an overview of the potential benefits of the merger of the two companies. The Foundation board of directors also received information concerning the proposed transaction from the Foundation's own legal and financial advisors. At this meeting, the Foundation board of directors authorized the Foundation to sign the voting and lockup agreement.

Following the Foundation board meeting, on the evening of June 3, 2003, WellPoint and Cobalt signed the merger agreement and WellPoint and the Foundation signed the voting and lockup agreement.

### **Cobalt's Reasons for the Merger**

In deciding to approve the merger agreement and to recommend approval of the merger agreement by Cobalt shareholders, the Cobalt board of directors considered a number of factors, including particularly the factors listed below. In view of the number and variety of factors considered in connection with its evaluation of the merger, as well as the number and variety of persons inside and outside the State of Wisconsin who would be affected by the merger, the Cobalt directors did not attempt to quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its determination, and individual directors may have given different weight to different factors. The Cobalt board of directors viewed its approval and recommendation as being based on the totality of the information and factors presented to and considered by it.

*Financial Terms of the Merger.* The Cobalt board of directors believes that the merger consideration to be delivered to shareholders of Cobalt is fair to the shareholders of Cobalt based upon Cobalt's current financial condition and future prospects, as well as the current financial condition and future prospects of the combined organization. In arriving at this conclusion, the Cobalt board of directors, together with Cobalt's senior management and with the assistance of legal and financial advisors, evaluated, among other things, the option of remaining independent and the benefits presented to Cobalt and its shareholders by the merger with WellPoint. The board noted that for 2001 and the first quarter of 2002, the price per share of Cobalt common stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange had been less than half the value of the merger consideration. The board believes that since Cobalt has successfully executed management's plan adopted in 2001 to deal with capital sufficiency and related regulatory issues, and the market value of Cobalt stock has accordingly recovered, the timing of a combination such as the merger was appropriate.

Comparison of Cobalt's Value as a Continuing Independent Entity With its Value in Combination with WellPoint. The Cobalt board of directors believes that the value to be received by Cobalt shareholders in the merger is greater than that available if Cobalt were to continue as an independent entity. The Cobalt board of directors made this determination after taking into consideration numerous factors, including the risks and uncertainties in executing Cobalt's current business plan without the benefit of increases in scale considering consolidation trends, including legislative and legal developments, and the uncertainties associated with predicting future business results and access to capital as an independent company. The Cobalt board of directors noted that the merger should provide the Cobalt shareholders with greater liquidity in the form of WellPoint stock and cash based upon, among other things, the respective historical trading ranges and trading volumes for the WellPoint and Cobalt common stock. The Cobalt board of directors also noted that the merger would fulfill the Foundation's obligation to sell its Cobalt common stock over a prescribed period, and alleviate the risk that the Foundation's sales of Cobalt common stock (and the expectation of those sales) coupled with the limited historical trading volume of Cobalt common stock could cause the trading price of the Cobalt common stock to fall. The board noted, for example, that in connection with the recent sale by the Foundation of 6,304,000 shares in partial fulfillment of its divestiture obligation, the closing price of Cobalt common stock on the New York Stock Exchange declined from \$14.55 per share on January 23, 2003, the day the proposed sale of stock was announced, to \$12.87 per share on February 7, 2003, the date of the closing of the sale of 5,500,000 of those shares, and that the Foundation's sale was completed at a price of \$12.00 per share.

*WellPoint's Financial Condition, Prospects and Industry Reputation.* The Cobalt board of directors considered the financial condition and prospects of WellPoint, the results of Cobalt's due diligence review of WellPoint, WellPoint's access to capital, WellPoint's interest in increasing the quality and number of products offered to subscribers and WellPoint's interest in taking advantage of similar organizational structures, thereby possibly minimizing staffing dislocations and reductions. The Cobalt board of directors also took into consideration WellPoint's reputation in the health care industry. It

noted that Fortune magazine ranked WellPoint as one of the most admired health care companies on its annual list of America's most admired companies during each of the last five years and praised its customer-focused products and services as one of the nation's largest publicly traded health care companies.

Availability of Additional Capital Resources. The Cobalt board of directors considered the future need for additional capital resources to achieve Cobalt's own business plan and considered that these resources were more readily available to Cobalt in combination with WellPoint than as a continuing independent entity. The Cobalt board considered that the Foundation's current registration rights with respect to Cobalt common stock, and the Foundation's obligation to sell its Cobalt common stock over a prescribed period, could limit Cobalt's future ability as an independent company to raise additional funds through equity offerings and could therefore restrict Cobalt's future growth, inhibit its ability to make required investments and adversely affect its ability to compete. The Cobalt board noted that these restrictions would be eliminated if the merger occurs.

Availability of Other Resources. The Cobalt board of directors considered that, in addition to making available greater capital resources, the combination of the businesses of Cobalt and WellPoint would make available to Cobalt certain other advantages arising from the greater size of WellPoint. The Cobalt board believes that these advantages include greater purchasing power arising from a much larger volume of business and other operating economies of scale; the availability of new products to complement those already developed and available to the members of Cobalt; the ability to deal in a concerted and efficient way with common legal developments and challenges, including new state and federal regulation and class action litigation targeted at the health care industry in general; and the timely development of new information systems necessary to serve the needs of Cobalt's business.

*Changes and Consolidations in the Health Care Industry.* The Cobalt board of directors considered the current environment of the health care industry, including the regulatory uncertainty related to managed care generally, and the trend toward consolidation in the industry. The Cobalt board believes that a company such as Cobalt, whose business is primarily located in a single state, is vulnerable to local or state conditions such as pricing dynamics, health care developments or general economic conditions, which may place Cobalt at a competitive disadvantage as compared with larger national competitors.

*Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor.* The Cobalt board of directors considered the opinion, dated June 3, 2003, to the Cobalt board of directors of Cobalt's financial advisor, UBS, to the effect that, as of the date of the opinion and based on and subject to the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken described in its written opinion, the merger consideration was fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Cobalt common stock (other than WellPoint, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin, and their respective affiliates), as described below under the heading "The Merger—Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor."

Impact on Constituencies Including Wisconsin United for Health Foundation, Inc. The Cobalt board of directors considered the general impact that the merger would have on the various constituencies served by Cobalt, including its shareholders, its customers, its employees, the communities it serves and others. The Cobalt board of directors noted that, based upon the current value of the merger consideration, the value of the assets of the Foundation would increase to nearly \$585 million. The assets will be used by the Foundation exclusively to promote the general health, welfare and common good of the residents of the State of Wisconsin Solely by supporting public health initiatives to be developed by the University of Wisconsin Medical School and the Medical College of Wisconsin pursuant to the requirements of the Wisconsin Commissioner of Insurance. In addition, WellPoint's announced intention to establish Milwaukee as its national headquarters for its Medicare Part A claim processing business is expected to have a positive effect on employment in southeastern Wisconsin.

*Common Vision of Senior Management.* The Cobalt board of directors believes that the senior management of both Cobalt and WellPoint share a common vision about the importance of delivering financial performance and shareholder value. The Cobalt board also believes that the business combination is a good strategic fit and that both companies have significant experience in managing risk and non-risk business and share track records in creating successful organizations. The Cobalt board noted that WellPoint's reputation for its ability to successfully develop and deliver member-friendly products based upon emerging market trends is consistent with Cobalt's member focus and should position the combined organization to further expand Cobalt's strong market position in Wisconsin and increase the WellPoint presence in the Midwest.

*Continuation of Blue Cross Blue Shield Affiliation.* The Cobalt board of directors considered that Cobalt's tradition as a Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensee would continue following the merger because WellPoint would continue to operate Cobalt's Blue Cross and Blue Shield licensed subsidiaries as part of WellPoint's recently created Central Region business unit.

*Closing and Integration Risks.* The Cobalt board of directors noted that the combination of WellPoint and Cobalt should present a manageable execution risk in view of the similar business lines and business cultures of the two companies and WellPoint's prior experience in successfully completing acquisitions and integrating the acquired companies. The board also took into account the likelihood that the merger will be approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities.

*Terms of the Merger Agreement.* The Cobalt board of directors considered the terms of the merger agreement, including the nature and scope of the closing conditions and the potential for incurring a termination fee in the event of a termination of the merger agreement under certain circumstances described in this proxy statement/prospectus and the fact that the termination fee and other provisions of the merger agreement might discourage third parties from seeking to acquire Cobalt and otherwise increase the cost of such an acquisition. The board took into account that the terms of the termination fee were the subject of negotiations between the parties and the fee would generally be payable only in the event that the merger agreement is terminated in conjunction with the receipt by Cobalt of a superior acquisition proposal from a third party. See "The Merger Agreement—Termination Fee; Reimbursement of Certain Expenses."

#### **Recommendation of the Cobalt Board of Directors**

The board of directors of Cobalt has unanimously approved the merger and the merger agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby and believes the merger is advisable, fair to and in the best interests of Cobalt and its shareholders. Accordingly, the board of directors of Cobalt unanimously recommends that shareholders of Cobalt vote "FOR" approval of the merger agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby. See "The Merger— Cobalt's Reasons for the Merger."

#### WellPoint's Reasons for the Merger

In approving the merger and the merger agreement, the WellPoint board of directors considered a number of factors, including the factors discussed in the following paragraphs. In view of the number and wide variety of factors considered in connection with its evaluation of the merger, the WellPoint board of directors did not consider it practicable to, and did not attempt to, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its determination. The WellPoint board of directors viewed its position and recommendations as being based on all of the information and the factors presented to and considered by it. In addition, individual directors may have given different weight to different information and factors.

In reaching its decision, the WellPoint board of directors consulted with WellPoint management with respect to strategic and operational matters. The WellPoint board of directors also consulted with WellPoint's legal counsel with respect to the merger agreement, the voting and lockup agreement with the Foundation and related issues. The board of directors also consulted a financial advisor with respect to the financial aspects of the transaction.

*Strategic Combination.* The WellPoint board of directors considered the strategic importance of the merger in that:

- it is consistent with WellPoint's previously announced strategy of combining with other for-profit licensees of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association;
- it would provide WellPoint with an immediate material competitive position in Wisconsin; and
- it would enhance WellPoint's competitive position in the Midwest. WellPoint has previously targeted the Midwest as a key priority for its national expansion efforts, as shown by WellPoint's merger in January 2002 with RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc. Cobalt's operations in Wisconsin will significantly further this strategy.

*The Financial Terms of the Merger.* The WellPoint board of directors considered information concerning the business, earnings, operations, financial condition and prospects of WellPoint and Cobalt, both individually and on a combined basis, including, but not limited to, information with respect to recent and historic stock and earnings performance.

*Diversification of WellPoint's Business.* The WellPoint board of directors considered that the combination of the two companies would serve to diversify the combined company's business in that:

- the combination would enhance WellPoint's competitive position in the Midwest, especially when combined with the former RightCHOICE business; and
- WellPoint currently expects that, upon completion of the merger, for the first time more than 50% of its medical members will reside outside of the state of California.

*Management Expertise.* Cobalt's current management team, led by chairman and chief executive officer Stephen E. Bablitch and president and chief operating officer Michael E. Bernstein, has implemented a number of measures since mid-2002 that have greatly improved the operations of Cobalt. This management team will continue to be responsible for Cobalt's operations following completion of the merger.

#### **Opinion of Cobalt's Financial Advisor**

On June 3, 2003, at a meeting of the Cobalt board of directors held to approve the proposed merger, UBS delivered to the Cobalt board an oral opinion, confirmed by delivery of a written opinion dated June 3, 2003, to the effect that, as of that date and based on and subject to various assumptions, matters considered and limitations described in the opinion, the merger consideration was fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Cobalt common stock (other than WellPoint, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin, and their respective affiliates).

The full text of UBS's opinion describes the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken by UBS. This opinion is attached as Appendix B and is incorporated into this proxy statement/prospectus by reference. UBS's opinion is directed only to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the merger consideration and does not address any other aspect of the merger or any related transaction. The opinion does not address the relative merits of the merger as compared to other business strategies or transactions that might be available with respect to Cobalt or the underlying business decision of Cobalt to effect the merger. The opinion does not constitute a recommendation to any shareholder as to how to vote or act with respect to any

matters relating to the proposed merger. You are encouraged to read this opinion carefully in its entirety. The summary of UBS's opinion below is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of UBS's opinion.

In arriving at its opinion, UBS:

- reviewed publicly available business and financial information relating to Cobalt and WellPoint, including publicly available financial forecasts and estimates relating to WellPoint that were reviewed and discussed with UBS by WellPoint's management;
- reviewed internal financial information and other data relating to Cobalt's business and financial prospects, including financial forecasts and estimates, that were provided to UBS by Cobalt management and were not publicly available;
- conducted discussions with members of the senior managements of Cobalt and WellPoint concerning the respective businesses and financial prospects of Cobalt and WellPoint;
- reviewed current and historical market prices and trading volumes of Cobalt common stock and WellPoint common stock;
- reviewed publicly available financial and stock market data with respect to companies in lines of businesses that UBS believed to be generally comparable to those of Cobalt and WellPoint;
- compared the financial terms of the merger with the publicly available financial terms of other transactions that UBS believed to be generally relevant;
- considered pro forma effects of the merger on WellPoint's financial statements;
- reviewed the merger agreement and related documents; and
- conducted other financial studies, analyses and investigations, and considered other information, as UBS deemed necessary or appropriate.

In connection with its review, with Cobalt's consent, UBS did not assume any responsibility for independent verification of any of the information that UBS was provided or reviewed for the purpose of its opinion and, with Cobalt's consent, UBS relied on that information being complete and accurate in all material respects. With respect to the publicly available financial forecasts and estimates that it reviewed with WellPoint's management relating to WellPoint, UBS was advised by WellPoint that they represented reasonable estimates and judgments as to WellPoint's future financial performance. With respect to the internal financial forecasts and estimates that it reviewed relating to Cobalt, UBS assumed, at Cobalt's direction, that they were reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of Cobalt management as to the future financial performance of Cobalt. In rendering its opinion, UBS assumed, with Cobalt's consent, that the merger will be treated as a tax-free reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes. UBS also assumed, with Cobalt's consent, that each of Cobalt, WellPoint and Merger Sub would comply with all material covenants and agreements contained in, and other material terms of, the merger agreement and that the merger would be consummated in accordance with its terms without waiver, modification or amendment of any material term, condition or agreement. UBS further assumed, with Cobalt's consent, that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the merger would be obtained without any adverse effect on Cobalt, WellPoint or the merger.

In connection with its engagement, UBS was not requested to, and it did not, solicit third party indications of interest in the possible acquisition of all or a part of Cobalt. UBS's opinion was necessarily based on economic, monetary, market and other conditions as in effect on, and information made available to UBS as of, the date of its opinion. UBS was not asked to, and it did not, offer any opinion as to the terms of the merger agreement or related documents or the form of the merger. In

addition, at Cobalt's direction, UBS did not make any independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities, contingent or otherwise and including, without limitation, actuarially determined liabilities, of Cobalt or WellPoint, and was not furnished with any evaluation or appraisal. UBS expressed no opinion as to the value of WellPoint common stock when issued in the merger or the prices at which WellPoint common stock will trade or otherwise be transferable at any time. Except as described above, Cobalt imposed no other instructions or limitations on UBS with respect to the investigations made or the procedures followed by UBS in rendering its opinion.

In connection with rendering its opinion to the Cobalt board, UBS performed a variety of financial and comparative analyses, which are summarized below. The following summary is not a complete description of all analyses performed and factors considered by UBS in connection with its opinion. The preparation of a financial opinion is a complex process involving subjective judgments and is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. With respect to the analysis of selected public companies and the analysis of selected precedent transactions summarized below, no company or transaction used as a comparison is either identical or directly comparable to Cobalt, WellPoint or the merger. These analyses necessarily involve complex considerations and judgments concerning financial and operating characteristics and other factors that could affect the public trading or acquisition values of the companies concerned.

UBS believes that its analyses and the summary below must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and factors or focusing on information presented in tabular format, without considering all analyses and factors or the narrative description of the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the processes underlying UBS's analyses and opinion. None of the analyses performed by UBS was assigned greater significance or reliance by UBS than any other. UBS arrived at its ultimate opinion based on the results of all analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole. UBS did not draw, in isolation, conclusions from or with regard to any one factor or method of analysis.

The estimates of the future performance of Cobalt and WellPoint provided by Cobalt management or derived from public sources in or underlying UBS's analyses are not necessarily indicative of future results or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those estimates. In performing its analyses, UBS considered industry performance, general business and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of Cobalt and WellPoint. Estimates of the financial value of companies do not necessarily purport to be appraisals or reflect the prices at which companies actually may be sold.

The merger consideration was determined through negotiation between Cobalt and WellPoint and the decision to enter into the merger agreement was solely that of the Cobalt board of directors. UBS's opinion and financial analyses were only one of many factors considered by the Cobalt board in its evaluation of the merger and should not be viewed as determinative of the views of the Cobalt board of directors or management with respect to the merger or the merger consideration.

The following is a brief summary of the material financial analyses performed by UBS and reviewed with the Cobalt board of directors in connection with its opinion relating to the proposed merger. The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. In order to fully understand UBS's financial analyses, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. Considering the data below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of UBS's financial analyses.

#### **Exchange Ratio Analysis**

UBS performed an exchange ratio analysis comparing the closing prices for Cobalt common stock and WellPoint common stock on June 3, 2003 and the average daily closing prices of Cobalt common stock and WellPoint common stock for the one month, two months, three months, six months and 12 months preceding June 3, 2003. This analysis yielded an implied exchange ratio range of 0.1970x to 0.2159x, as compared to the exchange ratio provided for in the merger of 0.2465x assuming 100% stock consideration with an implied offer of \$20.50 per share of Cobalt common stock, as indicated below:

Period	Implied Exchange Ratio
June 3, 2003	0.2159x
One Month	
Two Months	0.2049
Three Months	0.1982
Six Months	0.1970
12 Months	0.2149
Merger Consideration Assuming 100% Stock Consideration	0.2465x

#### **Analysis of Selected Public Companies**

*Cobalt.* UBS compared selected financial information for Cobalt with corresponding financial information of 17 selected publicly held companies in the managed care industry. These companies included the following Blue Cross Blue Shield plans, companies serving multiple markets, referred to as multi-market companies, and companies serving various regional areas, referred to as regional companies:

#### Blue Cross Blue Shield

Plans	Multi-Market Companies	Regional Companies	
• Anthem, Inc.	• Aetna Inc.	AMERIGROUP Corporation	
• WellChoice, Inc.	• American Medical Security Group, Inc.	Centene Corporation	
<ul> <li>WellPoint</li> </ul>	CIGNA Corporation	• Health Net Inc.	
	• Coventry Health Care, Inc.	• Mid Atlantic Medical Services, Inc.	
	• First Health Group Corp.	• Oxford Health Plans, Inc.	
	• Humana Inc.	• PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc.	
	<ul> <li>UnitedHealth Group Incorporated</li> </ul>	• Sierra Health Services, Inc.	

UBS reviewed the market value, based on closing stock prices on June 3, 2003, of the selected companies as a multiple of estimated calendar years 2003 and 2004 net income. UBS then compared the multiples derived from the selected companies with corresponding multiples for Cobalt based on both the closing price of Cobalt common stock on June 3, 2003 and the merger consideration. Financial data for the selected companies and Cobalt were based on company press releases, public filings and First Call estimates. This analysis indicated the following implied mean and median market value

multiples for the selected companies by category and the implied high, low, mean and median market value multiples for all selected companies, as compared to the multiples implied for Cobalt:

	Market Value as a Multiple of:	
	Estimated calendar year 2003 net income	Estimated calendar year 2004 net income
Implied Multiples for Selected Companies		
Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans		
Mean	13.6x	11.8x
Median	14.2x	12.3x
Multi-Market Companies		
Mean	12.5x	10.9x
Median	12.5x	10.7x
Regional Companies		
Mean	11.1x	9.7x
Median	11.5x	9.8x
All Selected Companies		
High	17.7x	15.3x
Low	7.2x	6.8x
Mean	12.1x	10.6x
Median	11.5x	10.0x
Implied Multiples for Cobalt		
Based on Closing Stock Price on 6/3/03	16.3x	14.1x
Based on Merger Consideration	18.6x	16.1x

*WellPoint.* UBS also compared selected financial information for WellPoint with corresponding financial information of 17 selected publicly held companies in the managed care industry. These companies included the following Blue Cross Blue Shield plans, multi-market companies and regional companies:

Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans	Multi-Market Companies	<b>Regional Companies</b>
<ul><li>Anthem, Inc.</li><li>WellChoice, Inc.</li><li>Cobalt</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Aetna Inc.</li> <li>American Medical Security Group, Inc.</li> <li>CIGNA Corporation</li> <li>Coventry Health Care, Inc.</li> <li>First Health Group Corp.</li> <li>Humana Inc.</li> <li>UnitedHealth Group Incorporated</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>AMERIGROUP Corporation</li> <li>Centene Corporation</li> <li>Health Net Inc.</li> <li>Mid Atlantic Medical Services, Inc.</li> <li>Oxford Health Plans, Inc.</li> <li>PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc.</li> <li>Sierra Health Services, Inc.</li> </ul>

UBS reviewed the market value, based on closing stock prices on June 3, 2003, of the selected companies as a multiple of estimated calendar years 2003 and 2004 net income. UBS then compared the multiples derived from the selected companies with corresponding multiples for WellPoint based on the closing price of WellPoint common stock on June 3, 2003. Financial data for the selected companies and WellPoint were based on company press releases, public filings and First Call estimates. This analysis indicated the following implied mean and median market value multiples for the selected

companies by category and the implied high, low, mean and median market value multiples for all selected companies, as compared to the multiples implied for WellPoint:

	Market Value as a Multiple of:		
	Estimated calendar year 2003 net income	Estimated calendar year 2004 net income	
Implied Multiples for Selected Companies			
Blue Cross Blue Shield Plans			
Mean	14.0x	12.2x	
Median	14.2x	12.3x	
Multi-Market Companies			
Mean	12.5x	10.9x	
Median	12.5x	10.7x	
Regional Companies			
Mean	11.1x	9.7x	
Median	11.5x	9.8x	
All Selected Companies			
High	17.7x	15.3x	
Low	7.2x	6.8x	
Mean	12.2x	10.6x	
Median	11.5x	10.0x	
Implied Multiples for WellPoint			
Based on Closing Stock Price on 6/3/03	15.1x	13.2x	

#### **Analysis of Selected Precedent Transactions**

UBS reviewed the implied equity values in the following three selected mergers and acquisitions transactions in the managed care industry announced between 2000 and 2002:

Acquiror	Target	
• Anthem, Inc.	• Trigon Healthcare, Inc.	
• WellPoint	<ul> <li>RightCHOICE Managed Care, Inc.</li> </ul>	
• WellPoint	Cerulean Companies, Inc.	

UBS reviewed the equity value in the selected transactions as a multiple of one-year forward and two-year forward net income. UBS then compared the implied multiples derived from the selected transactions with corresponding multiples implied in the merger. Multiples for the selected transactions were based on publicly available information, Wall Street research and I/B/E/S consensus estimates at the time of announcement of the transaction. This analysis indicated the following implied equity value multiples in the selected transactions, as compared to the multiples implied in the merger:

	Implied Multiples in Selected Transactions			Implied Multiples	
Equity Value as a Multiple of:	High	Low	Mean	Median	in the Merger
Net Income					
One-year forward	22.1x	11.3x	17.8x	20.1x	18.6x
Two-year forward	19.2	19.2	19.2	19.2	16.1

# **Illustrative Future Stock Price Analysis**

UBS calculated the estimated present value at June 3, 2003 of the implied per share value of Cobalt common stock in fiscal year 2006, using discount rates ranging from 12% to 15%. UBS applied potential forward price-to-earnings multiples for Cobalt ranging from 11.5x to 16.3x to the estimated earnings per share, or EPS, of Cobalt based on three sets of estimates. The first set of EPS estimates was based on First Call consensus EPS estimates for Cobalt and indicated an estimated present value range at June 3, 2003 of the implied per share value of Cobalt common stock at the end of fiscal year 2006 of approximately \$15.28 to \$23.87. The next two sets of EPS estimates were based on internal estimates of Cobalt management and indicated an estimated present value range at June 3, 2003 of the implied per share value of fiscal year 2006 of approximately \$15.99 to \$24.98, respectively. These ranges compared to the implied per share value of the merger consideration of \$20.50 based on the cash consideration and, in the case of the stock component of the merger consideration, the closing price of WellPoint common stock on June 3, 2003. This analysis was based on certain assumptions that may or may not prove to be correct.

#### **Accretion/Dilution Analysis**

UBS analyzed the potential pro forma financial effect of the merger on WellPoint's estimated EPS for calendar years 2003 and 2004, assuming a range of potential pre-tax cost savings and other synergies of \$0.0 to \$30.0 million. Estimated data for Cobalt and WellPoint were based on First Call consensus EPS estimates and excluded one-time charges relating to the merger. Based on the merger consideration, this analysis indicated that the merger could be neutral to WellPoint's estimated EPS in calendar year 2003 and accretive to WellPoint's estimated EPS in calendar year 2004 assuming no pre-tax cost savings or other synergies are realized, and accretive to WellPoint's estimated EPS in calendar years 2003 and 2004 assuming pre-tax cost savings and other synergies of \$10.0 million to \$30.0 million are realized. The actual results achieved by the combined company may vary from projected results and the variations may be material.

#### **Other Factors**

In rendering its opinion, UBS also reviewed and considered other factors, including:

- the historical price performance and trading volumes for Cobalt common stock and WellPoint common stock;
- the requirements of Cobalt and the Foundation with respect to the Foundation's obligation to divest its holdings of Cobalt common stock to certain levels over specified periods;
- the five-year EPS growth rates, and calendar year 2003 price to earnings as a percentage of five-year EPS growth rates, of selected public companies in the managed care industry and the premiums paid in selected transactions in the managed care industry over various periods prior to public announcement of such transactions; and
- selected published equity research analysts' reports for WellPoint.

#### Miscellaneous

Under the terms of its engagement, Cobalt has agreed to pay UBS customary fees for its financial advisory services in connection with the merger. In addition, Cobalt has agreed to reimburse UBS for its reasonable expenses, including fees and disbursements of counsel, and to indemnify UBS and related parties against liabilities, including liabilities under federal securities laws, relating to, or arising out of, its engagement.

Cobalt selected UBS as its financial advisor in connection with the merger because UBS is an internationally recognized investment banking firm with substantial experience in similar transactions and is familiar with Cobalt and its business. UBS is continually engaged in the valuation of businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, leveraged buyouts, negotiated underwritings, competitive bids, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities and private placements.

UBS in the past has acted as a joint book-running manager for a secondary offering by the Foundation of Cobalt common stock in February 2003, for which services UBS received compensation. UBS and its predecessors and affiliates also have acted as managing underwriters for public offerings of WellPoint securities, including a public offering in June 2001 of WellPoint's 63/8% Notes due 2006, for which services UBS and its predecessors and affiliates have received compensation in the past. In addition, an affiliate of UBS currently is a lender under WellPoint's bank credit facilities. In the ordinary course of business, UBS, its successors and affiliates may actively trade the securities of Cobalt and WellPoint for their own accounts and the accounts of their customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in those securities.

# Closing; Effective Time of the Merger

The closing will take place on the second business day after the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to be fulfilled at or prior to the effective time set forth in the merger agreement, unless another date is agreed to by WellPoint and Cobalt. On the closing date, WellPoint and Cobalt will file a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of Delaware and Articles of Merger with the Department of Financial Institutions of the State of Wisconsin. The effective time will occur at the time of filing of the Certificate of Merger or at such subsequent date or time as WellPoint and Cobalt will agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger. It is anticipated that, assuming all conditions are met, the merger will occur prior to end of 2003. See "The Merger Agreement—Conditions to the Merger."

### Manner and Basis of Converting Shares; Procedure; No Fractional Shares; Effect on Certificates

Within five business days after the effective time of the merger, transmittal forms and exchange instructions will be mailed to each holder of Cobalt common stock to be used to surrender and exchange certificates formerly evidencing shares of Cobalt common stock for certificates representing shares of WellPoint common stock and cash to which such holder has become entitled. After receipt of such transmittal forms, each holder of certificates formerly representing Cobalt common stock will be able to surrender such certificates to the exchange agent, and each such holder will receive in exchange therefor cash to which such holder is entitled, certificates evidencing the number of whole shares of WellPoint common stock to which such holder is entitled, any cash which may be payable in lieu of a fractional share of WellPoint common stock and any dividends or other distributions with respect to WellPoint common stock with a record date after the effective time of the merger. **Cobalt shareholders should not send in their certificates until they receive a transmittal form**.

After the effective time of the merger, each certificate formerly representing Cobalt common stock until so surrendered and exchanged shall evidence only the right to receive the cash and the number of whole shares of WellPoint common stock that the holder is entitled to receive in the merger, any cash payment in lieu of a fractional share of WellPoint common stock and any dividend or other distribution with respect to WellPoint common stock with a record date after the effective time of the merger. The holder of such unexchanged certificate will not be entitled to receive any dividends or distributions payable by WellPoint until the certificate has been exchanged. Subject to applicable laws, following surrender of such certificates, such dividends and distributions, together with any cash payment in lieu of a fractional share of WellPoint common stock, will be paid without interest.

Each holder of shares of common stock exchanged pursuant to the merger who would otherwise have been entitled to receive a fraction of a share of WellPoint common stock shall receive, in lieu thereof, cash (without interest) in an amount equal to the product of (i) such fractional part of a share of WellPoint common stock multiplied by (ii) the closing price for a share of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of the effective time of the merger.

#### **Effects on Employee Benefit Plans**

*Continuation and Comparability of Benefits.* Except to the extent Cobalt and WellPoint mutually agree, from the effective time of the merger until December 31, 2004, the surviving corporation will provide compensation and employee benefits to the current employees of Cobalt and its subsidiaries that are in the aggregate no less favorable than those provided to WellPoint's employees generally.

Pre-Existing Limitations; Service Credit. WellPoint will waive all pre-existing conditions, exclusions and waiting periods with respect to any health and welfare plans in which Cobalt employees may be eligible to participate after the effective time of the merger and give credit for any deductibles, coinsurance or maximum out-of-pocket payments made by Cobalt employees during the calendar year in which the effective time of the merger occurs, in each case under any new Cobalt plans. WellPoint will also recognize service of the Cobalt employees accrued prior to the effective time of the merger for purposes of eligibility to participate and vesting credit in any new Cobalt plan, so long as such credit does not result in the duplication of benefits for the same period of service. Service with Cobalt will also be recognized under any new Cobalt defined benefit pension plan with a benefit formula based upon final average compensation, with an offset for any benefit payable for the same period of service with Cobalt under any defined benefit plan of Cobalt. WellPoint will credit each of the Cobalt employees with accrued sick leave and vacation as of the effective time of the merger. WellPoint will either (i) maintain Cobalt's Section 125 plans for the remainder of the calendar year in which the effective time of the merger occurs or (ii) terminate the Cobalt Section 125 Plans after the effective time of the merger and adopt new Cobalt Section 125 Plans for Cobalt employees and transfer the account balances of the Cobalt employees under the Cobalt Section 125 Plans to the new Cobalt Section 125 Plans as soon as practicable after such new Cobalt Section 125 Plans are established.

#### Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger

In considering the recommendation of the Cobalt board of directors, you should be aware that the members of Cobalt management and its board of directors may have interests that are different from or in addition to the interests of the Cobalt shareholders generally.

# **Equity Incentive Plan**

Cobalt has an equity incentive plan that permits the grant of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance units and performance shares. All of Cobalt's senior executives, as well as some of its other employees, are participants under the plan. Upon the occurrence of a change of control of Cobalt (as defined in the plan), unless prohibited by applicable law or otherwise determined in accordance with a written agreement between Cobalt and the participating employee, (i) all options and stock appreciation rights granted under the plan will become immediately exercisable, (ii) any restrictions imposed on restricted shares will lapse and such shares will be fully vested and freely transferable, and (iii) the target value attainable under all performance units and performance shares (other than performance units and performance shares granted less than six months prior to the effective date of the change of control of Cobalt) will be deemed to have been fully earned for the period during which performance goals must be met and will be paid out within 30 days of the effective date of the change of control of Cobalt. Approval of the merger by Cobalt's shareholders will constitute a change of control of Cobalt under the equity incentive plan.

# 2003 Incentive Plan

The 2003 incentive plan was approved by Cobalt's shareholders at Cobalt's 2003 annual meeting. The 2003 incentive plan permits the grant of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance units and performance shares. Cobalt's senior executives and directors, as well as some of its other employees, may be participants under the plan, but no grants have been made yet under the plan. Upon the occurrence of a change of control of Cobalt (as defined in the plan), unless prohibited by applicable law or otherwise determined in accordance with a written agreement between Cobalt and the participating employee, (i) all options and stock appreciation rights granted under the plan will become immediately exercisable and, if the participant's employment or directorship is terminated without cause (as defined in the plan), the participant will have until the earlier of (a) 12 months after his or her termination or (b) the expiration of the terms of the options or stock appreciation rights to exercise the options or stock appreciation rights, (ii) any restrictions requiring the participant to hold the restricted shares or restricted stock units that are not subject to performance goals for a particular period of time will lapse, and (iii) the target payout opportunities attainable under all outstanding awards of performance-based restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units, performance units, performance shares and performancebased cash-based awards will be deemed to have been fully earned as of the effective date of the change of control of Cobalt and a pro-rated number of shares of Cobalt common stock to be issued and a pro-rated amount of cash to be paid under such awards will be issued or paid to participants within 30 days after the effective date of the change of control of Cobalt assuming that the participants have achieved 100% of all relevant targeted performance goals. The merger will constitute a change of control of Cobalt under the 2003 incentive plan.

# **Stock Options**

Upon completion of the merger, WellPoint will assume all options to purchase Cobalt common stock outstanding under Cobalt's existing stock options. Each option that is unvested at the effective time of the merger will become vested and exercisable at the effective time of the merger, and all options will become exercisable for shares of WellPoint common stock rather than shares of Cobalt common stock, in a number and at an exercise price adjusted to reflect the exchange ratio in the merger.

#### **Chief Executive Officer Severance Agreement**

Cobalt has an executive severance agreement with its chairman and chief executive officer, Stephen E. Bablitch. The agreement provides for Mr. Bablitch to receive severance benefits if, during the six months immediately prior to a change of control of Cobalt (as defined in the severance agreement) or within 24 calendar months following a change of control of Cobalt, (i) his employment is terminated without cause (as defined in the severance agreement) or (ii) he terminates his employment for good reason (as defined in the severance agreement). The merger will constitute a change of control of Cobalt under Mr. Bablitch's severance agreement.

If Mr. Bablitch becomes entitled to severance benefits under the severance agreement, his severance benefits would include the following amounts, which must be paid in cash or cash equivalents in a single lump sum within ten days after the later of (a) his termination date and (b) the date of the change of control of Cobalt:

• an amount equal to three times the highest rate of Mr. Bablitch's annual base salary in effect at any time (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred),

- an amount equal to three times Mr. Bablitch's target awards under Cobalt's annual bonus plan and profit sharing plan for the plan year in which his termination occurs (or the prior plan year if a target award has not been established for the plan year in which his termination occurs), and
- an amount equal to the pro-rated portion of Mr. Bablitch's unpaid targeted annual bonus and unpaid allocation from the profit sharing plan for the plan year in which his termination occurs.

Cobalt estimates that the amount of this single lump sum payment based on Mr. Bablitch's current base salary, target awards and targeted annual bonus would be \$3,631,000 if paid on December 31, 2003.

Under the severance agreement, Mr. Bablitch's severance benefits would also include:

- continuation of health care, life and accidental death and dismemberment and disability insurance coverage for three years after his termination,
- eligibility for benefits under Cobalt's retiree medical plan when he attains age 55,
- reimbursement for the costs of all outplacement services, up to 15% of his annual base salary at termination (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred), incurred by Mr. Bablitch within two years after his termination,
- immediate vesting of all equity options granted to Mr. Bablitch under Cobalt's equity incentive plan and 2003 incentive plan that are outstanding at his termination, which equity options will remain exercisable through the end of the respective option agreements covering such options,
- full and immediate vesting of all accrued benefits, and credit for not less than 15 years of service for subsidized early retirement benefits, under any supplemental executive retirement plan,
- reimbursement of all reasonable moving and legal expenses, and any loss (as determined in accordance with the severance agreement) on the sale of his principal residence in the Milwaukee, Wisconsin metropolitan area, incurred by Mr. Bablitch, if he relocates his principal residence to Dane County, Wisconsin within six months after his termination, and
- an additional "gross-up" amount necessary to compensate Mr. Bablitch for any excise taxes imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code and any additional taxes imposed as a result of Mr. Bablitch receiving the gross-up amount, which gross-up amount must be paid by Cobalt within 30 days after his termination.

#### President and Chief Operating Officer Severance Agreement

Cobalt has an executive severance agreement with its president and chief operating officer, Michael E. Bernstein. The agreement provides for Mr. Bernstein to receive severance benefits if, during the six months immediately prior to a change of control of Cobalt (as defined in the severance agreement) or within 24 calendar months following a change of control of Cobalt, (i) his employment is terminated without cause (as defined in the severance agreement), or (ii) he terminates his employment for good reason (as defined in the severance agreement). The merger will constitute a change of control of Cobalt under Mr. Bernstein's severance agreement.

If Mr. Bernstein becomes entitled to severance benefits under the severance agreement, his severance benefits would include the following amounts, which must be paid in cash or cash equivalents in a single lump sum within ten days after the later of (a) his termination date and (b) the date of the change of control of Cobalt:

• an amount equal to three times the highest rate of Mr. Bernstein's annual base salary in effect at any time (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred),

- an amount equal to three times Mr. Bernstein's target awards under Cobalt's annual bonus plan and profit sharing plan for the plan year in which his termination occurs (or the prior plan year if a target award has not been established for the plan year in which his termination occurs), and
- an amount equal to the pro-rated portion of Mr. Bernstein's unpaid targeted annual bonus and unpaid allocation from the profit sharing plan for the plan year in which his termination occurs.

Cobalt estimates that the amount of this single lump sum payment based on Mr. Bernstein's current base salary, target awards and targeted annual bonus would be \$3,301,000 if paid on December 31, 2003.

Under the severance agreement, Mr. Bernstein's severance benefits would also include:

- continuation of health care, life and accidental death and dismemberment and disability insurance coverage for three years after his termination,
- eligibility for benefits under Cobalt's retiree medical plan when he attains age 55,
- reimbursement for the costs of all outplacement services, up to 15% of his annual base salary at termination (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred), incurred by Mr. Bernstein within two years after his termination,
- immediate vesting of all equity options granted to Mr. Bernstein under Cobalt's equity incentive plan and 2003 incentive plan that are outstanding at his termination, which equity options will remain exercisable through the end of the respective option agreements covering such options,
- full and immediate vesting of all accrued benefits, and credit for not less than 15 years of service for subsidized early retirement benefits, under any supplemental executive retirement plan, and
- an additional "gross-up" amount necessary to compensate Mr. Bernstein for any excise taxes imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code and any additional taxes imposed as a result of Mr. Bernstein receiving the gross-up amount, which gross-up amount must be paid by Cobalt within 30 days after his termination.

#### **Executive Severance Agreements**

Cobalt has also entered into executive severance agreements with certain of its other senior executives, including Gail L. Hanson (Senior Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer), Timothy F. Cullen (Senior Vice President, Corporate & Public Affairs), Lorna J. Granger (Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary) and Penny J. Siewert (Senior Vice President of Individual and Specialty Risk). Cobalt has 13 executive severance agreements in total with current executives. The agreements provide for the executives to receive severance benefits if, during the six months immediately prior to a change of control of Cobalt or within 24 calendar months following a change of control of Cobalt, (i) the executive's employment is terminated without cause (as defined in the severance agreements). The merger will constitute a change of control of Cobalt under the executive severance agreements.

If Ms. Hanson, Mr. Cullen, Ms. Granger or Ms. Siewert become entitled to severance benefits under their respective severance agreements, severance benefits for each of them would include the following amounts, which must be paid in cash or cash equivalents in a single lump sum within ten days after the later of (a) his or her termination date and (b) the date of the change of control of Cobalt:

• an amount equal to two times the highest rate of his or her annual base salary in effect at any time (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred),

- an amount equal to two times his or her target awards under Cobalt's annual bonus plan and profit sharing plan for the plan year in which his or her termination occurs (or the prior plan year if a target award has not been established for the plan year in which his or her termination occurs), and
- an amount equal to the pro-rated portion of his or her unpaid targeted annual bonus and unpaid allocation from the profit sharing plan for the plan year in which his or her termination occurs.

Cobalt estimates that the amounts of the single lump sum payments to Ms. Hanson, Mr. Cullen, Ms. Granger and Ms. Siewert based on their respective current base salaries, target awards and targeted annual bonuses would be \$3,409,000 in the aggregate, if paid on December 31, 2003.

Severance benefits for each of Ms. Hanson, Mr. Cullen, Ms. Granger and Ms. Siewert would also include:

- continuation of health care, life and accidental death and dismemberment and disability insurance coverage for two years after his or her termination,
- eligibility for benefits under Cobalt's retiree medical plan beginning when he or she attains age 55,
- reimbursement for the costs of all outplacement services, up to 15% of his or her annual base salary at termination (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred), incurred by him or her within two years after his or her termination,
- his or her minimum vesting service requirement under Cobalt's Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan will be deemed to be satisfied as of the date of his or her termination and he or she will receive credit for an additional two years of benefit service, and
- an additional "gross-up" amount necessary to compensate him or her for any excise taxes imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code and any additional taxes imposed as a result of him or her receiving the gross-up amount, which gross-up amount must be paid by Cobalt within 30 days after his or her termination, provided that the gross-up amount must be paid if and only if, after receipt of the gross-up amount, he or she would receive total additional after-tax change in control payments of at least \$100,000.

If he or she would receive less than \$100,000 in total additional after-tax change in control payments after the gross-up amount is paid, the gross-up is not required to be paid and his or her severance benefits would be capped at the maximum amount that could be paid without incurring the excise tax.

If any of the seven remaining executives become entitled to severance benefits under their respective severance agreements, severance benefits for each of them would include the following amounts, which must be paid in cash or cash equivalents in a single lump sum within ten days after the later of (a) the executive's termination date and (b) the date of the change of control of Cobalt:

- an amount equal to one and a half times the highest rate of the executive's annual base salary in effect at any time (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred),
- an amount equal to one and a half times the executive's target awards under Cobalt's annual bonus plan and profit sharing plan for the plan year in which the executive's termination occurs (or the prior plan year if a target award has not been established for the plan year in which the executive's termination occurs), and

• an amount equal to the pro-rated portion of the executive's unpaid targeted annual bonus and unpaid allocation from the profit sharing plan for the plan year in which the executive's termination occurs.

Cobalt estimates that the amounts of the single lump sum payments to these seven executives based on their respective current base salaries, target awards and targeted annual bonuses would be \$3,535,000 in the aggregate, if paid on December 31, 2003.

Severance benefits for each of the remaining seven executives would also include:

- continuation of health care, life and accidental death and dismemberment and disability insurance coverage for 18 months after the executive's termination,
- eligibility for benefits under Cobalt's retiree medical plan calculated under the assumption that the executive's employment continued for 18 months following his or her termination,
- reimbursement for the costs of all outplacement services, up to 15% of the executive's annual base salary at termination (excluding amounts received under incentive or other bonus plans, whether or not deferred), incurred by the executive within two years after his or her termination,
- the executive's minimum vesting service requirement under Cobalt's Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan will be deemed to be satisfied as of the date of his or her termination and the executive will receive credit for an additional 18 months of benefit service, and
- if excise taxes under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code are imposed on any severance amounts to be paid to the executive due to the inability to include compensation paid to the executive by Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin for purposes of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code, except in certain circumstances, an additional "gross-up" amount necessary to compensate the executive for such excise taxes and any additional taxes imposed as a result receiving the gross-up amount, which gross-up amount must be paid by Cobalt within 30 days after his or her termination.

If the severance amounts together with other compensation payable to any of these seven executives would constitute an excess parachute payment under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code, the amount payable under the agreement will be limited to the extent necessary to avoid creation of an excess parachute payment, unless the excess parachute payment results from the inability to include compensation paid by Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin for purposes of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code.

#### **Indemnification and Liability Insurance**

After the effective time of the merger, the merger agreement requires the surviving company to indemnify Cobalt's and its subsidiaries' past and present directors, officers and employees for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the effective time of the merger to the same extent they are indemnified under Cobalt's amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws and indemnification agreements.

At the effective time of the merger, the surviving company will also purchase a tail policy to Cobalt's current directors' and officers' insurance, which tail policy will be in effect for six years after the effective time of the merger with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred on or before the effective time of the merger. However, the surviving company will not be required to spend more than 900% of the annual premium currently paid by Cobalt for its current directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance. If the premium for the tail policy exceeds that amount, the surviving company will only be obligated to obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available at a cost not to exceed that amount.

The merger agreement also provides that for a period of six years following the effective time of the merger, the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving company must contain provisions concerning indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation from liability at least as favorable as those set forth in Cobalt's amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws.

#### **Restrictions on Sales of WellPoint Common Stock**

The shares of WellPoint common stock to be issued to Cobalt shareholders in the merger will be registered under the Securities Act. These shares may be traded freely and without restriction by those shareholders not deemed to be "affiliates" of Cobalt as that term is defined under the Securities Act. An affiliate of Cobalt, as defined by the rules promulgated under the Securities Act, is a person who directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, Cobalt, and will usually include directors, executive officers and holders of 10% or more of Cobalt common stock. Any subsequent transfer by an affiliate of Cobalt must be one permitted by the resale provisions of Rule 145 promulgated under the Securities Act or as otherwise permitted under the Securities Act.

# **Governmental and Regulatory Approvals**

It is a condition to the parties' respective obligations to consummate the merger that any waiting period applicable to the merger under the HSR Act will have expired or earlier termination thereof will have been granted, the approval of the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance, together with any other material governmental regulatory consents and approvals, will have been obtained, and the approval of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement will have been obtained. See "The Merger Agreement—Conditions to the Merger."

U.S. Antitrust Filing. Under the HSR Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, certain transactions, including the merger, may not be consummated unless certain waiting period requirements have expired or been terminated. On , 2003 each of WellPoint and Cobalt filed a Pre-Merger Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with the Justice Department and the FTC. Under the HSR Act, the merger may not be consummated until 30 days after the initial filing (unless early termination of this waiting period is granted) or, if the Justice Department or the FTC issues a Request for Documents and Other Additional Information, 20 days after WellPoint and Cobalt have substantially complied with such request for additional information (unless this period is shortened pursuant to a grant of early termination). On , 2003. WellPoint and Cobalt received notice of early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act. At any time before the effective time of the merger, the FTC, the Justice Department or others could take action under the antitrust laws with respect to the merger, including seeking to enjoin the consummation of the merger, to rescind the merger, or to require the divestiture of certain assets of WellPoint or Cobalt. There can be no assurance that a challenge to the merger on antitrust grounds will not be made or, if such a challenge is made, that it would not be successful.

*Wisconsin Insurance Regulations.* Pursuant to the Wisconsin insurance laws, and in order to consummate the merger, the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance must approve the change of control of Cobalt. To accomplish this, WellPoint must file a Form A, "Statement Regarding the Acquisition of Control of or Merger with a Domestic Insurer," with the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance. After a review of the information submitted on the Form A, the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance will schedule a hearing, issue findings of fact and conclusions of law and, if the requisite approval is to be granted, issue an order to that effect. The Wisconsin insurance laws provide that the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance shall approve the plan of merger if the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance finds that (i) it would not violate the law or be contrary to the interests of the insureds of the insurance subsidiaries of Cobalt;

(ii) following the transaction, the insurance subsidiaries of Cobalt would be able to satisfy the requirements for the issuance of insurance licenses; (iii) the effect of the merger would not create a monopoly or substantially lessen competition in insurance in Wisconsin; (iv) the financial condition of WellPoint is not likely to jeopardize the financial condition of Cobalt or its subsidiaries or prejudice the interest of policyholders of Cobalt's insurance subsidiaries; (v) plans of WellPoint regarding the business, assets, structure or management of Cobalt are fair and reasonable to policyholders of the insurance subsidiaries of Cobalt or are in the public interest; and (vi) permitting the merger would be in the interest of policyholders of the insurance subsidiaries of Cobalt and of the public because of the competence and integrity of the persons who would control the operations of Cobalt after the merger. WellPoint and Cobalt filed the Form A on June 20, 2003. A public hearing has been scheduled for , 2003.

*Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association Approval.* Pursuant to the bylaws of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association, a change of control of any Blue Cross or Blue Shield licensee, such as the change of control of Cobalt, which will be effected by the merger, requires the approval of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association. The process for obtaining approval is initiated by the entity seeking a license. Thereafter, the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association considers the application and action is taken by its board of directors within 90 days of the filing of the application. WellPoint and Cobalt have submitted a joint application requesting the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association's approval. At the present time, WellPoint and Cobalt anticipate that the approval will be obtained.

Upon completion of the merger, the Foundation may beneficially own greater than 5% of WellPoint's outstanding voting securities. In such event, as part of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association approval process, WellPoint may request an amendment to WellPoint's license agreement with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association in order to allow the Foundation to own shares of WellPoint common stock in excess of the ownership limit set forth in WellPoint's certificate of incorporation. As part of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association approval process, if the number of shares of WellPoint common stock that the Foundation acquires in the merger is greater than 5% of WellPoint's outstanding voting securities, WellPoint may enter into a voting trust agreement with the Foundation with respect to the shares of WellPoint common stock that the Foundation stock that the Foundation may acquire in the merger that would be in excess of applicable ownership limitations included in WellPoint's certificate of incorporation. See "Comparison of Rights of Cobalt Shareholders and WellPoint Stockholders—Certain Restrictions on Ownership of Securities."

#### Merger Expenses, Fees and Costs

The merger agreement provides that Cobalt and WellPoint each must bear their own expenses in connection with the merger, which include all out-of-pocket expenses including, without limitation, all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants to Cobalt, WellPoint and their respective affiliates. WellPoint and Cobalt agreed, however, that each shall bear and pay one-half of the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the filing, printing and mailing of WellPoint's registration statement on Form S-4 and this proxy statement/prospectus.

### **Accounting Treatment**

It is expected that the merger will be treated as a purchase for accounting and financial reporting purposes.

#### No Dissenters' Rights

Under Wisconsin law, Cobalt's shareholders will not have dissenters' appraisal rights in connection with the merger.

# Form of the Merger

Subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement and in accordance with Delaware law, at the effective time of the merger Cobalt will be merged with and into Merger Sub, a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint formed for purposes of the merger and a party to the merger agreement. Merger Sub will survive the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint and will continue its corporate existence under Delaware law under the name "Cobalt Corporation." However, if all of the conditions to the merger have been satisfied or waived other than the condition relating to the receipt of legal opinions that the merger will qualify as a reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes, then WellPoint will have the right to irrevocably elect that, at the effective time of the merger, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Cobalt. If WellPoint makes this election, Cobalt will survive the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint and will continue its corporate existence under Wisconsin law under the name "Cobalt Corporation." If WellPoint makes this election, the merger will be a fully taxable transaction to you. See "—Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger." Your vote for the approval of the merger and the merger agreement constitutes approval of the merger, whether it is completed as a "forward" merger or a "reverse" merger.

#### Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger

The following discussion sets forth the material United States federal income tax consequences of the merger to U.S. holders (as defined below) of Cobalt common stock. This discussion does not address any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction. This discussion is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), the regulations of the U.S. Treasury Department and court and administrative rulings and decisions in effect on the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, any of which may change, possibly retroactively. A change could affect the continuing validity of this discussion.

For purposes of this discussion, the term "U.S. holder" is used to mean:

- an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;
- a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized under the laws of the United States or any of its political subdivisions;
- a trust, if a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust; or
- an estate that is subject to United States federal income tax on its income regardless of its source.

This discussion assumes that you hold your shares of Cobalt common stock as a capital asset within the meaning of the Code. Further, this discussion does not address all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be relevant to you in light of your particular circumstances or that may be applicable to you if you are subject to special treatment under the United States federal income tax laws, including if you are:

- a financial institution;
- a tax-exempt organization;
- an S corporation or other pass-through entity;
- an insurance company;
- a mutual fund;

- a dealer in stocks and securities or foreign currencies;
- a trader in securities who elects the mark-to-market method of accounting for your securities;
- a Cobalt shareholder subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code;
- a Cobalt shareholder who received Cobalt common stock through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation or through a tax-qualified retirement plan;
- a foreign holder or a person that has a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar;
- a holder of options granted under any Cobalt benefit plan; or
- a Cobalt shareholder who holds Cobalt common stock as part of a hedge against currency risk, straddle or a constructive sale or conversion transaction.

The United States federal income tax consequences resulting from the merger will differ depending on whether WellPoint makes the reverse merger election described under "—Form of the Merger" above, which you may not know until the closing of the merger. Your vote for the approval of the merger and the merger agreement constitutes approval of the merger, whether it is completed as a forward merger or a fully taxable reverse merger. Assuming WellPoint does not make the reverse merger election, completion of the merger is conditioned on, among other things, the receipt by each of WellPoint and Cobalt of tax opinions from Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP and Foley & Lardner, respectively, that (i) the merger will be treated for United States federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of section 368(a) of the Code and (ii) Cobalt, WellPoint and Merger Sub will each be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code. These opinions will be based on representation letters provided by WellPoint and Cobalt to be delivered at the time of closing and on customary factual assumptions, and will assume that the merger will be completed according to the terms of the merger agreement. Although the merger agreement allows either WellPoint or Cobalt to waive this condition to closing, neither currently anticipates doing so.

WellPoint and Cobalt have not and will not seek any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service regarding any matters relating to the merger, and as a result, there can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not disagree with or challenge any of the conclusions described herein.

Based on the above assumptions and qualifications, in the opinion of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, counsel to WellPoint, and Foley & Lardner, counsel to Cobalt, the material United States federal income tax consequences of the merger are as follows:

- the merger will be treated as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code;
- you will recognize gain (but not loss) equal to the difference between:
  - the sum of the cash (excluding any cash received instead of fractional share of WellPoint common stock) and the fair market value of the WellPoint common stock received (including any fractional shares of WellPoint common stock deemed received and exchanged for cash), and
  - your adjusted tax basis in your Cobalt common stock,

but not in excess of the cash you receive in the merger;

• your aggregate tax basis in the WellPoint common stock that you receive in the merger (including any fractional share interest you are deemed to receive and exchange for cash) will equal your aggregate tax basis in the Cobalt common stock you surrendered, increased by the amount of taxable gain, if any, you recognize on the exchange and decreased by the amount of any cash received by you in the merger (excluding any cash received in lieu of a fractional share of WellPoint common stock); and

• your holding period for the WellPoint common stock that you receive in the merger will include your holding period for the shares of Cobalt common stock that you surrender in the exchange.

If you acquired different blocks of Cobalt common stock at different times and at different prices, any gain or loss will be determined separately with respect to each block of Cobalt common stock, and the cash and WellPoint common stock you receive will be allocated pro rata to each such block of stock. In addition, your basis and holding period in your WellPoint common stock may be determined with reference to each block of Cobalt common stock.

*Cash in Lieu of Fractional Shares.* You will generally recognize capital gain or loss on any cash received in lieu of a fractional share of WellPoint common stock equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and the basis allocated to such fractional share.

*Taxation of Capital Gain.* Gain or loss that you recognize in connection with the merger will generally constitute capital gain or loss and will constitute long-term capital gain or loss if your holding period in your Cobalt common stock is greater than one year as of the date of the merger. If you are a non-corporate holder of Cobalt common stock, long-term capital gain generally will be taxed at a maximum United States federal income tax rate of 15%. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitation.

*Recharacterization of Gain as a Dividend.* All or part of the gain you recognize could be treated as ordinary dividend income rather than capital gain if (i) you are a significant stockholder of WellPoint or (ii) if taking into account constructive ownership rules, your percentage ownership in WellPoint after the merger is not less than what your percentage ownership would have been if you had received WellPoint common stock rather than cash in the merger. Under the constructive ownership rules, a stockholder may be deemed to own stock that is owned by other persons, such as a family member, trust, corporation or other entities. Under recently enacted legislation, if you are an individual, certain dividends may be subject to reduced rates of taxation. However, individuals who do not meet a minimum holding period requirement during which they are not protected from a risk of loss or who elect to treat the dividend income as "investment income" pursuant to section 163(d)(4) of the Code will not be eligible for the reduced rates of taxation. You should consult your tax advisor regarding the application of the foregoing rules to your particular circumstances.

*Reverse Merger Election.* If WellPoint makes the reverse merger election, the merger will not constitute a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, in which case the exchange of Cobalt common stock for a combination of WellPoint common stock and cash in the merger will be a fully taxable transaction to you for United States federal income tax purposes. In that case, the material United States federal income tax consequences of the merger are as follows:

- you will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the sum of the cash and the fair market value of the WellPoint common stock received and your adjusted tax basis in your Cobalt common stock;
- your tax basis in the shares of WellPoint common stock (including any fractional interest) received in the merger will equal the fair market value of those shares of WellPoint common stock on the closing date of the merger; and
- the holding period for the WellPoint common stock received in the merger will begin on the day after the closing date of the merger.

*Backup Withholding.* If you are a non-corporate holder of Cobalt common stock, you may be subject to backup withholding on any cash payments you receive. You will not be subject to backup withholding, however, if you:

- furnish a correct taxpayer identification number and certify that you are not subject to backup withholding on the substitute Form W-9 or successor form included in the form of election or letter of transmittal you will receive; or
- are otherwise exempt from backup withholding.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or credit against your United States federal income tax liability, provided you furnish the required information to the Internal Revenue Service.

*Reporting Requirements.* If you receive WellPoint common stock as a result of the merger, you will be required to retain records pertaining to the merger and you will be required to file with your United States federal income tax return for the year in which the merger takes place a statement setting forth certain facts relating to the merger. Such facts will include, but not be limited to, the cost or other basis in the shares of Cobalt common stock exchanged in the merger and the WellPoint common stock and other consideration received in the merger.

This discussion does not address tax consequences that may vary with, or are contingent upon, individual circumstances. Moreover, it does not address any non-income tax or any foreign, state or local tax consequences of the merger. Tax matters are very complicated, and the tax consequences of the merger to you will depend upon the facts of your particular situation. Accordingly, you are strongly urged to consult with a tax advisor to determine the particular federal, state, local or foreign income or other tax consequences to you of the merger.

#### **Delisting and Deregistration of Cobalt Common Stock**

If the merger is completed, Cobalt common stock will be delisted from the New York Stock Exchange and will no longer be registered under the Exchange Act.

#### THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The merger agreement contemplates the merger of Cobalt into a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint, with the wholly owned subsidiary continuing as the surviving corporation. If WellPoint elects to cause a reverse merger to occur, a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint would merge into Cobalt with Cobalt continuing as the surviving corporation. This section of the proxy statement/prospectus describes certain material provisions of the merger agreement. Because the description of the merger agreement contained in this proxy statement/prospectus is a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. You should carefully read the entire copy of the merger agreement attached as Appendix A to this proxy statement/prospectus before you decide how to vote.

#### **Merger Consideration**

The merger agreement provides that each share of Cobalt common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the merger (other than treasury stock of Cobalt, shares of Cobalt common stock held by Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin and shares of Cobalt common stock owned by WellPoint) shall be converted at the effective time of the merger into the right to receive

- (i) \$10.25 in cash; and
- (ii) 0.1233 of a share of WellPoint common stock,

subject to adjustment as described in the next sentence. If the average closing price of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 15 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately after the day on which all of the closing conditions have been satisfied or waived (other than the condition that the price of WellPoint common stock be at least \$62.50 and those conditions that can only be satisfied on the closing date) is less than \$70.97 (the date on which this determination is made is referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the determination date), then each share of Cobalt common stock will be converted into the right to receive (i) \$10.25 and (ii) a fraction of a share of WellPoint common stock, the numerator of which is equal to \$8.75 and the denominator of which is equal to the average closing share price of WellPoint common stock over such 15 day period ending on and including the determination date.

#### **Closing and Effective Time of the Merger**

*Closing.* Unless the parties agree otherwise, the closing of the merger will take place on the second business day after the date on which all closing conditions have been satisfied or waived or such other time as agreed to in writing by WellPoint and Cobalt. The closing is expected to take place shortly after the approval of the merger and the merger agreement by Cobalt's shareholders.

*Effective Time.* The merger will be effective upon the filing of a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and the filing of Articles of Merger with the Department of Financial Institutions of the State of Wisconsin. The filing of the Certificate of Merger shall be made simultaneously with the closing of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. See "The Merger Agreement—Conditions to the Merger."

#### **Conversion of Cobalt Stock Options**

Cobalt and WellPoint shall take all actions reasonably necessary so that, immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, automatically and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, each outstanding Cobalt stock option shall become vested and exercisable as of the effective time and shall be converted into an option to acquire that number of shares of WellPoint common stock obtained by multiplying the number of shares of Cobalt common stock issuable upon the exercise of such option by 0.2466 rounded down, if necessary, to the nearest whole share of WellPoint common stock at an exercise price per share equal to the per share exercise price of such option divided by

0.2466 rounded up, if necessary, to the nearest whole cent, and otherwise upon the same terms and conditions as the outstanding Cobalt stock options.

WellPoint will take all corporate actions necessary to reserve for issuance a sufficient number of shares of WellPoint common stock for delivery upon exercise of the converted Cobalt stock options. WellPoint shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the registration of the shares subject to such converted Cobalt stock options to become effective as part of WellPoint's registration statement on Form S-4 (of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part) or a registration statement on Form S-8, on the same date as the registration statement on Form S-4 is declared effective. WellPoint shall use its reasonable efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement or registration statements for so long as such converted Cobalt stock options remain outstanding.

#### **Medicare Part A Claims Processing**

On or before the effective time of the merger, WellPoint and Cobalt will cooperate in announcing WellPoint's intention that its national headquarters for Medicare Part A Claims processing will be located in Milwaukee, Wisconsin and WellPoint will effectuate its intention as promptly as practicable after the effective time of the merger.

#### **Conditions to the Merger**

*Conditions to Each Party's Obligations to Consummate the Merger.* The respective obligations of Cobalt and WellPoint to effect the merger are subject to fulfillment, on or prior to the closing date of the merger, of the following conditions, unless waived by the parties:

- *No Injunctions or Restraints.* No statute, rule, regulation, governmental order, judgment, injunction or decree shall be in effect, and no governmental proceeding or action shall have been instituted before any governmental body that would make the merger illegal or otherwise would prohibit the consummation of the merger.
- *HSR Act*. The waiting period applicable to consummation of the merger under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.
- *Stock Exchange Listing.* The shares of WellPoint common stock issuable in the merger and those to be reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock options shall have been authorized for listing on the New York Stock Exchange.
- *Effective Registration Statement*. The registration statement on Form S-4 filed by WellPoint (of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part) shall have become effective, and no stop order suspending such effectiveness shall have been issued and remain in effect and no proceeding for that purpose shall have been instituted by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any state regulatory authorities.
- *Shareholder Approval*. The merger and the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby shall have been approved by the vote of the shareholders of Cobalt that is required by applicable law.
- *WellPoint Common Stock Price*. The average of the closing sales prices of WellPoint's common stock for the 15 consecutive day trading period ending on and including the business day immediately following the date on which all of the conditions to the merger (other than the WellPoint common stock price condition and conditions that cannot be satisfied until the closing date) is at least \$62.50, which date is referred to as the determination date. The WellPoint common stock price condition expires at the end of the tenth business day after the determination date.

Additional Conditions to the Obligations of WellPoint. The obligation of WellPoint and Merger Sub to effect the merger is further subject to fulfillment, on or prior to the closing date of the merger, of the following additional conditions, unless waived by WellPoint:

- *Representations and Warranties*. Cobalt's representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the closing date as if made at and as of such date, except for any inaccuracies or failures to perform that in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of Cobalt and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.
- *Performance of Obligations*. Cobalt shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required to be performed by it under the merger agreement at or prior to closing.
- *Tax Opinion*. Unless WellPoint has made the reverse merger election described under "The Merger—Form of the Merger," WellPoint shall have received a written opinion of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP that: (i) the merger will constitute a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and (ii) Cobalt, WellPoint and Merger Sub will each be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. See "The Merger—Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger."
- *No Litigation*. No suits, litigation or other similar proceedings relating to the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and as to which there is a significant likelihood of material liability to any of WellPoint, Cobalt or any of their affiliates shall be pending. If WellPoint notifies Cobalt that it considers a matter of the type described above to be pending, WellPoint may refer the matter to an independent arbitrator mutually acceptable to WellPoint and Cobalt for a determination of whether the matter is the type of matter covered by this condition. The independent arbitrator will hold a hearing and render his decision, which will be final and binding upon WellPoint and Cobalt, within 10 days following WellPoint's request. WellPoint and Cobalt are each entitled to submit a written brief to the independent arbitrator (with a copy being simultaneously provided to the other party) prior to the hearing. WellPoint and Cobalt will share equally the costs and expenses of the arbitrator.
- *No Material Adverse Change*. At any time on or after the date of the merger agreement, no change, circumstance or event shall have occurred that has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of Cobalt and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.
- *Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association Approval*. Any required approval of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association shall have been obtained without any conditions that are material and adverse to WellPoint or Cobalt or any of their subsidiaries and that differ materially in character, degree or scope from conditions commonly imposed by such approvals. The licenses of Cobalt and those of its subsidiaries licensed on the date of the merger agreement to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield names shall be in full force and effect.
- *Wisconsin Consents*. The required consent of the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance will have been obtained without any conditions that are material and adverse to WellPoint or Cobalt or any of their subsidiaries and that differ materially in character, degree or scope from conditions commonly imposed by such consents.
- *Required Governmental Consents*. Any material governmental consents or approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement shall have been obtained, and shall be in full force and effect, without any conditions that are material and adverse to

WellPoint or Cobalt or any of their subsidiaries and that differ materially in character, degree or scope from conditions commonly imposed by such consents or approvals.

- *Required Third Party Consents*. Any material third party consents or approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (other than the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association approval, the Wisconsin consents and the required governmental consents referred to above) shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.
- *Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act*. Cobalt shall be, and its business shall be conducted, in compliance in all material respects with all of the provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and other applicable state and federal privacy laws and regulations that are effective or scheduled to become effective on or prior to the later of (i) October 14, 2003 or (ii) the effective time of the merger.

Additional Conditions to the Obligations of Cobalt. The obligation of Cobalt to effect the merger is further subject to fulfillment, on or prior to the closing date of the merger, of the following additional conditions, unless waived by Cobalt:

- *Representations and Warranties*. WellPoint's and Merger Sub's representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the closing date as if made at and as of such date, except for any inaccuracies or failures to perform that in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on WellPoint's ability to consummate the merger.
- *Performance of Obligations*. WellPoint and Merger Sub shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required to be performed by it under the merger agreement at or prior to closing.
- *Tax Opinion*. Unless WellPoint has made the reverse merger election described under "The Merger—Form of the Merger," Cobalt shall have received a written opinion of Foley & Lardner that: (i) the merger will constitute a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and (ii) Cobalt, WellPoint and Merger Sub will each be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. See "The Merger—Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger."
- *Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association Approval*. Any required approval of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association shall have been obtained.
- *Wisconsin Consents*. The required consent of the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance shall have been obtained.
- *Required Governmental Consents*. Any material governmental consents or approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement shall have been obtained.

#### **Representations and Warranties of WellPoint and Cobalt**

The merger agreement contains various customary representations and warranties of Cobalt and WellPoint relating to, among other things:

- proper organization and good standing of Cobalt, WellPoint and their respective subsidiaries;
- the capitalization of Cobalt and WellPoint;
- the corporate authorization and enforceability of the merger agreement;
- the filing of reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the preparation of financial statements;

- information supplied in this proxy statement/prospectus;
- board approval of the merger and the merger agreement;
- votes required by Cobalt's or WellPoint's shareholders;
- · broker's or finder's fees or commissions; and
- litigation and compliance with laws.

The merger agreement contains additional customary representations and warranties of Cobalt relating to, among other things:

- loss reserves and other actuarial amounts in Cobalt's financial statements;
- absence of certain changes or events;
- environmental matters;
- intellectual property matters;
- taxes;
- certain contracts;
- employee benefit matters;
- labor matters;
- affiliate transactions;
- statutory financial statements;
- insurance;
- the opinion of Cobalt's financial advisor; and
- compliance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

#### Conduct of the Business of WellPoint and Cobalt Prior to the Merger

Pursuant to the merger agreement, Cobalt has agreed that, prior to the effective time of the merger or earlier termination of the merger agreement, it shall, and shall cause each of its subsidiaries to:

- conduct their respective businesses in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice;
- use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact their respective business organizations, keep available the services of their respective present officers, employees and consultants, preserve the present relationships with customers and others having significant business relationships with them;
- not amend their respective organizational documents;
- not issue, deliver, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any shares of any class of capital stock, any options, other rights of any kind to acquire any shares of capital stock or any other ownership interest, of Cobalt or any of its subsidiaries, except for the issuance of options to officers and employees (which issuance shall be in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past practice) to purchase up to 100,000 shares of Cobalt common stock issuable in accordance with the terms of Cobalt's stock option plans;

• not declare, set aside or pay any dividend or distribution payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise (other than a dividend or distribution payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, from any of Cobalt's wholly owned subsidiaries to Cobalt);

- not split, combine or reclassify, redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire their respective outstanding capital stock;
- not acquire any corporation, partnership or other business organization or division or line of business;
- not modify their current investment policies or investment practices in any material respect, except to accommodate changes in law;
- not transfer, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or subject to any lien any of its assets, including capital stock of any subsidiary (except (i) by incurring permitted liens and (ii) equipment and property no longer used in the operation of Cobalt's business);
- not incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or issue any debt securities or assume, guarantee or endorse any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other person (except for borrowings under and in accordance with Cobalt's existing three-year revolving credit facility and Cobalt's existing \$20 million line of credit, each with M&I Marshall & Ilsley Bank and as in effect on the date of the merger agreement);
- not enter into or amend any material contract, any other contract or agreement that involves Cobalt incurring a liability in excess of \$1 million individually or \$10 million in the aggregate and which is not terminable by Cobalt without a penalty upon one year or less notice (other than (i) contracts or amendments issued or entered into in the ordinary course of business and consistent with Cobalt's practice since January 1, 2003 with customers or providers of Cobalt or its subsidiaries (a) using Cobalt's or any of its subsidiaries' standard templates (as the same may be amended with non-material changes made for other customers or providers or for purposes of compliance with laws or accreditation requirements) and (b) which do not contain any rate guarantees for any period greater than 12 months and (ii) customer agreements that are not terminable within one year solely as a result of statutory or regulatory requirements) or any contract or agreement with another Cobalt affiliate;
- not increase the compensation or fringe benefits of any of its directors, officers or employees, except for increases in salary and wages of officers and employees in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past practice, or grant any severance or termination pay not currently required to be paid under existing severance plans and not enter into, or amend, any employment, consulting or severance agreement or arrangement with any present or former director, officer or other employee, or establish, adopt, enter into or amend or terminate any collective bargaining, bonus, profit sharing, thrift, compensation, stock option, restricted stock, pension, retirement, deferred compensation, employment, termination, welfare, severance or other plan, agreement, trust, fund, policy or arrangement for the benefit of any directors, officers or employees;
- not make any change to its accounting practices or principles or reserving or underwriting practices or principles, except as required by law or generally accepted accounting principles;
- not take any action that would prevent the merger from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code;
- not settle or compromise any pending or threatened suit, action or claim in excess of \$500,000;
- not adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization;

- not effectuate a "plant closing" or "mass layoff," as those terms are defined in the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, affecting in whole or in part any site of employment, facility, operating unit or employee;
- maintain in full force and effect their existing insurance policies or comparable replacement policies to the extent available for a cost not exceeding 300% of the current cost of such policy;
- not authorize or make any single capital expenditure in excess of \$500,000 or capital expenditures in excess of \$5 million in the aggregate;
- not create any new product or expand their marketing efforts beyond Wisconsin;
- not make any tax election or settle or compromise any material federal, state, local or foreign tax liability, change any annual tax accounting period, change any method of tax accounting, enter into any closing agreement relating to any tax, surrender any right to claim a tax refund or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitations period applicable to any tax claim or assessment;
- not pay, discharge or satisfy any claims, liabilities or obligations (absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise), other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice, of liabilities reflected or reserved against in the financial statements of Cobalt or incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice;
- not take (or fail to take) any action that would adversely affect the conversion of Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin into a for-profit stock corporation from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization or claim against taxable income any portion of the deduction claimed for taxable year 2001 related to the contribution of stock to the Foundation in connection with such conversion; and
- not take, or offer or propose to take, or agree to take in writing or otherwise, any of the actions described above or any action that would result in any of the closing conditions not being satisfied or that would materially delay the closing.

Pursuant to the merger agreement, WellPoint has agreed that prior to the effective time of the merger or earlier termination of the merger agreement, it shall:

- not amend its certificate of incorporation or bylaws;
- not take any action (or permit any of its subsidiaries to take any action) that would prevent the merger from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code;
- not declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution (other than share repurchases in accordance with WellPoint's share repurchase program, stock dividends or cash dividends comparable to dividends of other companies of similar size) with respect to any of its capital stock;
- not adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization; and
- not take, or offer or propose to take, or agree to take in writing or otherwise, any of the actions described above or any action that would result in any of the closing conditions not being satisfied or that would materially delay the closing.

#### **No Solicitation of Transactions**

The merger agreement provides that prior to the effective time of the merger or earlier termination of the merger agreement, Cobalt shall not, and shall not permit any of its subsidiaries to, initiate, solicit, or knowingly encourage or facilitate any inquiries or the making of any offer or proposal with respect to an acquisition proposal consisting of:

- the acquisition of Cobalt by means of a merger, reorganization, share exchange, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction, or
- any purchase or sale of any significant portion of the assets or equity securities of Cobalt or any of its subsidiaries.

In addition, Cobalt and its subsidiaries may not engage in discussions or negotiations or provide information in connection with an acquisition proposal as described above.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the board of directors of Cobalt may provide information or engage in any discussions or negotiations with any person in response to an unsolicited bona fide written proposal or offer with regard to an acquisition proposal if the board of directors concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that the failure to provide such information or to engage in such negotiations or discussions is or is reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties in accordance with Wisconsin law and Cobalt has entered into a confidentiality agreement and disclosed the terms of the proposal or offer to WellPoint in accordance with the merger agreement. Cobalt's board of directors may also, to the extent applicable, comply with Rule 14e-2(a) of the Exchange Act concerning a third party tender offer and make any disclosure required by law or pursuant to a listing agreement with any securities exchange.

The merger agreement requires that, prior to providing any information or data to any person or entering into discussions or negotiations with any person, Cobalt will notify WellPoint promptly of such inquiries, proposals or offers received by, or any such discussions or negotiations sought to be initiated or continued with, any of its representatives indicating the name of such person and providing to WellPoint a copy of any written acquisition proposal or, if no document exists, the material terms and conditions of the acquisition proposal. Cobalt has agreed to keep WellPoint informed, on a prompt basis, of the status and terms of any such proposals or offers and the status of any discussions or negotiations relating thereto.

#### Conduct of the Business of the Combined Companies Following the Merger

Following the merger, Cobalt will be a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint. Pursuant to the merger agreement, the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the effective time of the merger will be the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation and thereafter may be amended in accordance with its terms and applicable law. If a reverse merger election is made by WellPoint, the articles of incorporation attached to the merger agreement as an exhibit will be the articles of incorporation of the surviving corporation and thereafter may be amended in accordance with its terms and applicable law. Pursuant to the merger agreement, the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the effective time of the merger will be the bylaws of the surviving corporation and thereafter may be amended in accordance with its terms and applicable law. If a reverse merger election is made by WellPoint, the bylaws attached to the merger agreement as an exhibit will be the bylaws of the surviving corporation and thereafter may be amended in accordance with its terms and applicable law. If a reverse merger election is made by WellPoint, the bylaws attached to the merger agreement as an exhibit will be the bylaws of the surviving corporation and thereafter may be amended in accordance with its terms and applicable law.

#### **Affiliate Agreements**

Cobalt has provided WellPoint with a letter identifying all persons who, in the opinion of Cobalt, may be deemed to be affiliates of Cobalt for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act. Cobalt has

agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to deliver to WellPoint, not less than 30 days prior to the effective time of the merger, a letter from each such affiliate agreeing, among other things, to abide by certain transfer restrictions pursuant to Rule 145 under the Securities Act.

#### Termination

The merger agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the closing date, whether before or after the approval by the shareholders of Cobalt:

- by the mutual written consent of Cobalt and WellPoint;
- by either Cobalt or WellPoint if the merger shall not have been consummated on or before January 31, 2004 (other than due to the failure of the party seeking to terminate the merger agreement to perform its obligations under the merger agreement required to be performed at or prior to the effective time of the merger);
- by either Cobalt or WellPoint if any required approval of the shareholders of Cobalt of the merger and the merger agreement shall not have been obtained by reason of the failure to obtain the required vote upon a vote held at a duly held meeting of shareholders or at any adjournment thereof;
- by either Cobalt or WellPoint if any court or other governmental body of competent jurisdiction shall have issued a final order, decree or ruling or taken any other final action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the merger and such order, decree, ruling or other action is or shall have become final and nonappealable (but the party seeking to terminate the merger agreement in this regard must have used its reasonable best efforts to prevent the entry of such order, decree, ruling or other action);
- by Cobalt if prior to the closing date there shall have been a breach or inaccuracy of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of WellPoint or Merger Sub, which breach would give rise to the failure of one of Cobalt's additional conditions to the merger (see "—Conditions to the Merger") and is incapable of being cured by WellPoint or is not cured within 30 days of notice of such breach or any of the conditions to Cobalt's obligations (see "—Conditions to the Merger") shall have become incapable of fulfillment;
- by WellPoint if prior to the closing date there shall have been a breach or inaccuracy of any
  representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Cobalt, which breach would give
  rise to the failure of one of WellPoint's additional conditions to the merger (see "—Conditions
  to the Merger") and is incapable of being cured by Cobalt or is not cured within 30 days of
  notice of such breach or any of the conditions to WellPoint's obligations (see "—Conditions to
  the Merger") shall have become incapable of fulfillment;
- by either Cobalt or WellPoint if (i) the board of directors of Cobalt authorizes Cobalt to execute a binding written agreement with respect to a proposal for a merger, consolidation or other business combination involving, or any purchase or acquisition of more than, 50% of the voting power of Cobalt's capital stock or all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of Cobalt and its subsidiaries, which proposal the board of directors of Cobalt determines in good faith after consultation with Cobalt's advisors would result in a transaction that, if consummated, is more favorable to the Cobalt shareholders from a financial point of view than the merger with WellPoint, (ii) Cobalt notifies WellPoint in writing that it intends to enter into such an agreement and provides WellPoint with the proposed definitive documentation for such proposal, and (iii) WellPoint does not, within seven days after the receipt of such written notice and documentation, provide a written offer that is at least as favorable to the shareholders of Cobalt as the proposal; or

• by either Cobalt or WellPoint on or prior to the tenth business day after the determination date if the average closing price of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 15 full trading days ending on the determination date is less than \$62.50.

### Termination Fee; Reimbursement of Certain Expenses

Cobalt has agreed to pay a termination fee to WellPoint equal to \$27.2 million if:

- WellPoint terminates the merger agreement because (i) there has been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Cobalt, which breach would give rise to the failure of a condition to the merger, (ii) the board of directors of Cobalt was aware of the existence of an alternative transaction between Cobalt and a third party (or the intention to propose such an alternative transaction) and such alternative transaction has not been withdrawn prior to the breach, and (iii) within 12 months after the termination of the merger agreement, Cobalt enters into an agreement with respect to an alternative transaction or an alternative transaction is consummated; or
- Either Cobalt or WellPoint terminates the merger agreement because:
  - (i) any required approval of the shareholders of Cobalt of the merger or the merger agreement has not been obtained by reason of the failure to obtain the required vote upon a vote held at a duly held meeting of shareholders or at any adjournment thereof, (ii) an alternative transaction between Cobalt and a third party (or the intention to propose such an alternative transaction) has been publicly announced and has not been withdrawn prior to the date of such shareholders meeting, and (iii) within 12 months after the termination of the merger agreement, Cobalt enters into an agreement with respect to an alternative transaction or an alternative transaction is consummated; or
  - (i) the board of directors of Cobalt authorizes Cobalt to execute a binding written agreement with respect to a proposal for a merger, consolidation or other business combination involving, or any purchase or acquisition of more than, 50% of the voting power of Cobalt's capital stock or all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of Cobalt and its subsidiaries, which proposal the board of directors of Cobalt determines in good faith after consultation with its advisors would result in a transaction that, if consummated, is more favorable to the Cobalt shareholders from a financial point of view than the merger with WellPoint, (ii) Cobalt notifies WellPoint in writing that it intends to enter into such an agreement and provides WellPoint with the proposed definitive documentation for such proposal, and (iii) WellPoint does not, within seven days after the receipt of such written notice and documentation, provide a written offer that is at least as favorable to the shareholders of Cobalt as the proposal.

As used above, "alternative transaction" means any of the following events: (i) the acquisition of Cobalt by merger, reorganization, share exchange, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, dissolution or otherwise by any person other than WellPoint or any affiliate of WellPoint, (ii) the acquisition by a person other than WellPoint or its affiliates of 20% or more of the assets of Cobalt and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (iii) the acquisition by a person other of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock, (iv) the adoption by Cobalt of a plan of liquidation or the declaration or payment of a liquidating dividend, or (v) the repurchase by Cobalt or any of its subsidiaries of 20% or more of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock.

If WellPoint terminates the merger agreement on or prior to the tenth business day after the business day immediately following the day on which all conditions to the merger have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the closing date)

because the average closing price of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 15 full trading days ending on such date is less than \$62.50, then WellPoint will reimburse the Foundation for its documented out-of-pocket expenses in an amount not to exceed \$600,000 and will reimburse Cobalt for its documented out-of-pocket expenses (other than any broker's or finder's fee or any other payment to any broker, investment banker or financial advisor) in an amount not to exceed \$1.5 million.

## **Indemnification and Insurance**

The merger agreement provides that the surviving corporation shall, and WellPoint shall cause the surviving corporation to, (i) indemnify and hold harmless, and provide advancement of expenses to, all past and present directors, officers and employees of Cobalt and its subsidiaries to the same extent such persons are indemnified or have the right to advancement of expenses as of the date of the merger agreement for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the merger (including acts or omissions occurring in connection with the approval of the merger agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby), and (ii) purchase as of the effective time of the merger a tail policy to the current policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance maintained by Cobalt, which tail policy shall be effective for a period from the closing of the merger through and including the date six years after the closing date with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred on or before the effective time of the merger. In no event, however, shall the surviving corporation be required to expend an amount for such tail policy in excess of 900% of the annual premium currently paid by Cobalt for its current policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance. If the premium for the tail policy insurance exceeds that amount, then the surviving corporation must purchase a tail policy with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding such amount.

#### Amendments to Cobalt's Articles of Incorporation

The merger agreement provides that, at the effective time of the merger, the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation following the merger will be the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub immediately before the effective time of the merger, unless WellPoint makes the reverse merger election described under "The Merger—Form of the Merger." If WellPoint makes the reverse merger election, Cobalt will be the surviving corporation following the merger and its articles of incorporation after the effective time of the merger will be in the form attached as an exhibit to the merger agreement. For a summary of certain provisions of Cobalt's articles of incorporation and the rights of Cobalt shareholders under the existing articles of incorporation, see "Comparison of Rights of Cobalt Shareholders and WellPoint Stockholders."

## Amendments to Cobalt's Bylaws

The merger agreement provides that the bylaws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately before the effective time of the merger will be the bylaws of the surviving corporation following the merger, unless WellPoint makes the reverse merger election described under "The Merger—Form of the Merger." If WellPoint makes the reverse merger election, Cobalt will be the surviving corporation following the merger and its bylaws after the effective time of the merger will be in the form attached to the merger agreement as an exhibit. For a summary of certain provisions of Cobalt's existing bylaws and the rights of Cobalt shareholders under the existing bylaws, see "Comparison of Rights of Cobalt Shareholders and WellPoint Stockholders."

#### **RELATED AGREEMENTS**

#### **Voting and Lockup Agreement**

Concurrently with the execution of the merger agreement, WellPoint entered into a voting and lockup agreement with the Foundation in order to facilitate the merger of Cobalt and WellPoint.

*Voting of Shares.* Pursuant to the voting and lockup agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions contained therein, the Foundation has agreed that from June 3, 2003 until the termination of the voting and lockup agreement, the Foundation will vote, or cause to be voted, the shares of Cobalt common stock over which the Foundation has voting power to approve the merger and the merger agreement. Further, the Foundation has agreed, to the extent permitted by the Foundation's existing voting trust and divestiture agreement, dated as of March 23, 2001, among Cobalt, the Foundation, Wisconsin BC Holdings LLC and the trustee thereunder, to vote against (i) the approval of any other acquisition proposal or (ii) any amendment of Cobalt's articles of incorporation or bylaws or other proposal or transaction involving Cobalt or any of its subsidiaries, which amendment or other proposal or transaction would in any manner impede, frustrate, prevent or nullify the merger, the merger agreement or any other transaction contemplated by the merger agreement.

*Transfer Restrictions.* The Foundation has agreed that following the execution of the voting and lockup agreement and until its expiration date, the Foundation will not (a) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of its shares of Cobalt common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of Cobalt common stock or join in any registration statement under the Securities Act, with respect to any of the foregoing; (b) enter into a swap or any other agreement or any transaction that transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, the economic consequences of ownership of its shares of Cobalt common stock; or (c) create or permit to exist any liens, claims, options, charges or other encumbrances on or otherwise affecting any of its shares of Cobalt common stock.

*Voting Trust Agreement.* The Foundation has agreed that upon closing of the merger, it will enter into a voting trust agreement with WellPoint and a qualified trustee providing for the deposit with the voting trustee of the number of shares of WellPoint common stock received by the Foundation in the merger which are in excess of applicable ownership limitations included in WellPoint's certificate of incorporation. If at closing the Foundation owns less than 5% of the outstanding common stock of WellPoint, then WellPoint and the Foundation will jointly notify the trustee under the existing voting and divestiture agreement of that fact.

*Termination.* The Foundation has agreed to comply with the voting and lockup agreement and vote to approve the merger and the merger agreement unless (i) the merger agreement is terminated; (ii) the merger agreement is amended without the Foundation's consent in any manner that is materially adverse to the Foundation; or (iii) the board of directors of Cobalt, in accordance with the merger agreement, withholds, withdraws, amends or modifies in a manner adverse to WellPoint its recommendation to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

*Expenses and Indemnification.* Except for certain expenses incurred by the Foundation that WellPoint has agreed to reimburse if it terminates the merger agreement due to a drop in its stock price, WellPoint and the Foundation have agreed to bear their respective costs and expenses incurred in connection with the voting and lockup agreement. WellPoint has agreed to indemnify the Foundation and its directors, officers and employees against certain liabilities arising out of WellPoint's registration statement on Form S-4 or this proxy statement/prospectus.

## **Registration Rights Agreement**

Cobalt is a party to a registration rights agreement with the Foundation. The registration rights agreement gives the Foundation the right to require Cobalt to register under the Securities Act the Foundation's shares of Cobalt common stock for sale. If the merger is completed, WellPoint will succeed to Cobalt's obligations under the merger agreement. Following the effective time of the merger, WellPoint will be required to give the Foundation the rights set forth below with respect to the Foundation's shares of WellPoint common stock and WellPoint will have the rights described below.

*Demand Registration Rights.* If the merger is completed, the registration rights agreement will give the Foundation the right to demand that WellPoint effect a registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission of some or all of the shares of WellPoint common stock beneficially owned by the Foundation. This right will last for as long as the Foundation beneficially owns shares of WellPoint common stock. However, WellPoint's obligation to effect a demand registration will be subject to the limitations described below.

*Purchase Option.* If the Foundation requests a demand registration, WellPoint will have the option to purchase any or all of the shares of WellPoint common stock of which the Foundation requests registration before it must take any action. WellPoint will not have the option to purchase less than all of the shares if the market value of the shares that WellPoint elects not to purchase is less than \$30 million. The purchase price per share for the shares of common stock that WellPoint elects to purchase will be the average closing sale price per share of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange during the ten consecutive trading days ending on the second trading day immediately preceding the date the Foundation requests the demand registration. If WellPoint does not exercise this option in full, WellPoint must file a registration statement for the remaining shares, subject to certain exceptions.

*Piggy-Back Registration Rights.* In addition to granting the Foundation the right to demand registration of its sales of shares of WellPoint common stock in the event the merger is completed, the registration rights agreement will also permit the Foundation to "piggy-back" on registrations made by WellPoint, subject to certain restrictions set forth in the registration rights agreement. Specifically, the registration rights agreement provides in general that whenever WellPoint proposes to file a registration statement for a public offering of shares of WellPoint common stock, the Foundation will have the right to have any or all of the shares of WellPoint common stock that it beneficially owns included among the securities WellPoint will register. If the lead managing underwriter for an offering for which the Foundation requests piggy-back registration rights determines that marketing or other factors require a limitation on the number of shares of WellPoint common stock the parties can sell in the offering, then WellPoint will have priority over the Foundation.

*Continuing Option to Purchase the Foundation Shares.* If the merger is completed, WellPoint may purchase from the Foundation any or all of the shares of WellPoint common stock beneficially owned by the Foundation at a price equal to the greater of (i) the average sale price of WellPoint common stock on the New York Stock Exchange over a prescribed period of time, or (ii) the sale price received in a private placement if the Foundation has not yet exercised its demand or piggy-back registration rights. If WellPoint purchases shares of WellPoint common stock from the Foundation pursuant to this option, it must hold the shares for 45 days before reselling them in a public or private transaction.

*Expenses and Indemnification.* The Foundation will pay certain registration expenses in connection with the sale or disposition of its registrable securities under the registration rights agreement. If the merger is completed, WellPoint will be obligated to indemnify the Foundation and its directors, officers and employees against certain liabilities in connection with any registration statement pursuant to the registration rights agreement.

## COMPARISON OF RIGHTS OF COBALT SHAREHOLDERS AND WELLPOINT STOCKHOLDERS

The rights of Cobalt shareholders are presently governed by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (the "WBCL"), the amended and restated articles of incorporation of Cobalt (the "Cobalt Articles") and the second amended and restated bylaws of Cobalt (the "Cobalt Bylaws"). Upon completion of the merger, the rights of Cobalt shareholders with respect to shares of WellPoint received in the merger will be governed by the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL"), the restated certificate of incorporation of WellPoint (the "WellPoint Certificate"), and the bylaws of WellPoint (the "WellPoint Bylaws"). The following is a summary of certain principal differences between the current rights of Cobalt shareholders and those of WellPoint stockholders following the merger.

The following is not intended to be a complete discussion of the differences in the rights of Cobalt shareholders and WellPoint stockholders, and is qualified by reference to Delaware and Wisconsin law, the WellPoint Certificate, the Cobalt Articles, the WellPoint Bylaws and the Cobalt Bylaws. The Cobalt Articles and the Cobalt Bylaws, which are presently available from Cobalt, as well as from the Securities and Exchange Commission, will be sent to shareholders of Cobalt upon request. See "Available Information" and "Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference."

#### **Board of Directors**

*Cobalt.* The board of directors of Cobalt consists of no less than three and no more than nine directors, the exact number of directors to be determined in accordance with the Cobalt Bylaws. The WBCL permits a classified board of directors, divided into up to three classes. The Cobalt Articles provide for the Cobalt board of directors to be divided into three classes, with each class consisting, as nearly as possible, of one-third of the total number of directors. At each annual meeting of shareholders, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that annual meeting are elected for a three-year term. The Cobalt Articles provide that there shall be no cumulative voting by Cobalt shareholders.

The Cobalt Articles provide that no person will be able to become a director of Cobalt unless (i) he or she is an "Independent Director" (as defined below), or (ii) immediately after he or she becomes a director, a specified minimum percentage of Cobalt's directors would be Independent Directors. The percentage of directors that must be Independent Directors will decrease as the Foundation's stock ownership decreases, according to a formula described in the Cobalt Articles. A person will qualify as an "Independent Director" if he or she:

- is not a "major participant" (as defined below);
- has not been nominated to be a director at the initiative of a major participant;
- has not announced a commitment to a proposal made by a major participant that has not been approved by an "independent board majority" (as defined below); and
- has not been determined by an independent board majority to have been subject to any relationship or arrangement which those directors deem to be likely to interfere with his or her exercise of independent judgment.

As used above, an "independent board majority" means a group of directors comprised of both (i) a majority of all Independent Directors and (ii) a majority of all directors. A "major participant" means:

• the Foundation, or any other person, in the judgment of an independent board majority, that succeeds to the Foundation's position;

- a person that owns shares of Cobalt common stock in excess of the ownership limitations described in "—Certain Restrictions on Ownership of Securities—Cobalt" below;
- a person that has filed proxy materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission supporting a candidate for election to the board of directors in opposition to candidates approved by an independent board majority;
- a person that has taken actions deemed by an independent board majority to indicate that such person will seek to become a major participant; or
- a person that is an affiliate or associate of a major participant.

If, however, an independent board majority has given prior approval to an acquisition of Cobalt common stock by a person and that acquisition would otherwise have caused that person to become a major participant, the acquiring person will nevertheless not be a major participant so long as the person (i) makes no subsequent acquisition of Cobalt common stock not approved by an independent board majority, and (ii) takes no other action that would make that person a major participant, without the prior approval of an independent board majority. The Foundation is always deemed to be a major participant under the Cobalt Articles.

For Cobalt director positions that are not required to satisfy the definition of Independent Director under the Cobalt Articles, an individual nominated and elected to such a position must satisfy different "independent public shareholder representative" criteria set forth in the Cobalt Bylaws.

The Cobalt Bylaws provide that shareholders will elect directors by a plurality vote and that shareholders may only elect "qualified candidates" to the board of directors. A qualified candidate is an individual nominated by an independent board majority or properly nominated pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Cobalt Bylaws, and, in either event, who is not disqualified by virtue of being a "non-independent candidate" for whom there is no board seat available because of the requirement that a specified minimum percentage of the directors be Independent Directors. A "non-independent candidate" is a candidate who would not qualify as an "Independent Director," as described under "—Board of Directors—Cobalt" above.

If there are more qualified candidates in any election of directors than available board seats, then the independent candidates receiving the greatest number of votes will win the seats reserved for Independent Directors and the remaining candidates who satisfy certain eligibility requirements under the Cobalt Bylaws (whether independent or non-independent candidates) receiving the greatest number of votes will win any seats available for non-Independent Directors. However, under the terms of the voting trust and divestiture agreement between Cobalt and the Foundation, the trustee of the voting trust is required, in an election involving board seats not reserved for Independent Directors, to vote the Foundation's shares in proportion to the votes cast by shareholders other than the Foundation.

*WellPoint.* The board of directors of WellPoint consists of no less than nine and no more than 17 directors, the exact number of directors to be determined in accordance with the WellPoint Bylaws. The DGCL permits a classified board of directors, divided into as many as three classes, but with no requirement that the classes be as even in size as possible. The WellPoint Certificate provides for the WellPoint board of directors to be divided into three classes, with any change in the number of directors to be apportioned among the classes so the number of directors in each class is as nearly equal as possible. The board of directors to be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by stockholders, up to the number of directors to be elected in such election, without cumulative voting. At each annual meeting of stockholders, successors to the class of directors whose term expires at that annual meeting are elected for a three-year term.

#### **Committees of the Board**

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Bylaws provide that Cobalt shall have the following regular committees elected from the membership of the board at the regular meeting of the board held each year (or at such other time as the board may determine):

- an Executive Committee;
- a Finance Committee;
- a Management Review Committee;
- an Audit Committee; and
- a Nominating and Board Governance Committee.

Each of these regular committees shall have three to six members, except that the Nominating and Board Governance Committee shall have three members. No member of the Management Review, Audit or Nominating and Board Governance Committee may be an employee of Cobalt. The provisions of the Cobalt Bylaws specifying the composition of the Nominating and Board Governance Committee expire at such time as the Foundation no longer beneficially owns at least 20% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Cobalt. Each regular committee, to the extent provided in the Cobalt Bylaws, may exercise the authority of the full board when the board is not in session. In addition to the regular committees listed above, the board may, from time to time, establish special committees, each consisting of at least two directors, and specify the composition, functions and authority of such special committees.

*WellPoint.* The WellPoint Bylaws provide that the board may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the authorized number of directors, designate one or more committees, each consisting of two or more directors, to serve at the pleasure of the board. To the extent allowed by law, the WellPoint Bylaws or the resolution establishing the committee, any committee shall have all the authority of the board in the management and of the business and affairs of WellPoint. WellPoint's board of directors has designated an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating & Governance Committee. No member of those committees is an employee of WellPoint.

### **Discretion of Officers and Directors**

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, in discharging his or her duties to the corporation and in determining what he or she believes to be in the best interests of the corporation, a director or officer may, in addition to considering the effects of any action on the corporation's shareholders, consider the effects of the action on employees, suppliers, customers and the communities in which the corporation operates and any other factors that the director or officer considers relevant.

Delaware Law. The DGCL does not contain a comparable provision.

### Actions by Stockholders Without a Meeting; Special Meetings

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, unless a corporation's articles of incorporation permit such action to be taken by less than unanimous consent, shareholders may take action without a meeting only by a unanimous written consent of all shareholders entitled to vote on the action. Also, under the WBCL, a corporation must hold a special meeting of shareholders if the holders of at least 10% of all of the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at a proposed special meeting sign, date and deliver to the corporation a written demand for a special meeting describing one or more purposes for which the meeting is to be held.

*Delaware Law.* Under the DGCL, unless a corporation's certificate of incorporation provides otherwise, any action that may be taken at a meeting of the stockholders of a corporation may be taken without a meeting by the execution of a written consent by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum amount of votes necessary to take such action at a meeting where all stockholders entitled to vote on such action are present.

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Articles are silent as to shareholder action without a meeting, but the Cobalt Bylaws provide that no action may be taken by the shareholders by written consent without a meeting. The Cobalt Articles provide that a special meeting of the shareholders of Cobalt may be called at any time only by the chairman of the board, the president or an "independent board majority," as described above under "—Board of Directors—Cobalt." In addition, a special meeting of the Cobalt shareholders may be demanded by the holders of at least 10% of all the voting power of Cobalt in accordance with the WBCL as described above.

*WellPoint*. The WellPoint Certificate and the WellPoint Bylaws also prohibit the taking of stockholder action by written consent without a meeting. The WellPoint Certificate provides that a special meeting of the stockholders of WellPoint may be called at any time only by the chairman of the board, the president, a majority of the members of the board of directors or holders of shares entitled to cast not less than 10% of the votes at the special meeting.

#### Amendments to Certificate or Articles of Incorporation

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, the board of directors may propose amendments to a corporation's articles of incorporation and can establish conditions for the amendment. The WBCL provides that amendments to articles of incorporation, except in some limited circumstances, must be approved by the shareholders in addition to approval by the board of directors. The vote of shareholders needed to approve an amendment depends in part on the rights of the voting groups entitled to vote separately on the amendment. If a voting group would have dissenters' rights as a result of the amendment, then a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by that voting group is required for adoption of the amendment. Otherwise, the WBCL provides that, if a quorum exists, the amendment will be adopted if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the amendment exceed the votes cast opposing the amendment, unless the articles of incorporation or the WBCL require a greater number of affirmative votes.

*Delaware Law.* Pursuant to the DGCL, an amendment of a corporation's certificate of incorporation must be approved by the board of directors and a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote.

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Articles provide that the approval of an "independent board majority," as described above under "—Board of Directors—Cobalt" and of the holders of 75% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock will be required in order to amend various sections of the Cobalt Articles, including the sections dealing with:

- the number, qualifications, limitations on liability and removal of directors (who may only be removed by vote of the holders of 75% of the outstanding shares and only in the event of gross negligence or willful misconduct);
- special shareholder meetings;
- the ownership limitations described below under "--Certain Restrictions on Ownership of Securities";
- amendments to the Cobalt Bylaws;
- the prohibition on cumulative voting; and

• the right to amend the Cobalt Articles.

The supermajority votes described above will not be necessary if any of the following applies:

- Cobalt no longer has any license agreements with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association;
- the amendment in question is an amendment to the ownership limitation and transfer restriction provisions of the Cobalt Articles and has been proposed in order to conform to a change in the terms of any Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association license agreement;
- the amendment in question is any other amendment to the ownership limitation and transfer restriction provisions that is required or permitted by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association, whether or not it constitutes a change to any license agreement; or
- the amendment in question is an amendment to the ownership limitation and transfer restriction provisions and has been approved by an independent board majority in connection with a proposal to acquire all of Cobalt's outstanding capital stock.

The Cobalt Articles also provide that for so long as the Foundation owns at least 20% of the outstanding shares of Cobalt's common stock, any amendment of the Cobalt Articles will be subject to the prior review and approval of the Office of the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of Wisconsin.

*WellPoint.* The WellPoint Certificate requires approval of the greater of (i) two-thirds of the directors, or (ii) seven directors to amend the WellPoint Certificate. The WellPoint Certificate further requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of each class of the shares of voting stock represented and voting at a duly held meeting of stockholders at which a quorum is present, voting by class, to amend certain provisions of the WellPoint Certificate, including the provisions concerning:

- the number of directors;
- certain provisions of the WellPoint Certificate dealing with WellPoint's classified board of directors;
- the filling of vacancies on the board of directors;
- the power of directors to amend the WellPoint Certificate;
- the prohibition on stockholder action by written consent;
- the ownership and transfer restrictions;
- the prohibition on cumulative voting by stockholders; and
- the requirement for supermajority stockholder approval to amend such provisions.

However, no amendment of the WellPoint Certificate will be effective unless approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of voting stock entitled to vote. In addition, the requirement for supermajority stockholder approval will not apply to any amendment to the restrictions on ownership and transfer to conform such provision to a change to the terms of the agreement through which WellPoint licenses the Blue Cross Blue Shield name from the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association or to any amendment to the restrictions on ownership and transfer required or permitted by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association. Furthermore, the circumstances described above will become ineffective and of no further force and effect in the event that the agreement between WellPoint and the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association regarding the licensing of the Blue Cross Blue Shield name is terminated, and the parties do not enter into a replacement license agreement.

#### Amendments to Bylaws

*Wisconsin Law.* The WBCL generally provides that, unless reserved by the articles of incorporation to the shareholders, the board of directors has the power to amend or repeal a corporation's bylaws, subject to the power of the shareholders to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws and subject to the power of the shareholders to provide within the bylaws that the board of directors may not amend, repeal or readopt one or more bylaws.

*Delaware Law.* Pursuant to the DGCL, bylaws may generally be adopted, amended or repealed either by approval of the majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote or, if provided in a corporation's certificate of incorporation, by approval of the board of directors.

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Articles require that the board of directors have the power to amend or replace the Cobalt Bylaws by the vote of a majority of the whole board of directors, except that the approval of an "independent board majority," as described above under "—Board of Directors— Cobalt," is required to amend or replace certain provisions of the Cobalt Bylaws. Moreover, the shareholders of Cobalt do not have the power to change the Cobalt Bylaws unless such change is approved by the holders of at least 75% of the then issued and outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon. Further, for so long as the Foundation owns at least 20% of the outstanding shares of Cobalt's common stock, any amendment of the Cobalt Bylaws will be subject to the prior review and approval of the Office of the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of Wisconsin.

*WellPoint.* The WellPoint Certificate requires approval of the greater of (i) two-thirds of the directors, or (ii) seven directors for (1) the amendment of certain bylaws, including the bylaws concerning (a) the number, qualification and election of directors, (b) the filling of vacancies on the board of directors, and (c) the committees of the board of directors, including the Nominating Committee; and (2) the amendment of a bylaw concerning the adoption by the board of directors of rules and regulations not inconsistent with the WellPoint Certificate.

#### **General Voting Requirements**

*Wisconsin Law.* The WBCL provides that, for any matter other than the election of directors, if a quorum exists, action on the matter by a voting group will be approved if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless the articles of incorporation, the bylaws or the WBCL require a greater number of affirmative votes. Under the WBCL, directors are elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares entitled to vote unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation.

*Delaware Law.* The DGCL provides that unless the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or bylaws provide otherwise, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum is present will constitute approval by such voting group, except that directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares entitled to vote.

*Cobalt.* Because Cobalt presently has only one class of shares outstanding, votes on all matters (other than the election of directors) will be by vote of a majority of a single voting group present in person or represented by proxy at a meeting unless a different vote is required by the WBCL. Voting requirements relating to elections of Cobalt directors are described above under "—Board of Directors—Cobalt."

*WellPoint*. Because WellPoint also presently has only one class of shares outstanding, the voting requirements are identical to those of Cobalt.

## **Vote Required for Certain Transactions**

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, a corporation may sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of substantially all of its property if the disposition is approved by a majority of all votes entitled to be cast. A plan of merger or share exchange must be approved by each voting group entitled to vote separately on the plan by a majority of all votes entitled to be cast on the plan by that voting group.

Delaware Law. Under the DGCL, a merger or consolidation generally must be approved by the stockholders of each constituent corporation by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the transaction, unless a greater number is provided in a corporation's certificate of incorporation. The DGCL does not recognize share exchanges. Stockholders of the surviving corporation need not approve a merger if: (i) the corporation's certificate of incorporation will not be amended as a result of the merger; (ii) each share of the corporation's stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the merger will be an identical outstanding or treasury share of the surviving corporation after the effective date of the merger; and (iii) either no shares of the surviving corporation's common stock and no securities convertible into such stock will be issued pursuant to the merger or the authorized unissued shares or treasury shares of the surviving corporation by the authorized unissued shares or treasury shares of the surviving corporation's to be issued pursuant to the merger do not exceed 20% of the shares of the surviving corporation's common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the merger do not exceed 20% of the shares of the surviving corporation's common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the merger do not exceed 20% of the shares of the surviving corporation's common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the merger.

*Cobalt.* Neither the Cobalt Articles nor the Cobalt Bylaws change the voting requirements provided for by the WBCL for mergers or consolidations.

*WellPoint*. Neither the WellPoint Certificate nor the WellPoint Bylaws change the voting requirements provided for by the DGCL for mergers or consolidations.

#### **Certain Restrictions on Ownership of Securities**

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Articles provide for certain restrictions on the ownership of securities in order to accommodate licensing restrictions of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association. Generally, the ownership limitations provide that no person may "Beneficially Own" (as defined in the Cobalt Articles) shares of capital stock in excess of the applicable "Ownership Limit." The "Ownership Limit" is the following: (i) for any "Institutional Investor," one share less than 10% of Cobalt's outstanding voting securities, and (ii) for any "Noninstitutional Investor," one share less than 5% of Cobalt's outstanding voting securities. Furthermore, no person may beneficially own shares of capital stock in excess of the "General Ownership Limit." For these purposes, "General Ownership Limit" means any combination of shares of capital stock in any series or class (including common stock) that represents 20% of the ownership interest in Cobalt at the time of determination. If Cobalt issues any series or classes of capital stock other than common stock, an independent board majority of the Cobalt board of directors will have the power to revise these ownership limitations pursuant to Section 15 of Article V of the Cobalt Articles.

For these purposes, "Institutional Investor" means any person if (but only if) such person is (1) a broker or dealer registered under Section 15 of the Exchange Act, (2) a bank as defined in Section 3(a)(6) of the Exchange Act, (3) an insurance company as defined in Section 3(a)(19) of the Exchange Act, (4) an investment company registered under Section 8 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, (5) an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 or under the laws of any state, (6) an employee benefit plan or pension fund which is subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 or an endowment fund, (7) a parent holding company, provided the aggregate amount held directly by the parent and directly and indirectly by its subsidiaries which are not persons specified in clauses (1) through (6) of this paragraph

does not exceed one percent of the securities of the subject class, or (8) a group provided that all the members are persons specified in clauses (1) through (7) of this paragraph. In addition, every filing made by such person with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Regulation 13 D-G (or any successor Regulation) under the Exchange Act with respect to such person's beneficial ownership must contain a certification (or a substantially similar one) that the Cobalt common stock acquired by such person was acquired in the ordinary course of business and was not acquired for the purpose of and does not have the effect of changing or influencing the control of Cobalt and was not acquired in connection with or as a participant in any transaction having such purpose or effect. For such purposes, "Noninstitutional Investor" means any person that is not an Institutional Investor.

The Cobalt Articles provide a specific exception to the applicable Ownership Limit for the Foundation's shares of Cobalt common stock that exceed such Ownership Limit and were received by the Foundation in connection with the reorganization of Cobalt. As part of the reorganization of Cobalt, the Foundation, Cobalt and a trustee entered into a voting trust and divestiture agreement requiring the Foundation to divest itself of Cobalt shares so that it owns less than 20% of the outstanding shares of Cobalt common stock by March 23, 2006, subject to a possible extension, and generally limiting the Foundation's ability to vote the shares held by the trustee, with the exception of voting in transactions such as the merger.

The Cobalt Articles provide that any "Transfer" (as defined in the Cobalt Articles) that, if effective, would result in a person "Beneficially Owning" more than the Ownership Limit will have the following legal consequences: (i) such person shall receive no rights with respect to any shares in excess of the Ownership Limit (the "Excess Shares") (other than as specified in Article V of the Cobalt Articles); and (ii) the Excess Shares resulting from such Transfer immediately shall be deemed to be conveyed to an escrow agent (the "Share Escrow Agent"). The Share Escrow Agent will be entitled to vote, consent, assent, or sell the Excess Shares in the manner provided for and as fully explained in the Cobalt Articles.

*WellPoint.* The WellPoint Certificate (and WellPoint's license agreement with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association) also has an ownership limit to accommodate the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association licensing restrictions. Generally, the ownership limitations provide that no person may "Beneficially Own" (as defined in the WellPoint Certificate) more than the number of shares of voting stock which is one share lower than the number of shares of voting stock representing the "Ownership Limit." The "Ownership Limit" is the following: (i) for any "Institutional Investor," one share less than 10% of WellPoint's outstanding voting securities; and (ii) for any "Noninstitutional Investor," and "Noninstitutional Investor" have the same meanings as under the Cobalt Articles.

WellPoint's license agreement with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association also provides that if:

- any person becomes a beneficial owner of 20% or more of WellPoint's then-outstanding common stock (or other equity securities that represent an ownership interest of 20% of more as calculated in accordance with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association's determination of how such securities will be counted) and
- remains a 20% or more beneficial owner for more than 30 days after (i) WellPoint first learns of the person becoming a 20% or more beneficial owner or (ii) a public filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission disclosing the 20% or more beneficial ownership,

then WellPoint's license agreement with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association will automatically terminate at the end of the 30-day period.

The WellPoint Certificate provides that any "Transfer" (as defined in the WellPoint Certificate) that, if effective, would result in a person "Beneficially Owning" more than the Ownership Limit will

be void with respect to any shares in excess of the Ownership Limit (the "Excess Shares") and that any Transfer or event resulting in a person purporting to hold Excess Shares will result in such Excess Shares being automatically deemed transferred to an escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent"). The Escrow Agent would have the power to vote the Excess Shares at the direction of WellPoint and would be obligated to sell the Excess Shares for the benefit of the purported owner (net of costs and expenses of the Escrow Agent and WellPoint) at a time that the Escrow Agent deems appropriate so as not to negatively impact the market price of WellPoint common stock. Upon completion of the merger, the Foundation may beneficially own greater than 5% of WellPoint's outstanding voting securities. In such event, as part of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association approval process, WellPoint may request an amendment to WellPoint's license agreement with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association in order to allow the Foundation to own shares of WellPoint common stock in excess of the "Ownership Limit." As part of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association approval process, WellPoint may enter into a voting trust agreement with the Foundation with respect to shares of WellPoint common stock that would otherwise be considered "Excess Shares" that the Foundation may acquire in the merger.

Pursuant to the WellPoint Certificate, WellPoint has the power to interpret the provisions of the WellPoint Certificate described above and, in the absence of manifest error, any interpretation of the board of directors of WellPoint will be binding. In making any such interpretation, the board of directors of WellPoint is required to consider its obligations to the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association, wherever relevant. The ownership limitations are more fully described in the WellPoint Certificate, which is incorporated in its entirety by this reference, and in WellPoint's license agreement with the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association.

#### **Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders**

*Wisconsin Law.* Sections 180.1140 to 180.1145 of the WBCL restrict a broad range of business combinations between a Wisconsin corporation and an "interested stockholder" for a period of three years unless specified conditions are met. The WBCL defines a "business combination" as including a merger or a share exchange, sale of assets, issuance of stock or rights to purchase stock and other transactions with interested stockholders. An "interested stockholder" is a person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% of the outstanding voting stock of a corporation or who is an affiliate or associate of the corporation and beneficially owned 10% of the voting stock within the last three years. During the initial three-year period after a person becomes an interested stockholder in a Wisconsin corporation, with some exceptions, the WBCL prohibits a business combination with the interested stockholder unless the corporation's board of directors approved the business combination or the acquisition of the stock prior to the acquisition date. Following this three-year period, the WBCL also prohibits a business combination with an interested stockholder unless:

- the board of directors approved the business combination or the acquisition of the stock prior to the acquisition date,
- the business combination is approved by a majority of the outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder,
- the consideration to be received by shareholders meets the "fair price" and form requirements of the statute, or
- the business combination is of a type specifically excluded from the coverage of the statute.

Sections 180.1130 to 180.1134 of the WBCL govern mergers or share exchanges between public Wisconsin corporations and significant shareholders and sales of all or substantially all of the assets of public Wisconsin corporations to significant shareholders. These transactions must be approved by 80% of all shareholders and two-thirds of shareholders other than the significant shareholder, unless the shareholders receive a statutory fair price. This is intended to insure that shareholders in a second step merger, share exchange or asset sale receive at least what shareholders received in the first step.

Section 180.1130 of the WBCL defines a "significant shareholder" as the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting shares, or an affiliate of the Wisconsin corporation that beneficially owned 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding shares within the last two years. The WBCL specifically provides that a person is not a "beneficial owner" of securities for purposes of Section 180.1130 of the WBCL solely because of the existence of an agreement (such as the voting and lockup agreement between WellPoint and the Foundation) between the person and a record or beneficial owner of such securities under which the owner agrees to vote the securities in favor of a proposed merger, share exchange or sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of assets.

*Delaware Law.* Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a corporation that does not opt out of its provisions from entering into certain business combination transactions with any interested stockholder for a period of three years from the time such stockholder becomes an interested stockholder unless certain supermajority votes are obtained. The prohibition will not apply if:

- the board of directors has approved either the proposed business combination or the transaction resulting in interested stockholder status prior to the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder;
- upon consummation of the transaction in which the stockholder became an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced; or
- after the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder obtains the approval of the board of directors and the approval at an annual or special meeting (and not by written consent) of two-thirds of the shares outstanding that are not held by the interested stockholder.

*Cobalt.* Cobalt's board of directors approved the voting and lockup agreement between WellPoint and the Foundation that resulted in WellPoint becoming an "interested stockholder" of Cobalt. As a result, sections 180.1140 to 180.1145 of the WBCL will not restrict the ability of WellPoint and Cobalt to consummate the merger.

WellPoint. WellPoint has not "opted out" of Section 203.

## Control Share Voting and "Greenmail" Transactions

*Wisconsin Law.* Section 180.1150 of the WBCL provides that in particular circumstances and unless otherwise provided in the corporation's articles of incorporation, the voting power of shares of a public Wisconsin corporation held by any person in excess of 20% of the voting power is limited to 10% of the voting power these excess shares would otherwise have. Full voting power may be restored if a majority of the voting power of shares represented at a meeting, including those held by the party seeking restoration, are voted in favor of the restoration.

Section 180.1134 of the WBCL requires shareholder approval for some transactions in the context of a tender offer or similar action for more than 5% of any class of a Wisconsin corporation's stock. Shareholder approval is required for the acquisition of more than 5% of the corporation's stock at a price above market value from any person who holds more than 3% of the voting shares and has held the shares for less than two years, unless the corporation makes an equal offer to acquire all shares. Shareholder approval is also required for the sale or option of assets that amount to at least 10% of the market value of the corporation, but this requirement does not apply if the corporation has at least three directors who are not officers or employees of the corporation, and a majority of the disinterested directors chooses to opt out of this provision.

Delaware Law. The DGCL does not contain comparable provisions.

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Articles provide that the restrictions contained in Section 180.1150 of the WBCL do not apply to the shares of Cobalt stock owned by the Foundation.

## **Conflicting Interest Transactions**

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, a contract or transaction with a Wisconsin corporation in which one or more of its directors has a direct or indirect interest will not be void or voidable solely for such reason or solely because such director acts or participates in a board or committee meeting authorizing the contract or transaction if:

- the material facts of the relationship or interest as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or known to the board or committee and the board or committee authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors (even if the disinterested directors are less than a quorum);
- the material facts as to the relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the shareholders entitled to vote thereon and the contract or transaction is specifically approved by the shareholders; or
- the contract or transaction is fair to the corporation.

*Delaware Law.* The DGCL states that contracts and transactions between a Delaware corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or organizations in which they serve in such capacities or have a financial interest, will not be void or voidable solely for such reason or solely because such director or officer acts or participates in a board or committee meeting authorizing the contract or transaction if:

- the material facts of the relationship or interest as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or known to the board or committee and the board or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors (even if the disinterested directors are less than a quorum);
- the material facts as to the relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by the stockholders; or
- the contract or transaction is fair to the corporation as of the time that it is authorized by the board, a committee thereof or the stockholders.

*Cobalt.* Neither the Cobalt Articles nor the Cobalt Bylaws change the default conflicting interest transaction requirements provided for by the WBCL.

*WellPoint.* Neither the WellPoint Certificate nor the WellPoint Bylaws change the default conflicting interest transaction requirements provided for by the DGCL.

#### **Appraisal Rights**

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, a shareholder of a corporation is generally entitled to receive payment of the fair value of his, her or its stock if the shareholder dissents from transactions including a proposed merger, share exchange or a sale of substantially all of the assets of the corporation. However, dissenters' rights generally are not available to holders of shares, such as shares of Cobalt common stock, that are registered on a national securities exchange or quoted on Nasdaq, unless the corporation's articles of incorporation provide otherwise or the transaction is a business combination as described under "—Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders." A merger that does not alter the contract rights of the shares and does not change or convert the shares is not a business combination for this purpose. Under the WBCL, the presence or absence of dissenters' rights for a

voting group affects the right of that group to vote as a separate voting group on amendments to a corporation's articles of incorporation. If a voting group would have dissenters' rights as a result of the amendment, then a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by that voting group is required for adoption of the amendment.

*Delaware Law.* Under the DGCL, stockholders entitled to vote on a merger or consolidation have the right to serve upon the corporation a written demand for appraisal of their shares when the stockholders receive any form of consideration for their shares other than (i) shares of the surviving corporation, (ii) shares of any other corporation listed on a national securities exchange or held of record by more than 2,000 stockholders, or (iii) cash (or stock and cash) in lieu of fractional shares or any combination thereof.

*Cobalt.* The WBCL provides that a corporation may provide in its articles of incorporation, bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors for appraisal rights in connection with an amendment to the corporation's articles of incorporation, any merger or consolidation regardless of the shareholder's right to vote on such transaction or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. Cobalt has not made provision for such rights.

*WellPoint.* The DGCL provides that a corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation for appraisal rights in connection with an amendment to the corporation's certification of incorporation, any merger or consolidation regardless of the stockholder's right to vote on such transaction or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. WellPoint has not made provision for such rights in the WellPoint Certificate.

## Dividends and Repurchases of Shares; Par Value

*Wisconsin Law.* Under the WBCL, the board of directors of a corporation may authorize, and the corporation may pay or make, dividends or other distributions to its shareholders (including the repurchase of its shares), unless:

- after the distribution, the corporation would not be able to pay its debts as they become due in the usual course of business, or
- the corporation's total assets after the distribution would be less than the sum of its total liabilities plus, unless the articles of incorporation provide otherwise, the amount that would be needed, if the corporation were to be dissolved at the time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of shareholders whose preferential rights are superior to those receiving the distribution.

*Delaware Law.* The DGCL permits a corporation to declare and pay dividends out of surplus (defined as the excess of paid in par value of shares or stated capital) or, if there is no surplus, out of net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or for the preceding fiscal year as long as the amount of capital of the corporation following the declaration and payment of the dividend is not less than the aggregate amount of the capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the distribution of assets. In addition, the DGCL generally provides that a corporation may redeem or repurchase its shares only if such redemption or repurchase would not impair the capital of the corporation.

*Cobalt.* The Cobalt Articles provides that shares of Cobalt common stock carry no par value per share.

*WellPoint*. The WellPoint Certificate provides that shares of WellPoint common stock carry a par value per share of \$0.01.

#### Assessability

*Wisconsin Law.* Cobalt common stock is subject to possible assessment in some circumstances. Section 180.0622(2)(b) of the WBCL provides that shareholders of Wisconsin corporations are personally liable up to an amount equal to the par value of shares owned by them, and up to the consideration for which shares without par value were issued, for debts owing to employees of the corporation for services performed for such corporation, but not exceeding six months' service in any one case. The liability imposed by the predecessor to this statute was interpreted in a trial court decision to extend to the original issue price for shares, rather than the stated par value. Although affirmed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the case offers no precedential value due to the fact that the decision was affirmed by an equally divided court. Cobalt common stock is not otherwise subject to call or assessment.

*Delaware Law.* Shares of stock of Delaware corporations are nonassessable under the DGCL. The DGCL does not impose personal liability on holders of WellPoint common stock for debts owing to employees or otherwise.

## SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2004 ANNUAL MEETING

Should there be an annual meeting of Cobalt shareholders in 2004, pursuant to Article II of Cobalt's Bylaws, shareholder proposals must be received by Cobalt between February 5, 2004 and March 6, 2004 to be presented at that meeting. If any such proposal is received after March 6, 2004, then it would be untimely. Should the Cobalt board of directors nevertheless choose to present such proposal, the proxy holders would be able to vote on the proposal using their best judgment. To be eligible for inclusion in the proxy material for any such annual meeting, shareholder proposals made pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 must be received by January 1, 2004.

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of WellPoint incorporated in this registration statement by reference to its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements of Cobalt incorporated in this registration statement by reference to its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

#### LEGAL MATTERS

The validity and legality of the shares of WellPoint common stock to be issued in the merger will be passed upon for WellPoint by Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP and Foley & Lardner will deliver their opinions to WellPoint and Cobalt, respectively, as to certain United States federal income tax consequences of the merger. See "The Merger—Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger."

### **AVAILABLE INFORMATION**

WellPoint has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") a registration statement on Form S-4 (the "Registration Statement") under the Securities Act, relating to the WellPoint common stock to be issued pursuant to the merger agreement. This proxy statement/ prospectus, which is a part of the Registration Statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in, or annexed as exhibits to, the Registration Statement, certain portions of which have been

omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Commission. For further information with respect to WellPoint and the shares of WellPoint common stock to be issued pursuant to the merger agreement, reference is hereby made to the Registration Statement and the related exhibits thereto. Statements contained or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete. In each instance, each statement is qualified in all respects by reference to the copy of such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement. Such information is available for inspection without charge at, and copies can be obtained at prescribed rates from, the Public Reference Room of the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Room 1024, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the Commission at: 1-800-SEC-0330.

WellPoint and Cobalt are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and, in accordance therewith, file reports, proxy and information statements and other information with the Commission. Such reports, proxy and information statements and other information may be inspected and copied at prescribed rates at the public reference facilities maintained by the Commission at Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Such material also may be accessed electronically by means of the Commission's home page on the Internet at *http://www.sec.gov*. Such reports, proxy and information statements and other information concerning WellPoint and Cobalt also can be inspected at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange located at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized by WellPoint or Cobalt. Neither the delivery of this proxy statement/prospectus nor any distribution of the securities to which this proxy statement/prospectus relates shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of WellPoint, Cobalt or any of their subsidiaries since the date hereof or that the information contained or incorporated by reference herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date hereof or thereof. This proxy statement/prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities, or the solicitation of a proxy, in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom it is not lawful to make any such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

## INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN INFORMATION BY REFERENCE

This proxy statement/prospectus incorporates by reference certain documents that are not presented herein or delivered herewith. The Commission allows WellPoint and Cobalt to "incorporate by reference" information into this proxy statement/prospectus, which means that WellPoint and Cobalt can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the Commission by WellPoint or Cobalt. The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this proxy statement/prospectus, except for any information superseded by information in this proxy statement/prospectus. This proxy statement/prospectus incorporates by reference the documents set forth below that each of WellPoint and Cobalt have previously filed with the Commission. These documents contain important information about WellPoint, Cobalt and their respective finances.

The following documents filed by WellPoint with the Commission (Commission File No. 001-13083) are incorporated by reference in and made a part of this proxy statement/prospectus:

- (i) WellPoint's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002;
- (ii) WellPoint's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003; and
- (iii) WellPoint's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 28, 2003.

WellPoint is also incorporating by reference additional documents that WellPoint files with the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the special meeting.

WellPoint is also incorporating by reference the description of WellPoint's common stock contained in WellPoint's registration statements under Section 12 of the Exchange Act.

The following documents filed by Cobalt with the Commission (Commission File No. 1-14177) are incorporated by reference in and made a part of this proxy statement/prospectus:

- (i) Cobalt's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002;
- (ii) Cobalt's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003; and
- (iii) Cobalt's Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on January 10, 2003, January 24, 2003, February 13, 2003 and June 4, 2003 and Cobalt's Form 8-K/A filed on January 24, 2003.

Cobalt is also incorporating by reference additional documents that Cobalt files with the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the special meeting.

WellPoint has supplied all information contained or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus relating to WellPoint, and Cobalt has supplied all such information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus relating to Cobalt.

A Cobalt shareholder can obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference through Cobalt, WellPoint or the Commission. Documents incorporated by reference are available from Cobalt or WellPoint without charge, excluding all exhibits unless Cobalt or WellPoint specifically incorporated by reference an exhibit in this proxy statement/prospectus. Shareholders may obtain documents incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone from:

> Investor Relations Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203 Telephone: (414) 226-6900

Investor Relations WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1 WellPoint Way Thousand Oaks, California 91362 (818) 234-4000

# APPENDIX A AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

Appendix A

## AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

DATED AS OF JUNE 3, 2003

## AMONG

## WELLPOINT HEALTH NETWORKS INC.

## **CROSSROADS ACQUISITION CORP.**

AND

## **COBALT CORPORATION**

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE	E I THE MERGER	1
1.1	The Merger	1
1.2	Closing	2
1.3	Effective Time	2
1.4	Effects of the Merger	2
1.5	Certificate of Incorporation	2
1.6	By-Laws	2
1.7	Officers and Directors of Surviving Corporation	2
1.8	Effect on Capital Stock	3
1.9	Target Stock Options	3
1.10	Certain Adjustments	4
ARTICLE	E II EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES	4
2.1	Exchange Fund	4
2.2	Exchange Procedures	4
2.3	Distributions with Respect to Unexchanged Shares	5
2.4	No Further Ownership Rights in Target Common Stock	5
2.5	No Fractional Shares of Purchaser Common Stock	5
2.6	Termination of Exchange Fund	6
2.0	No Liability	6
2.8	Investment of the Exchange Fund	6
2.9	Lost Certificates	6
2.10	Withholding Rights	6
2.10	Further Assurances	7
2.11	Stock Transfer Books	7
		,
ARTICLE	E III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	7
3.1	Representations and Warranties of Purchaser	7
3.2	Representations and Warranties of Target	11
3.3	Representations and Warranties of Purchaser and Merger Sub	21
ARTICLE	E IV COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS	21
4.1	Conduct of Business of Target Pending the Merger	21
4.2	Conduct of Business of Purchaser Pending the Merger	24
4.3	Governmental Filings	24
ARTICLE	E V ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS	24
5.1	Preparation of Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement; Stockholders Meeting	24
5.2	Accountant's Letters	25
5.3	Access to Information	25
5.4	Reasonable Best Efforts	26
5.5	No Solicitation of Transactions	26
5.6	Employee Benefits Matters	27
5.7	Directors' and Officers' Indemnification and Insurance	28
5.8	Notification of Certain Matters	20 29
5.9	Public Announcements	29
5.10	Listing of Shares of Purchaser Common Stock	29
5.11	Affiliates	29

i

5.12	Transition Team	29
5.13	Tax-Free Reorganization Treatment	30
5.14	HIPAA Remediation	30
5.15	Medicare Part A Claims Processing	30
5.16	Cobalt Corporation Foundation	30
0110		00
ARTICLE	VI CONDITIONS PRECEDENT	30
6.1	Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger	30
6.2	Additional Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser and Merger Sub	31
6.3	Additional Conditions to Obligations of Target	32
0.0	raditional conditions to congations of farget	01
ARTICLE	VII TERMINATION AND AMENDMENT	33
7.1	Termination	33
7.2	Effect of Termination	34
7.3	Fees and Expenses	34
7.4	Amendment	35
7.5	Extension; Waiver	35
7.0		00
ARTICLE	VIII GENERAL PROVISIONS	35
8.1	Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements	35
8.2	Notices	35
8.3	Interpretation	36
8.4	Counterparts	36
8.5	Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries	36
8.6	Governing Law	36
8.7	Severability	36
8.8	Assignment	37
8.9	Submission to Jurisdiction; Waivers	37
8.10	Enforcement	37
8.11	Definitions	37

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of June 3, 2003 (this "Agreement"), among WELLPOINT HEALTH NETWORKS INC., a Delaware corporation ("Purchaser"), CROSSROADS ACQUISITION CORP., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser ("Merger Sub"), and COBALT CORPORATION, a Wisconsin corporation ("Target").

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Boards of Directors of Target and Purchaser deem it advisable and in the best interests of each corporation and its respective stockholders that Target and Purchaser engage in a business combination in order to advance the long-term strategic business interests of Target and Purchaser;

**WHEREAS**, the combination of Target and Purchaser shall be effected by the terms of this Agreement through a merger as outlined below (the "*Merger*");

WHEREAS, in furtherance thereof, the respective Boards of Directors of Target and Purchaser have approved the Merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, pursuant to which each share of common stock, no par value, of Target (other than the Subsidiary Held Stock (as defined in Section 3.2(b)) (*"Target Common Stock"*) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (as defined in Section 1.3), other than the Target Treasury Shares (as defined in Section 1.8(a)), and shares of Target Common Stock owned by Purchaser or Merger Sub, will be converted into the right to receive shares of common stock, par value \$.01 per share, of Purchaser (*"Purchaser Common Stock"*) and an amount of cash, each as set forth in Section 1.8;

WHEREAS, Purchaser and Wisconsin United for Health Foundation, Inc. (the "Foundation") have entered into a Voting and Lockup Agreement simultaneously herewith, which has been approved by the Board of Directors of Target for the purposes of Section 180.1141 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (the "WBCL"); and

WHEREAS, for Federal income tax purposes, it is intended that the Merger shall qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "*Code*"), and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and that this Agreement shall qualify as a "plan of reorganization" as that term is defined under Section 368(a) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder (subject to the election provided for in Section 1.1).

**NOW, THEREFORE,** in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

## ARTICLE I THE MERGER

1.1 *The Merger.* (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law ("*DGCL*") and the WBCL, Target shall be merged with and into Merger Sub at the Effective Time. Immediately following the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Target shall cease and Merger Sub shall continue as the surviving corporation (the "*Surviving Corporation*") under the name Cobalt Corporation. In lieu of Target being merged with and into Merger Sub, if all of the conditions set forth in Article VI (excluding conditions that, by their terms, cannot be satisfied until the Closing Date) have been satisfied or waived other than the conditions set forth in Section 6.2(c) or 6.3(c) (relating to the receipt of opinions that the Merger is a reorganization under Section 368(a) of the Code), Purchaser shall have the right to irrevocably elect (the "*Reverse Merger Election*") by notice delivered to Target, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, to cause the "Merger" to be a merger of Merger

Sub with and into Target at the Effective Time, in which case, following the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and Target shall continue as the Surviving Corporation.

(b) For these purposes, the "continuity of interest" requirement of Section 368 of the Code shall be deemed satisfied by all parties hereto if the amount of Total Cash (as defined below) is less than or equal to 55% of the aggregate of the Merger Consideration (as defined in Section 1.8(b)), based on the average high and low price of Purchaser Common Stock on the day before the Closing Date. "Total Cash" shall mean the sum of (i) Cash Consideration to be paid pursuant to Section 1.8(b)(i) hereof, (ii) redemptions of or distributions with respect to Target Common Stock or Subsidiary Held Stock in connection with the Merger that would be treated as "other property" or money for purposes of Section 356 of the Code, and (iii) repurchases or acquisitions of Purchaser Common Stock issued in connection with the Merger by Purchaser or certain parties related to Purchaser (within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Sec. 1.368-1(e)(3)).

1.2 *Closing.* Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the closing of the Merger and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "*Closing*") will take place on the second Business Day after the satisfaction or waiver (subject to applicable law) of the conditions set forth in Article VI (other than any such conditions which by their terms cannot be satisfied until the Closing Date, which shall be required to be so satisfied or waived on the Closing Date), unless another time or date is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto (the actual time and date of the Closing being referred to herein as the "*Closing Date*"). The Closing shall be held at the offices of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, 425 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York, unless another place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto.

1.3 *Effective Time*. At the Closing, the parties shall (i) file a certificate or articles of merger (the "*Certificate of Merger*") in such form as is required by and executed in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL and the WBCL and (ii) make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL and the WBCL. The Merger shall become effective at such time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with both the Secretary of State of Delaware and the Department of Financial Institutions of the State of Wisconsin or at such subsequent time as Purchaser and Target shall agree and as shall be specified in the Certificate of Merger (the date and time the Merger becomes effective being the "*Effective Time*").

1.4 *Effects of the Merger.* At and after the Effective Time, the Merger will have the effects set forth in the DGCL and the WBCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, at the Effective Time all the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of Target and Merger Sub shall be vested in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of Target and Merger Sub shall be the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

1.5 *Certificate of Incorporation.* Unless the Reverse Merger Election is made, the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation, until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable law. If the Reverse Merger Election is made, the articles of incorporation of Target as amended in their entirety as set forth in Exhibit 1.5 shall be the articles of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable law.

1.6 *By-Laws*. At the Effective Time and without any further action on the part of Target and Merger Sub, the By-Laws of Merger Sub shall be the By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation and thereafter may be amended or repealed in accordance with their terms or the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation and as provided by law. If the Reverse Merger Election is made, the By-Laws of Target as amended in their entirety as set forth in Exhibit 1.6 shall be the By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable law.

1.7 Officers and Directors of Surviving Corporation. The officers of Merger Sub as of the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, until the earlier of their resignation or removal or otherwise ceasing to be an officer or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified, as the case may be. The directors of Merger Sub as of the Effective Time shall serve as directors of the Surviving Corporation until the earlier of their resignation or removal or otherwise ceasing to be a director or until their respective successors are duly elected.

1.8 *Effect on Capital Stock.* As of the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder of any shares of Target Common Stock or Subsidiary Held Stock:

(a) All shares of Target Common Stock that are owned by Target as treasury stock or otherwise (the "*Target Treasury Shares*"), Purchaser or Merger Sub shall be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist and no cash, Purchaser Common Stock or other consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(b) Each share of Target Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than the Target Treasury Shares and shares of Target Common Stock owned by Purchaser or Merger Sub) shall be converted at the Effective Time into the following (the "*Merger Consideration*"):

(i) the right to receive \$10.25 in cash (the "Cash Consideration"); and

(ii) the right to receive the Exchange Ratio (as defined in Section 8.11) of a fully paid and nonassessable share of Purchaser Common Stock (the "*Stock Consideration*").

Upon such conversion, all such shares of Target Common Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented any such shares of Target Common Stock (a *"Certificate"*) shall thereafter represent the right to receive the Merger Consideration and cash for fractional shares in accordance with Section 2.5 upon the surrender of the Certificate in accordance with the terms hereof.

(c) Each share of common stock, par value \$0.01, of Merger Sub outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall remain outstanding and unchanged following the Effective Time as shares of the Surviving Corporation. In the case of a Reverse Merger, each share of common stock shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation.

(d) Each share of Subsidiary Held Stock shall be converted into the right to receive two times the Exchange Ratio in Purchaser Common Stock (*"Subsidiary Stock Consideration"*). Upon such conversion, all such shares of Subsidiary Held Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented any such shares of Subsidiary Held Stock (a *"Subsidiary Held Certificate"*) shall thereafter represent the right to receive the Subsidiary Stock Consideration and cash for fractional shares in accordance with Section 2.5 upon the surrender of the Subsidiary Held Certificates in accordance with the terms hereof.

1.9 Target Stock Options. Target and Purchaser shall take all action reasonably necessary so that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, each stock option (the "Target Stock Options") heretofore granted or granted after the date hereof in compliance with the provisions hereof under any stock option or similar plan of Target (the "Target Stock Option Plans") and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall become vested and exercisable as of the Effective Time pursuant to the terms of such Target Stock Options and shall be converted into an option to purchase a number of shares of Purchaser Common Stock (a "Converted Option") equal to the product of the number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to such Target Stock Option multiplied by twice the Exchange Ratio

(provided that any fractional share resulting from such multiplication shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share). The terms and conditions of the Converted Option shall otherwise remain the same as the terms and conditions of the Target Stock Option, except that the exercise price per share of each Converted Option shall equal the exercise price per share of such Target Stock Option divided by twice the Exchange Ratio (provided that such exercise price shall be rounded up to the nearest whole cent). Purchaser shall take all corporate action necessary to reserve for issuance a sufficient number of shares of Purchaser Common Stock for delivery upon exercise of the Converted Options. Purchaser shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the registration of the shares of Purchaser Common Stock subject to the Converted Options to become effective as part of the Form S-4 or a registration statement on Form S-8, on the same date as the Form S-4 is declared effective; and, thereafter, Purchaser shall file one or more registration statements on appropriate forms with respect to shares of Purchaser Common Stock subject to the Converted Options and shall use its reasonable best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement or registration statements for so long as the Converted Options remain outstanding. Target and Purchaser shall take all such steps as may be required to cause the transactions contemplated by this Section 1.9 and any other dispositions of Target equity securities (including derivative securities) or acquisitions of Purchaser equity securities (including derivative securities) in connection with this Agreement by each individual who (i) is a director or officer of Target or (ii) at the Effective Time will become a director or officer of Purchaser to become exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to each holder of Converted Options an appropriate notice setting forth such holder's rights pursuant to the Target Stock Option Plan and agreements evidencing the grants of such Converted Options, after giving effect to the transactions hereunder.

1.10 *Certain Adjustments.* If, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, the outstanding Purchaser Common Stock, Target Common Stock or Subsidiary Held Stock shall have been changed into a different number of shares or different class by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split, split-up, combination or exchange of shares or a stock dividend or dividend payable in any other securities shall be declared with a record date within such period, or any similar event shall have occurred, the Stock Consideration or Subsidiary Stock Consideration shall be appropriately adjusted to provide to the holders of Target Common Stock or Subsidiary Held Stock the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event.

## ARTICLE II EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

2.1 *Exchange Fund.* Prior to the Effective Time, Purchaser shall appoint an exchange agent hereunder for the purpose of exchanging Certificates for the Merger Consideration (the "*Exchange Agent*"). Purchaser shall deposit with the Exchange Agent, in trust for the benefit of holders of shares of Target Common Stock, at or prior to the Effective Time (a) certificates representing the Purchaser Common Stock issuable pursuant to Section 1.8 in exchange for outstanding shares of Target Common Stock and (b) cash sufficient to pay the cash portion of the Merger Consideration. Purchaser agrees to make available to the Exchange Agent from time to time as needed, additional cash sufficient to pay cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.5 and any dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.3. Any cash and certificates of Purchaser Common Stock deposited with the Exchange Agent shall hereinafter be referred to as the "*Exchange Fund*."

2.2 *Exchange Procedures.* Within five Business Days after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of a Certificate (a) a letter of transmittal which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of the Certificates to the Exchange Agent, and which letter shall be in customary form and have such other provisions as Purchaser may reasonably specify and

(b) instructions for effecting the surrender of such Certificates in exchange for the applicable Merger Consideration. Upon surrender of a Certificate to the Exchange Agent together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed and completed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other documents as may reasonably be required by the Exchange Agent, the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor (i) one or more shares of Purchaser Common Stock (which shall be in uncertificated book-entry form unless a physical certificate is requested) representing, in the aggregate, the whole number of shares that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 1.8 (after taking into account all shares of Target Common Stock then held by such holder) and (ii) a check for the cash portion of the Merger Consideration and for the cash that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to the provisions of this Article II, including cash in lieu of any fractional shares of Purchaser Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.5 and dividends and other distributions pursuant to Section 2.3. No interest will be paid or will accrue on any cash payable for the cash portion of the Merger Consideration or pursuant to Section 2.3 or Section 2.5. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Target Common Stock which is not registered in the transfer records of Target, one or more shares of Purchaser Common Stock evidencing, in the aggregate, the proper number of shares of Purchaser Common Stock and a check for the cash portion of the Merger Consideration, the cash in lieu of any fractional shares of Purchaser Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.5 and any dividends or other distributions to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 2.3, may be issued with respect to such Target Common Stock to such a transferee if the Certificate representing such shares of Target Common Stock is presented to the Exchange Agent, accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer and to evidence that any applicable stock transfer taxes have been paid.

2.3 Distributions with Respect to Unexchanged Shares. No dividends or other distributions declared or made with respect to shares of Purchaser Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Certificate with respect to the shares of Purchaser Common Stock that such holder would be entitled to receive upon surrender of such Certificate until such holder shall surrender such Certificate in accordance with Section 2.2. Subject to the effect of applicable laws, following surrender of any such Certificate, there shall be paid to such holder of shares of Purchaser Common Stock issuable in exchange therefor, without interest, (a) promptly after the time of such surrender, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such surrender and a payment date prior to such surrender payable with respect to such shares of Purchaser Common Stock and (b) at the appropriate payment date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such surrender to such surrender payable with respect to such shares of Purchaser Common Stock and (b) at the appropriate payment date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such surrender payable with respect to such shares of Purchaser Common Stock.

2.4 No Further Ownership Rights in Target Common Stock. All shares of Purchaser Common Stock issued and cash paid upon conversion of shares of Target Common Stock or Subsidiary Held Stock in accordance with the terms of Article I and this Article II (including any cash paid pursuant to Section 2.3 or 2.5) shall be deemed to have been issued or paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the shares of Target Common Stock or Subsidiary Held Stock. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Article II, each Certificate or Subsidiary Held Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender the Merger Consideration or the Subsidiary Stock Consideration, as the case may be.

2.5 No Fractional Shares of Purchaser Common Stock. (a) No certificates or scrip or shares of Purchaser Common Stock representing fractional shares of Purchaser Common Stock or book-entry credit of the same shall be issued upon the surrender for exchange of Certificates or Subsidiary Held Stock and such fractional share interests will not entitle the owner thereof to vote or to have any rights of a stockholder of Purchaser or a holder of shares of Purchaser Common Stock.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each holder of shares of Target Common Stock exchanged pursuant to the Merger who would otherwise have been entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Purchaser Common Stock (after taking into account all Certificates delivered by such holder) shall receive, in lieu thereof, cash (without interest) in an amount equal to the product of (i) such fractional part of a share of Purchaser Common Stock multiplied by (ii) the closing price for a share of Purchaser Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. ("*NYSE*") Composite Transactions Tape on the date of the Effective Time or, if such date is not a Business Day, the Business Day immediately following the date on which the Effective Time occurs. As promptly as practicable after the determination of the amount of cash, if any, to be paid to holders of fractional interests, the Exchange Agent shall so notify Purchaser, and Purchaser shall cause the Surviving Corporation to deposit such amount with the Exchange Agent and shall cause the Exchange Agent to forward payments to such holders of fractional interests subject to and in accordance with the terms hereof.

2.6 Termination of Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund which remains undistributed to the holders of Certificates for six months after the Effective Time shall be delivered to Purchaser or otherwise on the instruction of Purchaser and any holders of the Certificates who have not theretofore complied with this Article II shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation and Purchaser for the Merger Consideration with respect to the shares of Target Common Stock formerly represented thereby to which such holders are entitled pursuant to Section 1.8 and Section 2.2, any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Purchaser Common Stock to which such holders are entitled pursuant to Section 2.5 and any dividends or distributions with respect to shares of Purchaser Common Stock to which such holders are entitled pursuant to Section 2.3. Any such portion of the Exchange Fund remaining unclaimed by holders of shares of Target Common Stock five years after the Effective Time (or such earlier date immediately prior to such time as such amounts would otherwise escheat to or become property of any Governmental Entity (as defined in Section 3.1(c)(iii)) shall, to the extent permitted by law, become the property of Purchaser free and clear of any claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

2.7 *No Liability.* None of Purchaser, Merger Sub, Target, the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent shall be liable to any Person in respect of any Merger Consideration from the Exchange Fund delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law.

2.8 *Investment of the Exchange Fund.* The Exchange Agent shall invest any cash included in the Exchange Fund as directed by Purchaser on a daily basis. Any interest and other income resulting from such investments shall promptly be paid to Purchaser.

2.9 Lost Certificates. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Surviving Corporation, the posting by such Person of a bond in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Corporation may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent will deliver in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the applicable Merger Consideration with respect to the shares of Target Common Stock formerly represented thereby, any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Purchaser Common Stock, and unpaid dividends and distributions on shares of Purchaser Common Stock deliverable in respect thereof, pursuant to this Agreement.

2.10 *Withholding Rights.* Each of the Surviving Corporation and Purchaser shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of shares of Target Common Stock such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Code and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or any provision of state, local or foreign tax law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by the Surviving Corporation or Purchaser, as the case may be, such withheld amounts shall

be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of the shares of Target Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by the Surviving Corporation or Purchaser, as the case may be.

2.11 *Further Assurances.* At and after the Effective Time, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation will be authorized to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of Target or Merger Sub, any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or assurances and to take and do, in the name and on behalf of Target or Merger Sub, any other actions and things to vest, perfect or confirm of record or otherwise in the Surviving Corporation any and all right, title and interest in, to and under any of the rights, properties or assets acquired or to be acquired by the Surviving Corporation as a result of, or in connection with, the Merger.

2.12 *Stock Transfer Books.* The stock transfer books of Target shall be closed immediately upon the Effective Time and there shall be no further registration of transfers of shares of Target Common Stock thereafter on the records of Target. On or after the Effective Time, any Certificates presented to the Exchange Agent or Purchaser for any reason shall be converted into the Merger Consideration with respect to the shares of Target Common Stock formerly represented thereby, any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Purchaser Common Stock to which the holders thereof are entitled pursuant to Section 2.5 and any dividends or other distributions to which the holders thereof are entitled pursuant to Section 2.3.

## ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

3.1 Representations and Warranties of Purchaser. Except as set forth in the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule delivered by Purchaser to Target prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Purchaser Disclosure Schedule") (each section of which qualifies the correspondingly numbered representation and warranty or covenant to the extent specified therein; provided, however that any fact or condition disclosed in any section of the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule in such a way as to make its relevance to a representation or representations made elsewhere in this Agreement or information called for by another section of the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule readily apparent shall be deemed to be an exception to such representation or representations or to be disclosed on such other section of the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule notwithstanding the omission of a reference or cross reference thereto), Purchaser represents and warrants to Target as follows:

(a) Organization, Standing and Power. Each of Purchaser and each of its Subsidiaries (as defined in Section 8.11) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization, has the requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted, except where the failure to be so organized, existing and in good standing or to have such power and authority would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in Section 8.11) on Purchaser, and is duly qualified and in good standing to do business in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership or leasing of its properties makes such qualification necessary, other than in such jurisdictions where the failure so to qualify or to be in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser. The copies of the certificate of incorporation and by-laws of Purchaser which were previously furnished or made available to Target are true, complete and correct copies of such documents as in effect on the date of this Agreement.

(b) Capital Structure. The authorized capital stock of Purchaser consists of (i) 300,000,000 shares of Purchaser Common Stock of which 146,415,690 shares were issued and outstanding as of the date hereof and (ii) 50,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, \$.01 par value per share, none of which were outstanding as of the date hereof. Since December 31, 2002 to the date of this Agreement, there have been no issuances of shares of the capital stock of Purchaser or any other securities of Purchaser other

A-7

than issuances of shares pursuant to options or rights outstanding under the Benefit Plans (as defined in Section 8.11) of Purchaser. All issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of Purchaser are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and no class of capital stock is entitled to preemptive rights. There are outstanding as of the date hereof no options, warrants or other rights to acquire capital stock from Purchaser other than options, restricted stock and share equivalents representing in the aggregate the right to purchase no more than 20,028,673 shares of Purchaser Common Stock. All shares of Purchaser Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby (including without limitation all shares of Purchaser Common Stock to be issued upon exercise of the Converted Options) will, when issued in accordance with the terms hereof, have been duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all Liens. As of the date hereof, there are no stockholder agreements, voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which the Purchaser is a party or by which it is bound relating to the voting of any shares of the capital stock of the Purchaser.

## (c) Authority; No Conflicts.

(i) Purchaser has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, the issuance of the shares of Purchaser Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and upon the exercise of the Converted Options (the "*Share Issuance*"). The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Purchaser. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Purchaser, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws relating to or affecting creditors generally or by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) or by an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

(ii) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Purchaser does not or will not, as the case may be, and the consummation by Purchaser of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of, or constitute a default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of termination, amendment, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or the loss of a material benefit under, or the creation of a Lien on any assets (any such conflict, violation, default, right of termination, amendment, cancellation or acceleration, loss or creation, is hereinafter referred to as a *"Violation"*) pursuant to: (A) any provision of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of Purchaser or any material Subsidiary of Purchaser or (B) except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser, subject to obtaining or making the consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings referred to in paragraph (iii) below, any loan or credit agreement, note, mortgage, bond, indenture, lease, benefit plan or other agreement, obligation, instrument, permit, concession, franchise, license, judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to Purchaser or any Subsidiary of Purchaser, or their respective properties or assets.

(iii) No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any supranational, national, state, municipal, local or foreign government, any instrumentality, subdivision, court, administrative agency or commission or other authority thereof, or any quasi-governmental or private body exercising any regulatory, taxing, importing or other governmental or quasi-governmental authority (a *"Governmental Entity"*), is required by or with respect to Purchaser or any Subsidiary of Purchaser in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Purchaser or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except for those required under or in relation to (A) the Hart-Scott-Rodino

A-8

Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), (B) state securities or "blue sky" laws, (C) the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the "Securities Act"), (D) the Exchange Act; (E) the WBCL with respect to the filing of the Certificate of Merger, (F) rules and regulations of the NYSE, (G) the OCI (as defined in Section 3.2(s)) and the California Department of Managed Health Care and (H) such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings the failure of which to make or obtain would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser. Consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings required under or in relation to any of the foregoing clauses (A) through (G) are hereinafter referred to as "Necessary Consents."

### (d) Reports and Financial Statements.

(i) Purchaser has filed all required registration statements, prospectuses, reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by it with the SEC since January 1, 2001 (collectively, including all exhibits thereto, the "Purchaser SEC Reports"). No Subsidiary of Purchaser is required to file any form, report, registration statement, prospectus or other document with the SEC. None of the Purchaser SEC Reports, as of their respective dates (and, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement or the Closing Date, then on the date of such filing), contained or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or will omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Purchaser SEC Reports, together with any public announcements in a news release made by Purchaser after the date hereof, as of the Effective Time will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances existing as of the Effective Time, not misleading. Each of the financial statements (including the related notes) included in the Purchaser SEC Reports presents fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Purchaser and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates or for the respective periods set forth therein, all in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved except as otherwise noted therein, and subject, in the case of the unaudited interim financial statements, to normal and recurring adjustments that were not or are not expected to be material in amount, and the absence of footnote disclosure. All of such Purchaser SEC Reports, as of their respective dates (and as of the date of any amendment to the respective Purchaser SEC Report), complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(ii) Except as disclosed in the Purchaser SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have not incurred any liabilities or obligations (whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise) that are of a nature that would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet of Purchaser and its Subsidiaries or the footnotes thereto prepared in conformity with GAAP, other than (A) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business or (B) liabilities that would not, in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser.

### (e) Information Supplied.

(i) None of the information supplied or to be supplied by Purchaser for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (A) the registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the SEC by Purchaser in connection with the issuance of shares of Purchaser Common Stock in connection with the Merger, or any of the amendments or supplements thereto (collectively, the *"Form S-4"*) will, at the time the Form S-4 is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or

at the time it becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and (B) the proxy statement for use relating to the adoption by the stockholders of Target of this Agreement or any of the amendments or supplements thereto (collectively, the *'Proxy Statement''*) will, on the date it is first mailed to Target stockholders or at the time of the Target Stockholders Meeting (as defined in Section 5.1), contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Form S-4 will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the Securities Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder.

(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.2(e), no representation or warranty is made by Purchaser with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference in the Form S-4 based on information supplied by Target.

# (f) Litigation; Compliance with Laws.

(i) Except as disclosed in the Purchaser SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement, there is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Purchaser, threatened, against or affecting Purchaser or any Subsidiary of Purchaser having, or which would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser, nor is there any judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any Governmental Entity or arbitrator outstanding against Purchaser or any Subsidiary of Purchaser having, or which would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser having, or which would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser having, or which would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser.

(ii) Except as disclosed in the Purchaser SEC Reports filed prior to the date of the Agreement and except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser, Purchaser and its Subsidiaries hold all permits, licenses, variances, exemptions, orders and approvals of all Governmental Entities necessary for the operation of the businesses of Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole (the *"Purchaser Permits"*). Purchaser and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms of the Purchaser Permits, except where the failure to so comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser. Except as disclosed in the Purchaser SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement, the businesses of Purchaser and its Subsidiaries are not being conducted in violation of, and Purchaser has not received any notices of violations with respect to, any law, ordinance or regulation of any Governmental Entity, except for possible violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser disclosed to have a Material Entity, except for possible violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser has not received any notices of violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser has not received any notices of violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser.

(iii) Purchaser is in compliance in all material respects with all rules and regulations of the BCBSA.

(g) Board Approval. The Board of Directors of Purchaser, by resolutions duly adopted by unanimous vote at a meeting duly called and held and not subsequently rescinded or modified in any way, has duly approved this Agreement, the Merger and the Share Issuance.

(*h*) Brokers or Finders. No agent, broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other firm or Person is or will be entitled to any broker's or finder's fee or any other similar commission or fee in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Purchaser, except J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., whose fees and expenses will be paid by Purchaser in accordance with Purchaser's agreement with such firm.

(*i*) No Vote Required. No vote or other action of the stockholders of Purchaser is required by law, Purchaser's certificate or incorporation or by-laws or otherwise in order for Purchaser and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby.

3.2 Representations and Warranties of Target. Except as set forth in the Target Disclosure Schedule delivered by Target to Purchaser prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Target Disclosure Schedule") (each section of which qualifies the correspondingly numbered representation and warranty or covenant to the extent specified therein; provided, however that any fact or condition disclosed in any section of the Target Disclosure Schedule in such a way as to make its relevance to a representation or representations made elsewhere in this Agreement or information called for by another section of the Target Disclosure Schedule readily apparent shall be deemed to be an exception to such representation or representations or to be disclosed on such other section of the Target Disclosure Schedule notwithstanding the omission of a reference or cross reference thereto), Target represents and warrants to Purchaser as follows:

### (a) Organization, Standing and Power; Subsidiaries.

(i) Each of Target and each of its Subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation or organization, has the requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now being conducted, except where the failure to be so organized, existing and in good standing or to have such power and authority would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target, and is duly qualified and in good standing to do business in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership or leasing of its properties makes such qualification necessary, other than in such jurisdictions where the failure so to qualify or to be in good standing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target. The copies of the articles of incorporation and by-laws of Target which were previously furnished or made available to Purchaser are true, complete and correct copies of such documents.

(ii) Section 3.2 of the Target Disclosure Schedule lists all the Subsidiaries of Target which as of the date of this Agreement are Significant Subsidiaries (as defined in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X of the SEC). All the outstanding shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in, each such Significant Subsidiary have been validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable (except to the extent provided by Section 180.0622(2)(b) of the WBCL) and are owned directly or indirectly by Target, free and clear of all Liens and free of any other restriction (including any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other ownership interests). Except as set forth in the Target SEC Reports (as defined in Section 3.2(d)), neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly owns any equity or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other business association or entity, that is or would reasonably be expected to be material to Target and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

### (b) Capital Structure.

(i) The authorized capital stock of Target consists of (A) 75,000,000 shares of Target Common Stock, of which 41,990,405 shares were outstanding as of the date hereof, excluding 7,949,904 shares held of record by Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin ("*BCBSUW*"), a wholly owned Subsidiary of Target (the "*Subsidiary Held Stock*"), and (B) 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, no par value per share, none of which are outstanding. Since December 31, 2002, there have been no issuances of shares of the capital stock of Target or any other securities of Target other than issuances of shares pursuant to Target Stock Options under the Target Stock Option Plans. All issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of Target are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable (except to the extent provided by Section 180.0622(2)(b) of the WBCL), and no capital stock is entitled to preemptive rights. There are outstanding as of the date hereof no options, warrants or other rights to acquire capital stock from Target other than Target Stock Options representing in the aggregate the right to purchase no more than 4,307,616 shares of Target Common Stock under the Target Stock Option Plans.

Section 3.2(b) of the Target Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list, as of June 3, 2003, of the number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to Target Stock Options or other rights to purchase or receive Target Common Stock granted under the Target Stock Option Plans or otherwise, the dates of grant and the exercise prices thereof. No options or warrants or other rights to acquire capital stock from Target have been issued or granted since December 31, 2002.

(ii) No bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of Target having the right to vote on any matters on which stockholders may vote are issued or outstanding.

(iii) Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 3.2(b), there are no securities, options, warrants, calls, rights, commitments, agreements, arrangements or undertakings of any kind to which Target or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them is bound obligating Target or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, additional shares of capital stock or other voting securities of Target or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, grant, extend or enter into any such security, option, warrant, call, right, commitment, agreement, arrangement or undertaking. There are no outstanding obligations of Target or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock of Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

### (c) Authority; No Conflicts.

(i) Target has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, subject in the case of the consummation of the Merger to the adoption of this Agreement by the Required Target Vote (as defined in Section 3.2(h)). The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Target, subject in the case of the consummation of the Merger to the adoption of this Agreement by the Required Target Vote. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Target and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Target, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws relating to or affecting creditors generally or by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) or by an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

(ii) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Target does not or will not, as the case may be, and the consummation by Target of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby will not, conflict with, or result in a Violation pursuant to: (A) any provision of the articles of incorporation or by-laws of Target or any Subsidiary of Target or (B) subject to obtaining or making the consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings referred to in paragraph (iii) below, any loan or credit agreement, note, mortgage, bond, indenture, lease, benefit plan or other agreement, obligation, instrument, permit, concession, franchise, license, judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to Target or any Subsidiary of Target or their respective properties or assets.

(iii) No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Entity is required by or with respect to Target or any Subsidiary of Target in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Target or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except the Necessary Consents and such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings the failure of which to make or obtain would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target.

### (d) Reports and Financial Statements.

(i) Target has filed all required registration statements, prospectuses, reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by it with the SEC since January 1, 2001 (collectively, including all exhibits thereto, the "Target SEC Reports"). No Subsidiary of Target is required to file any form, report, registration statement or prospectus or other document with the SEC. None of the Target SEC Reports, as of their respective dates (and, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement or the Closing Date, then on the date of such filing), contained or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or will omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Target SEC Reports and any public announcements made by Target after the date hereof as of the Effective Time will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances existing as of the Effective Time, not misleading. Each of the financial statements (including the related notes) included in the Target SEC Reports presents fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Target and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates or for the respective periods set forth therein, all in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved except as otherwise noted therein, and subject, in the case of the unaudited interim financial statements, to normal and recurring adjustments that were not or are not expected to be material in amount, and the absence of footnote disclosure. All of such Target SEC Reports, as of their respective dates (and as of the date of any amendment to the respective Target SEC Report), complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

(ii) Except as disclosed in the Target SEC Reports filed prior to the date hereof, Target and its Subsidiaries have not incurred any liabilities or obligations (whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise) that are of a nature that would be required to be disclosed on a balance sheet of Target and its Subsidiaries or the footnotes thereto prepared in conformity with GAAP, other than liabilities that would not, in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target.

(e) Reserves. The loss reserves and other actuarial amounts of Target and its Subsidiaries recorded in their respective financial statements contained in the Target SEC Reports and all statutory reports as of December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2003 (i) were determined in accordance with generally accepted actuarial standards consistently applied (except as otherwise noted in such financial statements), (ii) were fairly stated in all material respects in accordance with sound actuarial principles, (iii) satisfied all applicable laws and the requirements of the BCBSA in all material respects and have been computed on the basis of methodologies consistent with those used in computing the corresponding reserves in the prior fiscal years and (iv) include provisions for all actuarial reserves and related items which ought to be established in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and prudent insurance practices. Target is not aware of any facts or circumstances which would necessitate, in the good faith application of prudent reserving practices and policies, any material adverse change in the statutorily required reserves or reserves above those reflected in the most recent balance sheet (other than increases consistent with past experience resulting from increases in enrollment with respect to services provided by the Target or its Subsidiaries). The capital and surplus for Target on a consolidated basis is now, and immediately prior to the Closing will be, not less than 200% of the authorized control level as defined in NAIC Risk-Based Capital Guidelines required by applicable law.

#### (f) Information Supplied.

(i) None of the information supplied or to be supplied by Target for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (A) the Form S-4 will, at the time the Form S-4 is filed with the SEC, at any time it is amended or supplemented or at the time it becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and (B) the Proxy Statement will, on the date it is first mailed to Target stockholders or at the time of the Target Stockholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder.

(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.2(f), no representation or warranty is made by Target with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference in the Form S-4 or the Proxy Statement based on information supplied by Purchaser or Merger Sub.

(g) Board Approval. The Board of Directors of Target, by resolutions duly adopted at a meeting duly called and held and not subsequently rescinded or modified in any way, has duly approved this Agreement, the Merger, the Voting and Lockup Agreement referred to in the fourth Whereas clause hereof and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including without limitation, for purposes of Section 180.1141 of the WBCL. Such approval is sufficient to render inapplicable the restrictions on business combinations set forth in Section 180.1141(1) of the WBCL to all such transactions and is sufficient to satisfy Section 180.1141(2)(a) with respect to future business combinations to which such Section would apply. Other than Section 180.1141 of the WBCL, no takeover statute or other similar statute is applicable to the Merger, the Voting and Lockup Agreement or the other transactions contemplated hereby.

(*h*) Vote Required. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Target Common Stock to approve the Merger (the "Required Target Vote") is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of Target capital stock necessary to adopt this Agreement and approve the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby.

(i) Litigation; Compliance with Laws.

(i) Except as disclosed in the Target SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement, there is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened, against or affecting Target or any Subsidiary of Target having, or which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target, nor is there any judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any Governmental Entity or arbitrator outstanding against Target or any Subsidiary of Target having, or which reasonably would be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target.

(ii) Except as disclosed in the Target SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement and except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target, Target and its Subsidiaries hold all permits, licenses, variances, exemptions, orders and approvals of all Governmental Entities necessary for the operation of the businesses of Target and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole (the *"Target Permits"*). Target and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms of the Target Permits, except where the failure so to comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target. Except as disclosed in the Target SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement, the businesses of Target and its Subsidiaries are not being conducted in violation of, and Target has not received any notices of violations with

respect to, any law, ordinance or regulation of any Governmental Entity, except for possible violations which would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target.

(iii) The Target and each of its officers and directors are in compliance with, and have complied, in all material respects with (A) the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations promulgated under such act or the Exchange Act (*"Sarbanes-Oxley"*) and (B) the applicable listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of the NYSE. The Target has previously disclosed to Purchaser any of the information required to be disclosed by the Target and certain of its officers to the Target's Board of Directors or any committee thereof pursuant to the certification requirements contained in Form 10-K and Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act. Since the enactment of Sarbanes-Oxley, neither the Target. The Target has adopted a plan which would enable it to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley by the time such requirements would be applicable to the Target if it remained a public company.

(iv) Each of Target and its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with all rules and regulations of the BCBSA.

(*j*) Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except for liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and except as disclosed in the Target SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement, since December 31, 2002, Target and its Subsidiaries have conducted their business only in the ordinary course and there has not been (i) any change, circumstance or event which has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on Target or (ii) any action taken by Target or any of its Subsidiaries during the period from December 31, 2002 through the date of this Agreement that, if taken during the period from the date of this Agreement through the Effective Time, would have constituted a breach of Section 4.1.

Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed in Section 3.2(k) of the Target Disclosure Schedule and except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target, (i) the operations of Target and its Subsidiaries have been and are in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and with all Environmental Permits, (ii) there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened, actions, suits, claims, investigations or other proceedings under or pursuant to Environmental Laws against Target or its Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of Target, involving any real property currently or formerly owned, operated or leased by Target or its Subsidiaries, (iii) Target and its Subsidiaries are not subject to any Environmental Liabilities and, to the Knowledge of Target, no facts, circumstances or conditions relating to, arising from, associated with or attributable to any real property currently or formerly owned, operated or leased by Target or its Subsidiaries or operations thereon would reasonably be expected to result in Environmental Liabilities, (iv) all real property owned and all real property operated or leased by Target or its Subsidiaries is free of Hazardous Materials in conditions or concentrations that would reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on human health or the environment and none of Target or any of its Subsidiaries has disposed of any Hazardous Materials on or about such premises, (v) no release, discharge, spillage or disposal of any Hazardous Material and no soil, water or air contamination by any Hazardous Material has occurred or is occurring in, from or on such premises the result of which would have a Material Adverse Effect on Target, and (vi) Target has provided to Purchaser all material Environmental Reports in the possession or control of Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

As used in this Agreement, *"Environmental Laws"* means any and all laws, rules, orders, regulations, statutes, ordinances, guidelines, codes, decrees, or other legally enforceable requirements (including, without limitation, common law) of any international authority, foreign government, the United States, or any state, local, municipal or other Governmental Entity, regulating, relating to or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning protection of the environment or of human

health, including without limitation the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq., the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§ 1801 et seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq., the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq., the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, 7 U.S.C., §§ 136 et seq. and the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, 33 U.S.C. §§ 2701 et seq., as such laws have been amended or supplemented, and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, and all analogous state or local statutes. As used in this Agreement, "Environmental Liabilities" with respect to any Person means any and all liabilities of or relating to such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (including any entity which is, in whole or in part, a predecessor of such Person or any of such Subsidiaries), whether vested or unvested, contingent or fixed, actual or potential, known or unknown, which (i) arise under applicable Environmental Laws or with respect to Hazardous Materials, and (ii) relate to actions occurring or conditions existing on or prior to the Closing Date. As used in this Agreement, "Environmental Permits" means any and all permits, consents, licenses, approvals, registrations, notifications, exemptions and any other authorization required under any applicable Environmental Law. As used in this Agreement, "Environmental Report" means any report, study, assessment, audit, or other similar document that addresses any issue of noncompliance with, or liability under, any Environmental Law that may affect Target or any of its Subsidiaries. As used in this Agreement, "Hazardous Materials" means any gasoline or petroleum (including crude oil or any fraction thereof) or petroleum products, polychlorinated biphenyls, urea-formaldehyde insulation, asbestos, pollutants, contaminants, radioactivity, and any other substances of any kind, whether or not any such substance is defined as hazardous or toxic under any Environmental Law, that is regulated pursuant to or could give rise to liability under any applicable Environmental Law.

(*l)* Intellectual Property. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target, (i) Target and each of its Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed to use (in each case, free and clear of any Liens), all Intellectual Property used in or necessary for the conduct of its business as currently conducted; (ii) to the Knowledge of Target, the use of any Intellectual Property by Target and its Subsidiaries does not infringe on or otherwise violate the rights of any Person and is in accordance with any applicable license pursuant to which Target or any Subsidiary acquired the right to use any Intellectual Property; (iii) no Person is challenging or, to the Knowledge of Target, infringing on or otherwise violating any right of Target or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Intellectual Property owned by or licensed to Target or its Subsidiaries; and (iv) neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice of any pending claim with respect to any Intellectual Property owned or licensed by Target or its Subsidiaries is being used or enforced in a manner that would result in the abandonment, cancellation or unenforceability of such Intellectual Property.

For purposes of this Agreement, "Intellectual Property" shall mean trademarks, service marks, brand names, certification marks, trade dress and other indications of origin, the goodwill associated with the foregoing and registrations in any jurisdiction of, and applications in any jurisdiction to register, the foregoing, including any extension, modification or renewal of any such registration or application; inventions, discoveries and ideas, whether patentable or not, in any jurisdiction; patents, applications for patents (including, without limitation, divisions, continuations, continued prosecution applications, continuations in part and renewal applications), and any renewals, extensions or reissues thereof, in any jurisdiction; know-how, trade secrets and confidential information and rights in any jurisdiction to limit the use or disclosure thereof by any Person; writings and other works, whether copyrightable or not, in any jurisdiction; registrations or applications for registration of copyrights in any jurisdiction, and any renewals or extensions thereof; and any similar intellectual property or proprietary rights.

(*m*) Brokers or Finders. No agent, broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other firm or Person is or will be entitled to any broker's or finder's fee or any other similar commission or fee in connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Target except UBS Warburg LLC (the "Target Financial Advisor"), whose fees and expenses will be paid by Target in accordance with Target's agreement with such firm, a copy of which has been provided to Purchaser solely for informational purposes.

(n) Taxes. (i) Target and each of its Subsidiaries (A) have prepared in good faith and duly and timely filed (taking into account any extension of time within which to file) all Tax Returns (as defined below) required to be filed by any of them and all such filed Tax Returns are complete and accurate in all material respects; (B) have paid all Taxes that are shown as due and payable on such filed Tax Returns or that Target or any of its Subsidiaries are obligated to pay without the filing of a Tax Return; (C) have paid all other assessments received to date in respect of Taxes other than those being contested in good faith for which provision has been made in accordance with GAAP on the most recent balance sheet included in Target's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002; (D) have properly accrued on the balance sheet, in accordance with GAAP, all contingent or deferred Taxes that have not become due; (E) have withheld from amounts owing to any employee, creditor or other Person all Taxes required by law to be withheld and have paid over to the proper governmental authority in a timely manner all such withheld amounts to the extent due and payable; (F) have not waived any applicable statute of limitations with respect to United States federal or state income or franchise Taxes and have not otherwise agreed to any extension of time with respect to a United States federal or state income or franchise Tax assessment or deficiency; (G) have never been members of any consolidated group for income tax purposes other than the consolidated group of which Target is the common parent; and (H) have no liability under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of applicable state, local or foreign law), as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise for Taxes of any affiliated group of which Target is not the common parent. No liens for Taxes exist with respect to any of the assets or properties of Target or its Subsidiaries, except for statutory liens for Taxes not yet due or payable or that are being contested in good faith. Target has made available to Purchaser true and correct copies of the United States federal income Tax Returns filed by Target and its Subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2001. There is no contract or agreement, plan or arrangement by Target or its Subsidiaries covering any Person that, individually or collectively, could give rise to the payment of any amount that would not be deductible by Target or its Subsidiaries by reason of Section 280G of the Code or would constitute compensation in excess of the limitation set forth in Section 162(m) of the Code. There are not being conducted or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened in writing any material audits, examinations, investigations, litigation, or other proceedings in respect of Taxes of Target or any Subsidiary.

(ii) The conversion of BCBSUW into a for-profit stock corporation (the "*Conversion*") was a tax-free reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(E) of the Code. Neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken any action or failed to take any action that could adversely affect the tax-free reorganization. Pursuant to the Conversion, Target contributed stock to the Foundation on March 23, 2001 and claimed a deduction on its Tax Return for taxable year 2001 in the amount of \$193,000,000 (the "*Conversion Deduction*"). Target has not offset (or otherwise utilized) any portion of the Conversion Deduction against taxable income as reported on any Tax Return.

(iii) As used in this Agreement, (A) the term "*Tax*" (including, with correlative meaning, the term "*Taxes*") includes all federal, state, local and foreign income, profits, premium, franchise, gross receipts, environmental, customs duty, capital stock, severance, stamp, payroll, sales, employment, unemployment, disability, use, property, withholding, excise, production, value added, occupancy and other taxes, duties or governmental levies of any nature whatsoever, together with all interest, penalties and additions imposed with respect to such amounts or filing requirements and any interest in respect of such penalties and additions, and (B) the term "*Tax Return*" includes

all returns and reports (including elections, declarations, disclosures, schedules, estimates, information returns, claim for refund, and amended returns) required to be supplied to a Tax authority relating to Taxes.

# (o) Certain Contracts.

(i) Section 3.2(0)(i) of the Target Disclosure Schedule lists each of the following contracts, agreements or arrangements to which Target or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound: (A) any "material contract" (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the SEC); provided, that any such contract previously filed as an exhibit to one or more of the Target SEC Reports shall not be required to be listed on the Target Disclosure Schedule but shall be deemed to be a "material contract" for purposes of this Agreement, (B) the ten largest provider and the ten largest customer contracts measured in terms of payments to or receipts from Target and its Subsidiaries in the aggregate, (C) any contract that involves (1) annual premiums or payments of greater than \$5 million or annual administrative services fees or similar payments of greater than \$1 million and (2) by its terms, does not terminate within one year after the date of such contract and is not cancelable during such period without penalty or without payment (other than customer agreements that are not terminable within one year solely as a result of HIPAA (as defined below) or other statutory or regulatory requirements), (D) promissory notes, loans, agreements, indentures, evidences of indebtedness or other instruments providing for the lending of money, whether as borrower, lender or guarantor in amounts greater than \$500,000 (excluding trade payables or receivables arising in the ordinary course of business), (E) any contract or other agreement restricting the payment of dividends or the repurchase of stock or other equity, (F) employment agreements, (G) change in control or similar arrangements with any officers, employees or agents of Target or any of its Subsidiaries that will result in any obligation (absolute or contingent) to make any payment to any officers, employees or agents of Target or any of its Subsidiaries following either the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, termination of employment, or both, (H) labor contracts, (I) joint venture, partnership agreements or other similar agreements, (J) any contract for the pending acquisition, directly or indirectly (by merger or otherwise), of any entity or business, (K) any contract, agreement or policy for reinsurance, (L) any contract or agreement that is material to the business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Target and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole that is not otherwise included as a "material contract" under this Section 3.2(o)(i), or (M) any non-competition agreement or any other agreement or arrangement that limits or otherwise restricts Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any successor thereto or that would, after the Effective Time, limit or restrict Purchaser or any of its affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation) or any successor thereto, from engaging or competing in any line of business or in any geographic area (collectively, the "Material Contracts").

(ii) Neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is, or has received any notice or has any Knowledge that any other party is, in default (or would be in default but for the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both) in any respect under any such Material Contract, except for those defaults which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target.

### (p) Employee Benefit Plans.

(i) Section 3.2(p)(i) of the Target Disclosure Schedule contains a true and complete list of each Benefit Plan, stock purchase, stock option, severance, employment, change-in-control, fringe benefit, collective bargaining, bonus, incentive, deferred compensation and all other employee benefit plans, agreements, programs, policies or other arrangements, whether or not subject to ERISA, whether formal or informal, oral or written, legally binding or not under which any employee or former employee of Target or any of its Subsidiaries has any present or future right to

benefits or under which Target or any of its Subsidiaries has any present or future liability. All such plans, agreements, programs, policies and arrangements shall be collectively referred to as the *"Plans"*; *provided, however*, that for purposes of this Section 3.2(p), the term "Plans" shall not include any benefit plans, agreements, policies, programs or arrangements sold or marketed by Target.

(ii) With respect to each Plan, Target has delivered or made available to Purchaser a current, accurate and complete copy (or, to the extent no such copy exists, an accurate description) thereof and, to the extent applicable, (A) any related trust agreement, annuity contract or other funding instrument; (B) the most recent determination letter; (C) any summary plan description and other written communications (or a description of any oral communications) by Target or any of its Subsidiaries to its employees concerning the extent of the benefits provided under a Plan; and (D) for the three most recent years: (I) the Form 5500 and attached schedules; (II) audited financial statements; (III) actuarial valuation reports; and (IV) attorney responses to auditors' requests for information.

(iii) (A) Each Plan has been established and administered in accordance with its terms, and in material compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable laws, rules and regulations and if intended to be qualified within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code is so qualified; (B) with respect to any Plan, no actions, suits or claims (other than routine claims for benefits in the ordinary course) are pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened; (C) neither Target nor any other party has engaged in a prohibited transaction, as such term is defined under Section 4975 of the Code or Section 406 of ERISA, which would subject Target, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Subsidiaries to any taxes, penalties or other liabilities under Section 4975 of the Code or S02(i) of ERISA and Target has no other liability under the Code with respect to any Plan, including liability under any other provision of Chapter 43 of the Code; (D) no Plan provides for an increase in benefits on or after the Closing Date; and (E) each Plan may be amended or terminated without obligation or liability (other than those obligations and liabilities for which specific assets have been set aside in a trust or other funding vehicle or reserved for on Target's March 31, 2003), except as otherwise required by ERISA.

(iv) Neither Target nor any member of its Controlled Group has ever maintained, sponsored, administered or contributed to an employee benefit plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, a multiemployer plan (within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA) or a welfare benefit plan that provide coverage or benefits to former employees (other than benefit continuation rights under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended).

(v) No Plan exists which could result in the payment to any employee of Target or any of its Subsidiaries of any money or other property or rights or accelerate or provide any other rights or benefits to any such employee as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(vi) Except due to random and inadvertent administrative error, all individuals who are or have been eligible to participate in the Plans based upon the eligibility provisions set forth therein or under applicable law have been provided with a timely opportunity to participate.

(q) Labor Matters. (i) Neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining agreement, contract or other agreement or understanding with a labor union or labor organization (other than contracts or other agreements or understandings with labor unions or labor organizations in connection with products and services offered and sold to such unions and organizations by Target or its Subsidiaries); (ii) neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of any proceeding asserting that it or any Subsidiary has committed an unfair labor practice or sex, age, race or other discrimination or seeking to compel it to bargain with any labor organization as to wages or conditions of employment; (iii) there are no current or threatened organizational activities or

demands for recognition by a labor organization seeking to represent employees of Target or any Subsidiary, or labor strike and no such activities have occurred during the past 24 months; (iv) no grievance, arbitration, complaint or investigation is pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened against Target or any of its Subsidiaries which, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Target; (v) Target and each Subsidiary is in compliance with all applicable laws (domestic and foreign), agreements, contracts, and policies relating to employment, employment practices, wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment except for failures so to comply, if any, that individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to Target; (vi) Target has complied in all material respects with its payment obligations to all employees of Target and its Subsidiaries in respect of all wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses, benefits and other compensation due and payable to such employees under any Target policy, practice, agreement, plan, program or any statute or other law; (vii) Target is not liable for any severance pay or other payments to any employee or former employee arising from the termination of employment under any benefit or severance policy, practice, agreement, plan, or program of Target, nor will Target have any liability which exists or arises, or may be deemed to exist or arise, under any applicable law or otherwise, as a result of or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder or as a result of the termination by Target of any Persons employed by Target or any of its Subsidiaries on or prior to the Effective Time of the Merger except as required by Code Section 4980B; and (viii) Target is in compliance with its obligations pursuant to the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 ("WARN") and part 6 and 7 of Title I of ERISA, to the extent applicable, and all other employee notification and bargaining obligations arising under any collective bargaining agreement or statute.

(r) Affiliate Transactions. Except as disclosed in the Target SEC Reports or Section 3.2(r) of the Target Disclosure Schedule, there are no contracts, commitments, agreements, arrangements or other transactions between Target or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any (i) officer or director of Target or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) record or beneficial owner of five percent or more of the voting securities of Target or (iii) affiliate (as such term is defined in Regulation 12b-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of any such officer, director or beneficial owner, on the other hand.

(s) Statutory Financial Statements. Except as otherwise set forth therein, the annual statements and the quarterly statements filed by Target or any of its Subsidiaries with the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance ("OCI") for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, and for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2003 and for any period ending after the date hereof (the "OCI Filings") and the statutory balance sheets and income statements included in such OCI Filings fairly present in all material respects the statutory financial condition and results of operations of Target or such Subsidiaries, as applicable, as of the date and for the periods indicated therein and have been prepared in accordance with applicable statutory accounting principles consistently applied throughout the periods indicated, except as may be reflected in the notes thereto and subject to the absence of notes required by statutory accounting principles and to normal year-end adjustments.

(*t*) *Insurance.* Target has provided or made available to Purchaser a true, correct and complete listing of all policies of insurance to which Target is currently a party or is a beneficiary or named insured. Target maintains insurance coverage with reputable insurers in such amounts and covering such risks as are in accordance with normal industry practice for companies engaged in businesses similar to that of Target (taking into account the cost and availability of such insurance).

(u) Opinion of Target Financial Advisor. The Board of Directors of Target has received the opinion of the Target Financial Advisor, dated the date of this Agreement, to the effect that, as of such date, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Target Common Stock (other than Purchaser, BCBSUW and their respective affiliates), a copy of which opinion will be made available to Purchaser solely for informational purposes, after receipt thereof by Target.

(v) HIPAA. Target is, and its business is being conducted, in compliance in all material respects with the Administrative Simplification provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder (including 45 C.F.R. parts 160, 162, and 164) (collectively, "HIPAA"). Target has formulated and is in the process of implementing a remediation plan designed to ensure compliance by Target, no later than October 14, 2003, with any applicable state or federal privacy laws or regulations (including HIPAA) governing the security, privacy or electronic or other exchange of health information that are effective or scheduled to become effective on or prior to December 31, 2003. This remediation plan is referred to as the "HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plan." A copy of the HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plan has been provided to Purchaser. The HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plan is based upon reasonable determinations concerning: (i) the application of HIPAA and other state and federal privacy laws and regulations to Target and (ii) the measures that must be taken to attain compliance with such laws and regulations by their mandated compliance dates. Target reasonably believes that the objectives set forth in the HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plans are attainable in the manner and within the time periods set forth therein (which time periods have been established to ensure full compliance by the compliance dates imposed by HIPAA and other state and federal privacy laws and regulations). Target has completed, and will complete, in all material respects all scheduled actions set forth in the HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plan on or before the dates set forth in the HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plan.

3.3 *Representations and Warranties of Purchaser and Merger Sub.* Purchaser and Merger Sub represent and warrant to Target as follows:

(a) Organization. Merger Sub is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of Delaware and Merger Sub is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser.

(b) Corporate Authorization. Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Merger Sub of this Agreement and the consummation by Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Merger Sub. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Merger Sub and constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Merger Sub, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors generally or by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) or by an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

(c) Non-Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by Merger Sub of this Agreement and the consummation by Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not contravene or conflict with the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of Merger Sub.

(d) No Business Activities. Merger Sub has not conducted any activities other than in connection with the organization of Merger Sub, the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. Merger Sub has no Subsidiaries.

### **ARTICLE IV**

### COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

4.1 *Conduct of Business of Target Pending the Merger.* Target covenants and agrees that, during the period from the date hereof to the Effective Time and except as otherwise agreed to in writing by Purchaser, the businesses of Target and its Subsidiaries shall be conducted only in, and Target and its Subsidiaries shall not take any action except in the ordinary course of business and in a manner consistent with past practice and in compliance with applicable laws; and Target and its Subsidiaries shall each use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact the business

organization of Target and its Subsidiaries, to keep available the services of the present officers, employees and consultants of Target and its Subsidiaries and to preserve the present relationships of Target and its Subsidiaries with such of the customers, suppliers, licensors, licensees, or distributors with which Target or any of its Subsidiaries has significant business relations. By way of amplification and not limitation, neither Target nor any of its Subsidiaries shall, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, except as set forth in Section 4.1 of the Target Disclosure Schedule, directly or indirectly do, or propose or commit to do, any of the following:

(a) Amend its articles of incorporation or by-laws or equivalent organizational documents;

(b) Issue, deliver, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber, or authorize or commit to the issuance, sale, pledge, disposition or encumbrance of, any shares of capital stock of any class, or any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights of any kind to acquire any shares of capital stock, or any other ownership interest (including but not limited to stock appreciation rights or phantom stock), of Target or any of its Subsidiaries (except for the issuance of securities issuable pursuant to options outstanding as of the date hereof under any Benefit Plans or, consistent with past practice, pursuant to Target's 401(k) plan), except for the issuance of options to officers and employees (which issuance shall be in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past practices) to purchase up to 100,000 shares of Target Common Stock under the Target Stock Option Plans;

(c) Declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, with respect to any of its capital stock (other than a dividend or distribution payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, from any of Target's wholly-owned Subsidiaries to Target);

(d) Reclassify, combine, split, subdivide or redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of its capital stock;

(e) Acquire (by merger, consolidation or acquisition of stock or assets) any corporation, partnership or other business organization or division or line of business;

(f) Modify its current investment policies or investment practices in any material respect except to accommodate changes in applicable law;

(g) Transfer, lease, mortgage, or otherwise dispose of or subject to any Lien any of its assets, including capital stock of Subsidiaries (except (i) by incurring Permitted Liens and (ii) equipment and property no longer used in the operation of Target's business);

(h) Incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or issue any debt securities or assume, guarantee or endorse, or otherwise as an accommodation become responsible for, the obligations of any Person, or make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person (except for borrowings under and in accordance with the Credit Documents);

(i) Enter into or amend any Material Contract, any other contract or agreement (with "other contract or agreement" being defined for purposes of this subsection as a contract or agreement which involves Target incurring a liability in excess of \$1 million individually or \$10 million in the aggregate and which is not terminable by Target without penalty upon one year or less notice (other than (A) contracts or amendments issued or entered into in the ordinary course of business and consistent with Target's practice since January 1, 2003 with customers or providers of Target or its Subsidiaries (1) using Target's or any of its Subsidiaries' standard templates (as the same may be amended with non-material changes made for other customers or providers or for purposes of compliance with laws or accreditation requirements) and (2) which do not contain any rate guarantees for any period greater than 12 months, and (B) customer agreements that are not terminable within one year solely as a result of HIPAA or other statutory or regulatory requirements)) or contract or agreement with an affiliate of Target; *provided*, that if Target is required to obtain the consent of Purchaser to enter into or amend a Material Contract, "other contract or agreement" or agreement with an affiliate of Target pursuant to

this Section 4.1(i), Purchaser shall consider and respond to Target's request for such consent within two Business Days of Purchaser's receipt of such request and such other information as is reasonably necessary to evaluate such request. For purposes of this section, a *"rate guarantee"* shall mean any provision pursuant to which the premiums, administrative services fees or other similar payments to be received by Target or its Subsidiaries, or in the instance of agreements with providers the rates to be paid by Target or its Subsidiaries, are set either at a fixed amount or by reference to a pre-determined formula (such as an index of inflation) for a specified period of time;

(j) Except to the extent required under this Agreement or pursuant to applicable law, increase the compensation or fringe benefits of any of its directors, officers or employees, except for increases in salary or wages of officers and employees of Target or its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business in accordance with past practice, or grant any severance or termination pay not currently required to be paid under existing severance plans or enter into, or amend, any employment, consulting or severance agreement or arrangement with any present or former director, officer or other employee of Target or any of its Subsidiaries, or establish, adopt, enter into or amend or terminate any collective bargaining, bonus, profit sharing, thrift, compensation, stock option, restricted stock, pension, retirement, deferred compensation, employment, termination, welfare, severance or other plan, agreement, trust, fund, policy or arrangement for the benefit of any directors, officers or employees;

(k) Except as may be required as a result of a change in law or in generally accepted accounting or actuarial principles, make any change to the accounting practices or principles or reserving or underwriting practices or principles used by it;

(1) Take, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to take, any action that would prevent the Merger from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code;

(m) Settle or compromise any pending or threatened suit, action or claim in excess of \$500,000;

(n) Adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of Target or any of its Subsidiaries;

(o) Effectuate a "*plant closing*" or "*mass layoff*", as those terms are defined in WARN, affecting in whole or in part any site of employment, facility, operating unit or employee of Target or any of its Subsidiaries;

(p) Fail to maintain in full force and effect the existing insurance policies covering Target or its Subsidiaries or their respective properties, assets and businesses or comparable replacement policies to the extent available for a cost not exceeding 300% of the current cost of such policy;

(q) Authorize any single capital expenditure which is in excess of \$500,000 or capital expenditures which are, in the aggregate, in excess of \$5 million for Target and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole;

(r) Create any new products or expand its marketing efforts beyond Wisconsin;

(s) Make any Tax election or settle or compromise any material federal, state, local or foreign Tax liability, change any annual tax accounting period, change any method of Tax accounting, enter into any closing agreement relating to any Tax, surrender any right to claim a Tax refund, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitations period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment;

(t) Pay, discharge or satisfy any claims, liabilities or obligations (absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise), other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice, of liabilities reflected or reserved against in the financial statements of Target or incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice;

(u) (i) Take, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to take, any action or fail to take any action that would adversely affect the Conversion from qualifying as a tax-free reorganization or (ii) claim any portion of the Conversion Deduction against taxable income as reported on any Tax Return; or

(v) Take, or offer or propose to take, or agree to take in writing or otherwise, any of the actions described in Sections 4.1(a) through 4.1(u) or any action which would result in any of the conditions set forth in Article VI not being satisfied or materially delay the Closing.

4.2 *Conduct of Business of Purchaser Pending the Merger.* Purchaser shall not, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, except as set forth in Section 4.2 of the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule, directly or indirectly do, or propose or commit to do, any of the following:

(a) Amend its certificate of incorporation or by-laws or equivalent organizational documents in a manner adverse to Target or its stockholders;

(b) Take, or permit any of its Subsidiaries to take, any action that would prevent the Merger from qualifying as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code;

(c) Declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution (other than a share repurchase in accordance with Purchaser's share repurchase program, stock dividend or cash dividend comparable to dividends of other companies of similar size), payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, with respect to any of its capital stock;

(d) Adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of Purchaser; or

(e) Take, or offer or propose to take, or agree to take in writing or otherwise, any of the actions described in Sections 4.2(a) through 4.2(d) or any action which would result in any of the conditions set forth in Article VI not being satisfied or materially delay the Closing.

4.3 *Governmental Filings.* Each of Purchaser and Target shall (a) confer on a regular and frequent basis with the other and (b) report (to the extent permitted by law or regulation or any applicable confidentiality agreement) on operational matters. Target and Purchaser shall file all reports required to be filed by each of them with the SEC (and all other Governmental Entities) between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time and each of Purchaser (to the extent any report, announcement and publication relates to this Agreement and the Merger or materially impacts the Merger) and Target shall (to the extent permitted by law or regulation or any applicable confidentiality agreement) deliver to the other party copies of all such reports, announcements and publications promptly after the same are filed.

## ARTICLE V ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

5.1 Preparation of Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement; Stockholders Meeting. (a) Promptly following the date of this Agreement, Target and Purchaser shall prepare and Target shall file with the SEC the Proxy Statement, and Purchaser shall prepare and file with the SEC the Form S-4, in which the Proxy Statement will be included as a prospectus. Each of Target and Purchaser shall use its reasonable best efforts to have the Form S-4 declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after such filing. Target will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to its stockholders as promptly as practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act. Purchaser shall also take any action (other than qualifying to do business in any jurisdiction in which it is not now so qualified) required to be taken under any applicable state securities law in connection with the issuance of Purchaser Common Stock in connection with the Merger, and Target shall furnish all information concerning Target Stock Option Plans as may be

reasonably required in connection with any such action. Each of Purchaser and Target shall furnish all information concerning itself to the other as may be reasonably requested in connection with any such action and the preparation, filing and distribution of the Form S-4 and the preparation, filing and distribution of the Proxy Statement. Target, Purchaser and Merger Sub each agrees to correct any information provided by it for use in the Form S-4 or the Proxy Statement that shall have become false or misleading.

(b) Target, acting through its Board of Directors, shall, subject to and in accordance with its articles of incorporation and by-laws, promptly and duly call, give notice of, convene and hold as soon as practicable following the date upon which the Form S-4 becomes effective a meeting of the holders of Target Common Stock (the "Target Stockholders Meeting") for the purpose of voting to approve and adopt this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, and (i) except as otherwise provided herein, recommend approval and adoption of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby by the stockholders of Target and include in the Proxy Statement such recommendation and (ii) use its commercially reasonable efforts to solicit and obtain such approval. The Board of Directors of Target shall not withhold, withdraw, amend or modify in a manner adverse to Purchaser its recommendation referred to in clause (i) of the preceding sentence (or announce publicly its intention to do so), except that such Board of Directors shall be permitted to withhold, withdraw, amend or modify its recommendation (or publicly announce its intention to do so) if such Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that its failure to withhold, withdraw, amend or modify its recommendation is or is reasonably likely to be, inconsistent with its fiduciary duties in accordance with Wisconsin law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a communication by the Board of Directors of Target to Target's stockholders pursuant to Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act, or any similar type of communication to Target's stockholders in connection with the making or amendment of a tender offer or exchange offer, shall not be deemed to constitute a breach of Target's obligations under this Section 5.1(b).

(c) Target will cause its transfer agent to make stock transfer records relating to Target available to the extent reasonably necessary to effectuate the intent of this Agreement.

5.2 Accountant's Letters. (a) Purchaser shall use reasonable best efforts to cause to be delivered to Target a letter from Purchaser's independent public accountants, dated the date on which the Form S-4 shall become effective, addressed to Purchaser, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Target and customary in scope and substance for comfort letters delivered by independent public accountants in connection with registration statements similar to the Form S-4.

(b) Target shall use reasonable best efforts to cause to be delivered to Purchaser a letter from Target's independent public accountants, dated the date on which the Form S-4 shall become effective, addressed to Target and Purchaser, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser and customary in scope and substance for comfort letters delivered by independent public accountants in connection with registration statements similar to the Form S-4.

5.3 Access to Information. Upon reasonable notice, each party shall (and shall cause its Subsidiaries to) afford to the officers, employees, accountants, counsel, financial advisors and other representatives of the other party reasonable access during normal business hours, during the period prior to the Effective Time, to such of its properties, books, contracts, commitments, records, officers and employees as the other party may reasonably request and, during such period, such party shall (and shall cause its Subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to the other party (a) a copy of each report, schedule, registration statement and other document filed, published, announced or received by it during such period pursuant to the requirements of Federal or state securities laws, as applicable (other than documents which such party is not permitted to disclose under applicable law), and (b) consistent with its legal obligations, all other information concerning it and its business, properties and personnel as such other party may reasonably request; provided, however, that either party may restrict the

foregoing access to the extent that any law, treaty, rule or regulation of any Governmental Entity applicable to such party requires such party or its Subsidiaries to restrict access to any properties or information. The parties will hold any such information which is non-public in confidence to the extent required by, and in accordance with, the provisions of the confidentiality agreement dated April 29, 2003 between Target and Purchaser (the "Confidentiality Agreement"). Any investigation by Purchaser or Target shall not affect the representations and warranties of Target or Purchaser, as the case may be. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any party to this Agreement (and any employee, representative, or other agent of any party to this Agreement) may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the U.S. federal income tax treatment and tax structure of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Transactions") and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to it relating to such tax treatment and tax structure; provided, however, that neither party (nor any employee, representative or other agent thereof) shall disclose any information (a) that is not relevant to an understanding of the U.S. federal income tax treatment or tax structure of the Transactions, including the identity of any party to this Agreement (or its employees, representatives, or other agents) or other information that could lead any person to determine such identity, (b) to the extent such disclosure could result in a violation of any federal or state securities laws or (c) until the earlier of (i) the date of the public announcement of discussions relating to the Transactions, (ii) the date of the public announcement of the Transactions and (iii) the date of the execution of an agreement to enter into the Transactions.

5.4 *Reasonable Best Efforts.* (a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each party will use its reasonable best efforts to prepare and file as promptly as practicable all documentation to effect all necessary applications, notices, petitions, filings, tax ruling requests and other documents and to obtain as promptly as practicable all consents, waivers, licenses, orders, registrations, approvals, permits, tax rulings and authorizations necessary or advisable to be obtained from any third party and/or any Governmental Entity in order to consummate the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereof, each party will use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary to satisfy the conditions to Closing set forth herein and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each party hereto agrees to make an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby as promptly as practicable after the date hereof and to supply as promptly as practicable any additional information and documentary material that may be requested pursuant to the HSR Act. Each of Purchaser and Target shall cooperate in all respects with each other in connection with any filing or submission and in connection with any investigation or other inquiry.

(c) In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the parties agree that Purchaser shall make such filings as are required in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby on its behalf, including the *"Form A"* regulatory filings to be made with the OCI, and shall coordinate the conduct of the hearing or hearings before the OCI in connection with such filings. Target and Purchaser will reasonably cooperate with regard to the content of the filings referred to in the first sentence of this Section 5.4(c), and every such filing shall be subject to the prior approval of Target, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Target and Purchaser, as the case may be, shall submit all such filings and hearing testimony, witness lists and other similar materials relating to hearing to the other for its review prior to filing.

5.5 No Solicitation of Transactions. Target agrees that neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any of the officers and directors of it or its Subsidiaries shall, and that it shall direct and cause its and its Subsidiaries' employees, agents and representatives (including any investment banker, attorney or accountant retained by it or any of its Subsidiaries) not to, directly or indirectly, initiate or solicit or knowingly encourage or facilitate (including by way of furnishing information) any inquiries or the

making of any proposal or offer with respect to (a) a merger, reorganization, share exchange, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving it or any of its Subsidiaries, or (b) any purchase or sale of any significant portion of its assets or equity securities of it or any of its Subsidiaries, other than as disclosed in Schedule 5.5 of the Target Disclosure Schedule (any such proposal or offer being hereinafter referred to as an "Acquisition Proposal"). Target further agrees that neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any of the officers and directors of it or its Subsidiaries shall, and that it shall direct and cause its and its Subsidiaries' employees, agents and representatives (including any investment banker, attorney or accountant retained by it or any of its Subsidiaries) not to, directly or indirectly, have any discussion with or provide any confidential information or data to any Person relating to an Acquisition Proposal or engage in any negotiations concerning an Acquisition Proposal. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Target or its Board of Directors shall be permitted to (a) to the extent applicable, comply with Rule 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act with regard to an Acquisition Proposal; (b) make any disclosure required by applicable law or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with or rules of any securities exchange; or (c) engage in any discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person in response to an unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal by any such Person, if and only to the extent that, in the case of the actions referred to in clause (c), (i) the Board of Directors of Target concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that the failure to provide such information or engage in such negotiations is or is reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties in accordance with Wisconsin law, (ii) prior to providing any information or data to any Person in connection with an Acquisition Proposal by any such Person, the Board of Directors of Target receives from such Person an executed confidentiality agreement containing terms and provisions at least as restrictive as those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement (which shall not preclude discussions or negotiations with Purchaser relating to the proposal or offer from such Person) and (iii) prior to providing any information or data to any Person or entering into discussions or negotiations with any Person, the Board of Directors of Target notifies Purchaser promptly of such inquiries, proposals or offers received by, or any such discussions or negotiations sought to be initiated or continued with, any of its representatives indicating, in connection with such notice, the name of such Person and the providing to Purchaser a copy of any written Acquisition Proposal or if no such document exists providing material terms and conditions of any proposals or offers. Target agrees that it will keep Purchaser informed, on a prompt basis, of the status and terms of any such proposals or offers and the status of any such discussions or negotiations. Target agrees that it will immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any parties conducted heretofore with respect to any Acquisition Proposal or similar transaction or arrangement and will not waive any rights under any standstill or confidentiality agreements entered into with such parties. Target agrees that it will take the necessary steps to promptly inform the individuals or entities referred to in the first sentence of this Section 5.5 of the obligations undertaken in this Section 5.5.

5.6 *Employee Benefits Matters.* (a) *Continuation and Comparability of Benefits.* Except to the extent the parties mutually agree, from the Effective Time until December 31, 2004, the Surviving Corporation shall provide compensation and employee benefits to the employees of Target and its Subsidiaries (other than those employees whose terms and conditions of employment are subject to a collective bargaining agreement) employed as of the Effective Time that are in the aggregate no less favorable than those provided to Purchaser's employees generally.

(b) Pre-Existing Limitations; Service Credit. With respect to any Benefit Plans in which any employees of the Target first become eligible to participate, on or after the Effective Time, and which are plans that the employees of the Target did not participate in prior to the Effective Time (the "New Target Plans"), Purchaser shall: (i) waive all pre-existing conditions, exclusions and waiting periods with respect to participation and coverage requirements applicable to the employees of the Target under any New Target Plans in which such employees may be eligible to participate after the Effective Time and

deductibles, coinsurance or maximum out-of-pocket payments made by any employees of Target during the calendar year in which the Effective Time occurs shall reduce the amount of deductibles, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket payments under the New Target Plans; provided that such employee of Target and covered family members were enrolled in comparable coverage under the Benefit Plans of Target on the Effective Time and continuously thereafter until the effective time of coverage in the New Target Plans, and to the extent such waiver is permissible under the insurance contracts of Purchaser, and (ii) recognize service of the employees of the Target with Target accrued prior to the Effective Time for purposes of eligibility to participate and vesting credit in any New Target Plan in which such employees may be eligible to participate after the Effective Time, to the extent such service is taken into account under the applicable New Target Plan. Service with Target will also be considered under any New Target Plan that is a defined benefit pension plan with a benefit formula based upon final average compensation, with an offset for any benefit payable for the same period of service with Target under any defined benefit plan of Target. Purchaser shall credit each employee of Target with accrued sick leave and vacation as of the Effective Time. Purchaser shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, either (i) maintain Target's Code Section 125 plans (the "Target 125 Plans") for the remainder of the calendar year in which the Effective Time occurs, or (ii) terminate the Target 125 Plans after the Effective Time and adopt new Code Section 125 plans (the "New 125 Plans") for employees of Target who were participating in the Target 125 Plans and transfer the account balances of such employees under the Target 125 Plans to the New 125 Plans as soon as practicable after such New 125 Plans are established.

5.7 Directors' and Officers' Indemnification and Insurance. (a) The Surviving Corporation shall, and Purchaser shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, (i) indemnify and hold harmless, and provide advancement of expenses to, all past and present directors, officers and employees of Target and its Subsidiaries (the "Indemnified Personnel") to the same extent such persons are indemnified or have the right to advancement of expenses as of the date of this Agreement by Target pursuant to Target's certificate of incorporation, by-laws and indemnification agreements, if any, in existence on the date hereof with any current or former directors, officers and employees of Target and its Subsidiaries for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including for acts or omissions occurring in connection with the approval of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby), and (ii) purchase as of the Effective Time a tail policy to the current policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance maintained by Target which tail policy shall be effective for a period from the Effective Time through and including the date six years after the Closing Date with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred on or before the Effective Time; provided, however, that in no event shall the Surviving Corporation be required to expend in excess of 900% of the annual premium currently paid by Target for its current policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance; and, provided, further, that if the premium of such insurance coverage exceeds such amount, the Surviving Corporation after consultation with Target shall be obligated to obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding such amount.

(b) The certificate of incorporation and by-laws of the Surviving Corporation shall contain provisions with respect to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation from liability at least as favorable to the Indemnified Personnel as those set forth in the current articles of incorporation and by-laws of Target, and for a period of six years from the Effective Time, those provisions shall not be repealed or amended or otherwise modified in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of the Indemnified Personnel, except to the extent, if any, that such modification is required by applicable law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) is made against any Indemnified

Personnel, on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, the provisions of this Section 5.7 shall continue in effect until the final disposition of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

(d) The covenants contained in this Section 5.7 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the Indemnified Personnel and their respective heirs and legal representatives, and shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which an Indemnified Personnel is entitled, whether pursuant to laws, contract or otherwise.

(e) In the event that the Surviving Corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors or assigns of the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall succeed to the obligations set forth in this Section 5.7

5.8 Notification of Certain Matters. Target shall give prompt notice to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall give prompt notice to Target, of (a) the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event the occurrence or non-occurrence of which would be likely to cause any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate and (b) any failure of Target, Purchaser or Merger Sub, as the case may be, to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder; provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.8 shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies available hereunder to the party receiving such notice.

5.9 *Public Announcements.* Purchaser and Target shall develop a joint communications plan and each party shall (a) ensure that all press releases and other public statements with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consistent with such joint communications plan, and (b) unless otherwise required by applicable law or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with or rules of any securities exchange, consult with each other before issuing any press release or otherwise making any public statement with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. In addition to the foregoing, except to the extent disclosed in or consistent with the Proxy Statement in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.1, neither Purchaser nor Target shall issue any press release or otherwise make any public statement or disclosure concerning the other party or the other party's business, financial condition or results of operations without the consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

5.10 *Listing of Shares of Purchaser Common Stock.*. Purchaser shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the shares of Purchaser Common Stock to be issued in the Merger to be approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance, prior to the Closing Date.

5.11 *Affiliates.* Promptly after execution and delivery of this Agreement, Target shall deliver to Purchaser a letter identifying all Persons who, in the opinion of Target, may be deemed as of the date hereof "affiliates" of Target for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act, and such list shall be updated as necessary to reflect changes from the date thereof. Target shall use reasonable best efforts to cause each Person identified on such list to deliver to Purchaser not less than 30 days prior to the Effective Time, a written agreement substantially in the form attached as Exhibit 5.11 hereto.

5.12 *Transition Team.* (a) Promptly following execution of this Agreement, the parties shall establish a transition planning team (the *"Transition Team"*) comprised of an equal number of representatives of Target and Purchaser. The Transition Team shall be responsible for facilitating a transition and integration planning process to ensure the successful combination of the operations of Target with those of Purchaser. The Transition Team shall be responsible for developing, and monitoring the development of, and deliverables due under, an action plan for the combination of the businesses which, among other things, shall include an information systems action plan intended to facilitate the most effective combination of the information systems resources of Target and Purchaser.

The Transition Team, or designated representatives thereof, shall meet monthly to review the financial performance of Target and its affiliates and at such meetings Target shall advise the Transition Team of the status of achieving Target's then current Operating Plan (as has been presented to Purchaser), including all of the material components thereof, such as sales, enrollment, revenues, investment income, quarterly claim trends, medical loss ratio, administrative expenses, net income, reserves and statutory capital (as indicated on the quarterly balance sheet). The Transition Team shall be informed at each quarterly meeting of the applicable trends and retention experience arising from Target's business planning and underwriting process.

5.13 *Tax-Free Reorganization Treatment.* The parties hereto shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Merger to be treated as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code and shall not knowingly take or fail to take any action which action or failure to act would jeopardize the qualification of the Merger as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. Unless required by law, each of Purchaser, Merger Sub, and Target shall not file any return or take any position inconsistent with the treatment of the Merger as a reorganization described in Section 368(a) of the Code. Prior to the Effective Time, the parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the opinion of their respective tax counsel in such form and upon such matters as described in Section 6.2(c) and Section 6.3(c).

5.14 *HIPAA Remediation.* From the date hereof through the Closing Date, Target will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, use their respective best efforts to continue to implement the HIPAA/ Privacy Remediation Plan in accordance with its terms. Target shall cooperate with Purchaser's reasonable requests to allow Purchaser to verify the results and efficacy of Target's implementation of the HIPAA/Privacy Remediation Plan (including, for example, conducting and participating in testing procedures concerning the transmission of electronic transactions and reviewing policies and procedures that are necessary to meet the administrative obligations of the HIPAA privacy rules).

5.15 *Medicare Part A Claims Processing.* On or before the Closing Date, the parties shall cooperate in announcing Purchaser's intention that its national headquarters for Medicare Part A Claims Processing will be located in Milwaukee, Wisconsin; and Purchaser shall effectuate such intention as promptly as practicable after the Effective Time.

5.16 *Cobalt Corporation Foundation.* Purchaser agrees that after the Effective Time, the assets of Cobalt Corporation Foundation, Inc. will continue to be used for charitable purposes based or occurring in, or shall be distributed to charitable organizations based or located in, the State of Wisconsin.

## ARTICLE VI CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

6.1 *Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger.* The respective obligations of Target, Purchaser and Merger Sub to effect the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) No Injunctions or Restraints, Illegality. (i) No Governmental Entity or federal or state court of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, judgment, injunction or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent), in any case which is in effect and which prevents or prohibits consummation of the Merger or any other transactions contemplated in this Agreement; and (ii) no Governmental Entity shall have instituted any action or proceeding (which remains pending at what would otherwise be the Closing Date) before any United States court or other governmental body of competent jurisdiction seeking to enjoin, restrain or otherwise prohibit consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) HSR Act. The waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to the Merger under the HSR Act shall have been terminated or shall have expired.

(c) NYSE Listing. The shares of Purchaser Common Stock to be issued in the Merger and such other shares to be reserved for issuance in connection with the Merger shall have been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.

(*d*) Effectiveness of the Form S-4. The Form S-4 shall have been declared effective by the SEC under the Securities Act. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Form S-4 shall have been issued by the SEC and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by the SEC.

*(e) Stockholder Approval.* The Merger shall have been approved by the Required Target Vote at the Target Stockholders Meeting.

(f) *Purchaser Common Stock Price*. The Purchaser Common Stock Price shall be at least \$62.50; *provided* that this condition shall expire at the end of the tenth Business Day after the Determination Date.

6.2 Additional Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser and Merger Sub. The obligations of Purchaser and Merger Sub to effect the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver by Purchaser, on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties of Target set forth in this Agreement (read without any materiality, Material or Material Adverse Effect qualifications) shall be true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent in either case that such representations and warranties speak as of another date) other than such failures to be true and correct that in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target. Purchaser shall have received a certificate of the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of Target to such effect.

(b) Performance of Obligations of Target. Target shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required to be performed by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date, and Purchaser shall have received a certificate of the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of Target to such effect.

(c) Tax Opinion. Unless the Reverse Merger Election is made, Purchaser shall have received from Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, counsel to Purchaser, on or before the date the Form S-4 shall become effective and, subsequently, on the Closing Date, a written opinion dated as of such dates, based on customary representations of Target and Purchaser, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to counsel, to the effect that (i) the Merger will be treated for federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code and (ii) Target, Purchaser and Merger Sub will each be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code.

(d) No Litigation. There shall not be pending any suit, litigation or other similar proceeding relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and as to which there is a significant likelihood of material liability to any of Purchaser, Target or any of their affiliates (a "Material Case"); provided, however, that in the event Purchaser notifies Target that it considers a matter to be a Material Case, Target and Purchaser agree that Purchaser may refer the matter to an independent arbitrator mutually acceptable to the parties (the "Independent Arbitrator") for a determination of whether the matter is a Material Case. The Independent Arbitrator shall hold a hearing and render his decision, which shall be final and binding upon the parties, within 10 days following Purchaser's request. Each party shall be entitled to submit a written brief to the Independent Arbitrator (with a

copy being simultaneously provided to the other party) prior to the hearing. The costs and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by Purchaser and Target.

(e) No Material Adverse Change. At any time on or after the date of this Agreement there shall not have occurred any change, circumstance or event that, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Target.

(f) BCBSA. Any required approval of the BCBSA shall have been obtained without any Material Conditions (as defined Section 8.11) imposed on Target or Purchaser or any of their Subsidiaries. The licenses of Target and those of its Subsidiaries licensed on the date hereof to use the BCBS name shall be in full force and effect.

(g) Wisconsin Consents. The required consent of the Wisconsin Commissioner of Insurance shall have been obtained without any Material Conditions imposed on Target or Purchaser or any of their Subsidiaries.

(*h*) Required Governmental Consents. Any material governmental consents or approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained, and shall be in full force and effect, without any Material Conditions.

(*i*) Required Third Party Consents. Any material third party consents or approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (other than those referred to in Sections 6.2(f) through (h)) shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.

(*j*) *HIPAA*. Target shall be, and its business shall be conducted, in compliance in all material respects with all of the provisions of HIPAA and other applicable state and federal privacy laws and regulations that are effective or scheduled to become effective on or prior to the later of (i) October 14, 2003 or (ii) the Effective Time.

6.3 Additional Conditions to Obligations of Target. The obligations of Target to effect the Merger are subject to the satisfaction of, or waiver by Target, on or prior to the Closing Date of the following additional conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties of Purchaser set forth in this Agreement (read without any materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifications) shall be true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent in either case that such representations and warranties speak as of another date) other than such failures to be true and correct that in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on Purchaser. Target shall have received a certificate of the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of Purchaser to such effect.

(b) Performance of Obligations of Purchaser. Purchaser shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required to be performed by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date. Target shall have received a certificate of the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of Purchaser to such effect.

(c) Tax Opinion. Unless the Reverse Merger Election is made, Target shall have received from Foley & Lardner, counsel to Target, on or before the date the Form S-4 shall become effective and, subsequently, on the Closing Date, a written opinion dated as of such dates, based on customary representations of Target and Purchaser, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to counsel, to the effect that (i) the Merger will be treated for federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code; and (ii) Target, Purchaser and Merger Sub will each be a party to the reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code.

(d) BCBSA. Any required approval of the BCBSA shall have been obtained.

(e) Wisconsin Consents. The required consent of the Wisconsin Commissioner of Insurance shall have been obtained.

(f) Required Governmental Consents. Any material governmental consents or approvals required to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained.

# ARTICLE VII TERMINATION AND AMENDMENT

7.1 *Termination.* This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger contemplated hereby may be abandoned at any time prior to the Closing Date, whether before or after approval of matters presented in connection with the Merger by the stockholders of Target (except as otherwise stated herein):

(a) By mutual written consent of Purchaser and Target;

(b) By either Purchaser or Target, if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before January 31, 2004 (other than due to the failure of the party seeking to terminate this Agreement to perform its obligations under this Agreement required to be performed at or prior to the Effective Time);

(c) By Purchaser or Target, if any required approval of the stockholders of Target for this Agreement or the Merger shall not have been obtained by reason of the failure to obtain the required vote upon a vote held at a duly held meeting of stockholders or at any adjournment thereof;

(d) By Purchaser or Target if any court or other governmental body of competent jurisdiction shall have issued a final order, decree or ruling or taken any other final action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger and such order, decree, ruling or other action is or shall have become final and nonappealable (provided that the party seeking to terminate the Agreement shall have used its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary to prevent the entry of such order, decree, ruling or other action);

(e) By Target if (i) prior to the Closing Date there shall have been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Purchaser contained in this Agreement, which breach would (A) give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.3 and (B) is incapable of being cured by Purchaser or is not cured within 30 days of notice of such breach, or (ii) any of the conditions to Target's obligations to perform set forth in Article VI shall have become incapable of fulfillment;

(f) By Purchaser if (i) prior to the Closing Date there shall have been a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Target contained in this Agreement, which breach would (A) give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.2 and (B) is incapable of being cured by Target or is not cured within 30 days of notice of such breach, or (ii) any of the conditions set forth to Purchaser's obligations to perform set forth in Article VI shall have become incapable of fulfillment; or

(g) By Purchaser or Target (i) if the Board of Directors of Target authorizes Target to execute a binding written agreement with respect to a transaction that constitutes a Superior Proposal, (ii) Target notifies Purchaser in writing that it intends to enter into such an agreement and provides Purchaser with the proposed definitive documentation for such Superior Proposal and (iii) Purchaser does not, within seven days after the receipt of such written notice and documentation, provide a written offer that is at least as favorable as the Superior Proposal to the stockholders of Target; or

(h) By Purchaser or Target on or prior to the tenth Business Day after the Determination Date if the Purchaser Common Stock Price is less than \$62.50.

A-33

7.2 *Effect of Termination.* In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto except as set forth in the confidentiality provisions of Section 5.3 and Sections 7.3 and 8.1; provided, however, that nothing herein shall relieve any party from liability for any willful breach hereof.

7.3 *Fees and Expenses.* (a) If (i) Purchaser or Target terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(c) and an Alternative Transaction or the intention to propose an Alternative Transaction shall have been publicly announced and not withdrawn prior to the Target Stockholders Meeting and within 12 months thereafter Target enters into an Agreement with respect to an Alternative Transaction or an Alternative Transaction is consummated, (ii) Purchaser terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(f) and the Board of Directors of Target was aware of the existence of an Alternative Transaction or the intention to propose an Alternative Transaction and such Alternative Transaction had not been withdrawn prior to such breach and within 12 months thereafter Target enters into an agreement with respect to an Alternative Transaction or an Alternative Transaction is consummated or (iii) Purchaser or Target terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(g), then Target shall pay to Purchaser and Merger Sub, within one Business Day following the date Target enters into an agreement with respect to an Alternative Transaction or an Alternative Transaction is consummated (in the cases of clauses (i) and (ii) above) or within one Business Day following the date of such termination (in the case of clause (iii) above), a fee, in cash, of \$27.2 million, which the parties agree shall be the appropriate measure of liquidated damages and shall represent complete reimbursement of expenses incurred by Purchaser and Merger Sub up to the date of termination, and which amount shall be the total damages and sole remedy of Purchaser and Merger Sub upon the termination of this Agreement for any of the reasons described in this Section 7.3(a).

For purposes of this Section 7.3, "*Alternative Transaction*" means any of the following events: (i) the acquisition of Target by merger, reorganization, share exchange, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, dissolution or otherwise by any Person other than Purchaser, Merger Sub or any affiliate thereof (a "*Third Party*"); (ii) the acquisition by a Third Party of 20% or more of the assets of Target and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (iii) the acquisition by a Third Party of 20% or more of the outstanding shares of Target Common Stock; (iv) the adoption by Target of a plan of liquidation or the declaration or payment of a liquidating dividend; or (v) the repurchase by Target or any of its Subsidiaries of 20% or more of the outstanding shares of Target Common Stock.

(b) If Purchaser terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(h), then Purchaser shall (i) reimburse the Foundation for its documented Expenses (as defined in Section 7.3 (c)) in an amount not to exceed \$600,000, and (ii) reimburse Target for its documented Expenses (other than any broker's or finder's fee or any payment to any broker, investment banker or financial advisor, including, without limitation, any payment or fee to the Target Financial Advisor) in an amount not to exceed \$1.5 million, in each case within one Business Day following the date of such termination.

(c) Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each party shall bear its own Expenses in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, except that each of Purchaser and Target shall bear and pay one-half of the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the filing, printing and mailing of the Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement. As used in this Agreement, *"Expenses"* includes all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including, without limitation, all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants to a party hereto and its affiliates) incurred by a party or on its behalf in connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the preparation, printing, filing and mailing of the Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement and the solicitation of stockholder approvals and all other matters related to the transactions contemplated hereby.

7.4 *Amendment.* This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto, by action taken or authorized by their respective Boards of Directors, at any time before or after approval of the matters presented in connection with the Merger by the stockholders of Target, but, after any such approval, no amendment shall be made which by law or in accordance with the rules of any relevant stock exchange requires further approval by such stockholders without such further approval. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties hereto.

7.5 *Extension; Waiver.* At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties hereto, by action taken or authorized by their respective Boards of Directors, may, to the extent legally allowed, (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties hereto, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto or (c) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of those rights.

# ARTICLE VIII GENERAL PROVISIONS

8.1 *Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements.* Subject to the proviso in Section 7.2, none of the representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, including any rights arising out of any breach of such representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements, shall survive the Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1, as the case may be, except for those covenants and agreements contained herein and therein that by their terms apply or are to be performed in whole or in part after the Effective Time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Article VIII shall survive the Effective Time and the confidentiality provisions of Section 5.3 and Section 7.3 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

8.2 *Notices.* All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, or by telecopy upon confirmation of receipt, (b) on the first Business Day following the date of dispatch if delivered by a recognized next-day courier service, or (c) on the third Business Day following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. All notices hereunder shall be delivered as set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice:

(a) if to Purchaser or Merger Sub, to

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1 WellPoint Way Thousand Oaks, California 91362 Fax: (805) 557-6820 Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP 425 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Fax: (212) 455-2502 Attention: Gary I. Horowitz

(b) if to Target, to

Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 Fax: (414) 266-6229 Attention: Stephen E. Bablitch

with a copy to

Foley & Lardner 777 East Wisconsin Avenue Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 Fax: (414) 297-4900 Attention: Joseph C. Branch

8.3 Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to Sections, Exhibits or Schedules, such reference shall be to a Section of or Exhibit or Schedule to this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." The parties have participated jointly in the negotiating and drafting of this Agreement. In the event of an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement.

8.4 *Counterparts.* This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being understood that both parties need not sign the same counterpart.

8.5 *Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries.* (a) This Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. In entering into this Agreement, each party has relied solely on the representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement and acknowledges that neither of the parties nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives or advisors makes any representation or warranty, either express or implied (and agrees that none of such Persons shall have any liability or responsibility to it in respect thereof), except as and only to the extent expressly provided for in this Agreement.

(b) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party hereto, and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement; provided, however, that Section 5.7 may be enforced against Purchaser and the Surviving Corporation by the Person identified or described therein.

8.6 *Governing Law.* This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin.

8.7 *Severability.* If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any law or public policy, all other terms and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced,

the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

8.8 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto, in whole or in part (whether by operation of law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of the other party, and any attempt to make any such assignment without such consent shall be null and void, except that Merger Sub may assign, in its sole discretion, any or all of its rights, interests and obligations under this Agreement to any direct wholly owned Subsidiary of Purchaser without the consent of Target, but no such assignment shall relieve Merger Sub of any of its obligations under this Agreement. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

8.9 Submission to Jurisdiction; Waivers. Each of Purchaser and Target irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect hereof brought by the other party hereto or its successors or assigns may be brought and determined in the State Courts of the States of Delaware or New York or the Federal courts located in such states and each of Purchaser and Target hereby irrevocably submits with regard to any such action or proceeding for itself and in respect to its property, generally and unconditionally, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts. Each of Purchaser and Target hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise, in any action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement, (a) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts for any reason other than the failure to lawfully serve process, (b) that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise), and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, that (i) the suit, action or proceeding in any such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (ii) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper and (iii) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts.

8.10 *Enforcement.* The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

- 8.11 Definitions. As used in this Agreement:
- (a) "BCBSA" means the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association.

(b) "Benefit Plans" means, with respect to any Person, each employee benefit plan, program, arrangement and contract (including, without limitation, any "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA") and any bonus, deferred compensation, stock bonus, stock purchase, restricted stock, stock option, employment, termination, stay agreement or bonus, change in control and severance plan, program, arrangement and contract) in effect on the date of this Agreement or disclosed on the Target Disclosure Schedule or the Purchaser Disclosure Schedule, as the case may be, to which such Person or its Subsidiary is a party, which is maintained or contributed to by such Person, or with respect to which such Person could incur material liability under Section 4069, 4201 or 4212(c) of ERISA.

(c) "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of any specified Person and any committees thereof.

(d) "Business Day" means any day on which banks are not required or authorized to close in the City of New York.

(e) *"Controlled Group"* means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with Target within the meaning of Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.

(f) *"Credit Documents"* means the Target's three-year revolving credit facility with M&I Marshall & Ilsley Bank, dated August 7, 2002 and the Target's existing \$20 million line of credit, each as in effect on the date hereof.

(g) "Determination Date" means the Business Day immediately following the day on which all conditions set forth in Article VI (other than the condition set forth in Section 6.1(f)) have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the Closing Date); provided that if after such Business Day (or after the establishment of a later Determination Date pursuant to this proviso) an event occurs which causes any condition set forth in Article VI (other than the condition set forth in Section 6.1(f)) to no longer be satisfied, then "Determination Date" means the Business Day immediately following the day on which all conditions set forth in Article VI (other than the condition set forth in Section 6.1(f)) have again been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the Closing Date), and, in such event, such later Determination Date shall be used to calculate the Purchaser Common Stock Price and for purposes of Section 6.1(f) and Section 7.1(h).

(h) *"Exchange Ratio"* means .1233 shares of Purchaser Common Stock; *provided*, that if the Purchaser Common Stock Price (as defined in Section 8.11(q)) is less than \$70.97, the Exchange Ratio shall be equal to \$8.75 divided by the Purchaser Common Stock Price, rounded to the nearest 1/10,000.

(i) "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles as in effect in the United States from time to time.

(j) "good standing" means, when used with respect to the status of any corporation domiciled or doing business in the State of Wisconsin, that such corporation has filed its most recent required annual report and (i) if a domestic corporation, has not filed articles of dissolution, and (ii) if a foreign corporation, has not applied for a certificate of withdrawal and is not the subject of a proceeding to revoke its certificate of authority.

(k) "*Known*" or "*Knowledge*" means, (i) with respect to Target, the knowledge of Stephen Bablitch, Michael Bernstein, Gail Hanson, Lorna Granger, Timothy Cullen, Sandra Coston, Elizabeth Bartlett and Michael Murray, and (ii) with respect to Purchaser, the knowledge of Thomas Geiser, Elliot Gordon and Robert Kelly.

(1) *"Lien"* means any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), other charge or security interest; or any preference, priority or other agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any capital lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing).

(m) "*Material Adverse Effect*" means, with respect to Target, any material adverse effect on the business, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of Target (and, as applicable, its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole) and with respect to Purchaser any material adverse effect on the ability of Purchaser to consummate the Merger.

(n) "*Material Condition*" for purposes of Sections 6.2(f), (g) and (h) means any conditions that are material and adverse to Target or Purchaser or any of their Subsidiaries and that differ materially in character, degree or scope from conditions commonly imposed by such consents or approvals.

(o) "the other party" means, with respect to Target, Purchaser and means, with respect to Purchaser, Target.

(p) "*Permitted Liens*" means (i) any liens for taxes not yet due or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (ii) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or other similar liens, (iii) pledges or deposits in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance, and other social security legislation and (iv) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business which, in the aggregate, are not substantial in amount and which do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto.

(q) "*Person*" means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust, unincorporated organization, other entity or group (as defined in the Exchange Act).

(r) *"Purchaser Common Stock Price"* means the average of the closing sales prices of Purchaser Common Stock on the NYSE Composite Transactions Tape on each of the 15 consecutive NYSE trading days ending on, and including, the Determination Date.

(s) "SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(t) "Subsidiary" when used with respect to any party means any corporation or other organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, (i) of which such party or any other Subsidiary of such party is a general partner (excluding partnerships, the general partnership interests of which held by such party or any Subsidiary of such party do not have a majority of the voting interests in such partnership) or (ii) at least a majority of the securities or other interests of which having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such party or by any one or more of its Subsidiaries, or by such party and one or more of its Subsidiaries.

(u) "Superior Proposal" means a bona fide written proposal made by a Person other than Purchaser, Merger Sub or an Affiliate thereof which is (i) for a merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other similar transaction involving, or any purchase or acquisition of, (A) more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of Target's capital stock or (B) all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of Target and its Subsidiaries, and (ii) otherwise on terms which Target's Board of Directors determines in good faith after consultation with its advisors would result in a transaction that, if consummated, is more favorable to Target's stockholders, from a financial point of view (which determination of the Board of Directors shall take into account, among other things, the legal, financial, regulatory and other aspects of the proposal, including conditions to consummation and the likelihood of timely consummation), than the transactions contemplated hereby.

[Intentionally Left Blank]

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF,** Purchaser, Merger Sub and Target have caused this Agreement to be signed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, all as of the date first written above.

## WELLPOINT HEALTH NETWORKS INC.

By: /s/ THOMAS C. GEISER

Name: THOMAS C. GEISER

Title: Secretary

# **CROSSROADS ACQUISITION CORP.**

By: /s/ THOMAS C. GEISER

 Name:
 THOMAS C. GEISER

 Title:
 Secretary

### **COBALT CORPORATION**

By: /s/ STEPHEN E. BABLITCH

Name: STEPHEN E. BABLITCH

Title: CEO, Chairman

A-40

Τ

Exhibit 1.5

# AMENDED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF

# COBALT CORPORATION

This corporation is organized under Chapter 180 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

### ARTICLE I NAME

The name of the corporation is Cobalt Corporation (the "Corporation").

# ARTICLE II AUTHORIZED CAPITAL STOCK

The aggregate number of shares which the Corporation shall have authority to issue shall be One Thousand (1,000) shares, consisting of one class only of common stock and having no par value per share.

# ARTICLE III BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The number of directors constituting the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be fixed by or in the manner provided by the Bylaws of the Corporation.

# ARTICLE IV REGISTERED AGENT

The name and address of the registered agent and registered office of the Corporation are MIBEF Corporate Services, Inc., 100 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 3300, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202.

## ARTICLE V LIABILITY FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

A director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation, its shareholders, or any person asserting rights on behalf of the corporation or its shareholders, for damages, settlements, fees, fines, penalties or other monetary liabilities arising from a breach of, or failure to perform, any duty resulting solely from his or her status as a director, unless the person asserting liability proves that the breach or failure to perform constitutes any of the following:

- (i) a willful failure to deal fairly with the Corporation or its shareholders in connection with a matter in which the director has a material conflict of interest;
- (ii) a violation of criminal law, unless the director had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful;
- (iii) a transaction from which the director derived an improper personal profit;
- (iv) willful misconduct; or
- (v) liability arising under Section 180.0833 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law ("WBCL").

If the WBCL is hereafter amended to authorize, with the approval of a corporation's shareholders, further reductions in the liability of a corporation's directors for breach of fiduciary duty, then a director of the Corporation shall not be liable for any such breach to the fullest extent permitted by the WBCL as so amended. Any repeal or modification of the foregoing provisions of this *Article V* by the shareholders of the Corporation shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification.

Exhibit 1.6

# THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF

# **COBALT CORPORATION**

(a Wisconsin corporation)

1

## THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

## OF

# **COBALT CORPORATION**

### (a Wisconsin corporation)

Introduction-Variable References

- 0.01. Date of annual shareholders' meeting (See Section 2.01): First Monday in April
- 0.02. Required notice of shareholders' meeting (See Section 2.04): Not less than 48 hours
- 0.03. Authorized number of Directors (See Section 3.01): 5
- 0.04. Required notice of Directors' meeting (See Section 3.05): Not less than 24 hours

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

### Page

1.01	Principal And Business Offices	5
1.02	Registered Office	5
	ARTICLE II. SHAREHOLDERS	
2.01	Annual Meeting	5
2.02	Special Meeting	5

2.02	Special Meeting.
2.03	Place Of Meeting
2.04	Notice Of Meeting
2.05	Fixing Of Record Date
2.06	Voting Record
2.07	Quorum And Voting Requirements; Postponements; Adjournments
2.08	Conduct Of Meetings
2.09	Proxies
2.10	Voting Of Shares
2.11	Voting Of Shares By Certain Holders
	(a) Other Corporations
	(b) Legal Representatives And Fiduciaries
	(c) Pledgees
	(d) Treasury Stock And Subsidiaries
	(e) Minors
	(f) Incompetents And Spendthrifts
	(g) Joint Tenants
2.12	Waiver Of Notice By Shareholders
2.13	Unanimous Consent Without Meeting

## ARTICLE III. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3.01	General Powers And Number
3.02	Tenure And Qualifications
3.03	Regular Meetings 1
3.04	Special Meetings
3.05	Notice; Waiver
3.06	Quorum
3.07	Manner Of Acting 1
3.08	Conduct Of Meetings 1
3.09	Vacancies 1
3.10	Compensation
3.11	Presumption Of Assent 1
3.12	Committees 1
3.13	Unanimous Consent Without Meeting 1
3.14	Meetings By Telephone Or By Other Communication Technology

# ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS

4.01	Number	12
4.02	Election And Term Of Office	12
4.03	Removal	12
4.04	Vacancies	12
4.05	Chairman Of The Board	12

3

		Page		
4.06	President	13		
4.07	The Executive Vice President	13		
4.08	The Vice Presidents	13		
4.09	The Secretary	13		
4.10	The Treasurer	13		
4.11	Assistant Secretaries And Assistant Treasurers	14		
4.12	Other Assistants And Acting Officers	14		
4.13	Salaries	14		
AI	RTICLE V. CONFLICT OF INTEREST TRANSACTIONS, CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECK	S		
	AND DEPOSITS SPECIAL CORPORATE ACTS			
5.01	Conflict Of Interest Transactions	14		
5.02	Contracts	14		
5.03	Loans	14		
5.04	Checks, Drafts, Etc.	14		
5.05	Deposits	15		
5.06	Voting Of Securities Owned By This Corporation	15		
	ARTICLE VI. CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER			
6.01	Certificates For Shares	15		
6.02	Facsimile Signatures	15		
6.03	Signature By Former Officers	15		
6.04	Transfer Of Shares	15		
6.05	Restrictions On Transfer	16		
6.06	Lost, Destroyed Or Stolen Certificates	16		
6.07	Consideration For Shares	16		
6.08	Stock Regulations	16		
	ARTICLE VII. INDEMNIFICATION			
7.01	Indemnification	16		
7.02	Limited Liability Of Directors And Officers To The Corporation And Shareholders	18		
ARTICLE VIII. SEAL				
ARTICLE IX. AMENDMENTS				
9.01	By Shareholders	19		

9.02

9.03

4

By Directors .....

Implied Amendments .....

19

19

#### **ARTICLE I. OFFICES**

**1.01** *Principal and Business Offices.* The Corporation may have such principal and other business offices, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the Board of Directors may designate or as the business of the Corporation may require from time to time.

**1.02** *Registered Office.* The registered office of the Corporation required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law to be maintained in the State of Wisconsin may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office in the State of Wisconsin, and the address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by the registered agent. The business office of the registered agent of the Corporation shall be identical to such registered office.

# **ARTICLE II. SHAREHOLDERS**

**2.01** *Annual Meeting.* The annual meeting of the shareholders shall be held at the date and hour in each year set forth in Section 0.01, or at such other time and date within 30 days before or after said date as may be fixed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors, for the purpose of electing Directors and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. If the day fixed for the annual meeting shall be a legal holiday in the State of Wisconsin, such meeting shall be held on the next succeeding business day. If the election of Directors shall not be held on the day designated herein, or fixed as herein provided, for any annual meeting of the shareholders, or at any adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors shall cause the election to be held at a special meeting of the shareholders as soon thereafter as conveniently may be.

**2.02** Special Meeting. Special meetings of the shareholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, may be called by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President, the Board of Directors, or the holders of at least ten percent of all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the proposed special meeting who sign, date and deliver to the Corporation one or more written demands for the meeting describing one or more purposes for which it is to be held. The record date for determining shareholders entitled to demand a special meeting shall be the date that the first shareholder signs the demand. If duly called, the Corporation shall communicate notice of a special meeting as set forth in Section 2.04.

**2.03** *Place of Meeting.* The Board of Directors may designate any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place of meeting for any annual meeting or for any special meeting. If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be the principal business office of the Corporation in the State of Wisconsin. Any meeting may be adjourned to reconvene at any place designated by vote of a majority of the shares represented thereat.

**2.04** *Notice of Meeting.* Notice may be communicated in person, by telephone, telegraph, teletype, facsimile or other form of wire or wireless communication, or by mail or private carrier, and, if these forms of personal notice are impracticable, notice may be communicated by a newspaper of general circulation in the area where published, or by radio, television or other form of public broadcast communication. Such notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in case of a special meeting, a description of each purpose for which the meeting is called, shall be communicated or sent not less than the number of hours set forth in Section 0.02 (unless a longer period is required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or the Articles of Incorporation) nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting, by or at the direction of the Chairman of the Board, the Secretary, or other Officer or persons calling the meeting, to each shareholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting. Written notice is effective at the earliest of the following:

- (i) when received;
- (ii) on deposit in the U.S. mail, if mailed postpaid and correctly addressed; or

(iii) on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and the receipt is signed by or on behalf of the addressee.

Written notice to a shareholder shall be deemed correctly addressed if it is addressed to the shareholder's address shown in the Corporation's current record of shareholders. Oral notice is effective when communicated and the Corporation shall maintain a record setting forth the date, time, manner and recipient of the notice.

2.05 Fixing of Record Date. A "shareholder" of the Corporation shall mean the person in whose name shares are registered in the stock transfer books of the Corporation or the beneficial owner of shares to the extent of the rights granted by a nominee certificate on file with the Corporation. Such nominee certificates, if any, shall be reflected in the stock transfer books of the Corporation. For the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of shareholders or any adjournment thereof, the Board of Directors shall fix a future date not less than ten days and not more than 70 days prior to the date of any meeting of shareholders for the determination of the shareholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, such meeting. If no record date is fixed for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders, the close of business on the day before the notice of the meeting is mailed shall be the record date for such determination of shareholders. The Board of Directors also may fix a future date as the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to take any other action or determining shareholders for any other purpose, which record date shall not be more than 70 days prior to the date on which the particular action, requiring such determination of shareholders, is to be taken. When a determination of shareholders entitled to vote at any meeting of shareholders has been made as provided in this Section, such determination shall be applied to any adjournment thereof unless the Board of Directors fixes a new record date, which it shall do if the meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed for the original meeting. The record date for determining shareholders entitled to a distribution or a share dividend shall be the date on which the Board of Directors authorizes the distribution or share dividend, as the case may be, unless the Board of Directors fixes a different record date.

**2.06** *Voting Record.* The Officer or agent having charge of the stock transfer books for shares of the Corporation shall, before each meeting of shareholders, make a complete list of the shareholders entitled to vote at such meeting, or any adjournment thereof, with the address of and the number of shares held by each. The Corporation shall make the shareholders' list available for inspection by any shareholder beginning two business days after the notice of meeting is given for which the list was prepared and continuing to the date of the meeting, at the Corporation's principal office. Such record also shall be produced and kept open at the time and place of the meeting and shall be subject to the inspection of any shareholder during the whole time of the meeting for the purposes of the meeting. A shareholder or his or her agent or attorney may, on written demand, inspect and copy the list subject to the requirements set forth in Sections 180.1602 and 180.0720 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. The original stock transfer books shall be prima facie evidence as to who are the shareholders entitled to examine such record or transfer books or to vote at any meeting of shareholders. Failure to comply with the requirements of this section shall not affect the validity of any action taken at such meeting.

**2.07** *Quorum and Voting Requirements; Postponements; Adjournments.* Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group as defined in the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law may take action on a matter at a meeting only if a quorum of those shares exists with respect to that matter. Unless the Articles of Incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law provides otherwise, a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter by the voting group constitutes a quorum of that voting group for action on that matter.

Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, other than for the purpose of objecting to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting, it is considered present for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists, for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting unless a new record date is or must be set for that adjourned meeting.

If a quorum exists, action on a matter, other than the election of directors, by a voting group is approved if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless the Articles of Incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law requires a greater number of affirmative votes. Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares entitled to vote in the election at a meeting at which a quorum is present. "Plurality" means that the individuals with the largest number of votes are elected as directors up to the maximum number of directors to be chosen at the election.

"Voting group" means any of the following:

(i) All shares of one or more classes or series that under the Articles of Incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law are entitled to vote and be counted together collectively on a matter at a meeting of shareholders.

(ii) All shares that under the Articles of Incorporation or the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law are entitled to vote generally on a matter.

The Board of Directors acting by resolution may postpone and reschedule any previously scheduled meeting, provided, however, that a special meeting called by at least 10% of the shareholders may not be postponed beyond the 30th day following the originally scheduled meeting. Any meeting may be adjourned from time to time, whether or not there is a quorum:

(i) at any time, upon a resolution of shareholders if the votes cast in favor or such resolution by the holders of shares of each voting group entitled to vote on any matter theretofore properly brought before the meeting exceed the number of votes cast against such resolution by the holders of shares of each such voting group; or

(ii) at any time prior to the transaction of any business at a meeting which was not called by at least 10% of the shareholders, by the Chairman of the Board or pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors.

No notice of the time and place of adjourned meetings need be given except as required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed.

**2.08** Conduct of Meetings. The Chairman of the Board, or in the Chairman's absence, the President, or in the President's absence, the Executive Vice President (if one is designated), or in the Executive Vice President's absence, a Vice President in the order provided under Section 4.08, and in their absence, any person chosen by the shareholders present shall call the meeting of the shareholders to order and shall act as chairman of the meeting, and the Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of all meetings of the shareholders, but, in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding Officer may appoint any other person to act as Secretary of the meeting.

**2.09** *Proxies.* At all meetings of shareholders, a shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy. A shareholder may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for the shareholder by signing an appointment form, either personally or by his or her attorney-in-fact. Such proxy appointment is effective when received by the Secretary of the Corporation before or at the time of the meeting. Unless otherwise provided in the appointment form of proxy, a proxy appointment may be revoked at any time before it is voted, either by written notice filed with the Secretary or the acting Secretary of

the meeting or by oral notice given by the shareholder to the presiding Officer during the meeting. The presence of a shareholder who has filed his or her proxy appointment shall not of itself constitute a revocation. No proxy appointment shall be valid after eleven months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the appointment form of proxy. In addition to the presumptions set forth in Section 2.11 below, the Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make rules establishing presumptions as to the validity and sufficiency of proxy appointments.

**2.10** *Voting of Shares.* Each outstanding share shall be entitled to one vote upon each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of shareholders, except to the extent that the voting rights of the shares of any voting group or groups are enlarged, limited or denied by the Articles of Incorporation.

#### 2.11 Voting of Shares by Certain Holders.

(a) Other Corporations. Shares standing in the name of another corporation may be voted either in person or by proxy, by the president of such corporation or any other officer appointed by such president. An appointment form of proxy executed by any principal officer of such other corporation or assistant thereto shall be conclusive evidence of the signer's authority to act, in the absence of express notice to this Corporation, given in writing to the Secretary of this Corporation, or the designation of some other person by the board of directors or by the Bylaws of such other corporation.

(b) Legal Representatives and Fiduciaries. Shares held by an administrator, executor, guardian, conservator, trustee in bankruptcy, receiver or assignee for creditors may be voted by him, either in person or by proxy, without a transfer of such shares into his or her name, provided there is filed with the Secretary before or at the time of meeting proper evidence of his or her incumbency and the number of shares held by him or her. Shares standing in the name of a fiduciary may be voted by him or her, either in person or by proxy. An appointment form of proxy executed by a fiduciary shall be conclusive evidence of the signer's authority to act, in the absence of express notice to this Corporation, given in writing to the Secretary of this Corporation, that such manner of voting is expressly prohibited or otherwise directed by the document creating the fiduciary relationship.

(c) Pledgees. A shareholder whose shares are pledged shall be entitled to vote such shares until the shares have been transferred into the name of the pledgee, and thereafter the pledgee shall be entitled to vote the shares so transferred; provided, however, a pledgee shall be entitled to vote shares held of record by the pledgor if the Corporation receives acceptable evidence of the pledgee's authority to sign.

(d) Treasury Stock and Subsidiaries. Neither treasury shares, nor shares held by another corporation if a majority of the shares entitled to vote for the election of directors of such other corporation is held by this Corporation, shall be voted at any meeting or counted in determining the total number of outstanding shares entitled to vote, but shares of its own issue held by this Corporation in a fiduciary capacity, or held by such other corporation in a fiduciary capacity, may be voted and shall be counted in determining the total number of outstanding shares entitled to vote.

(e) Minors. Shares held by a minor may be voted by such minor in person or by proxy and no such vote shall be subject to disaffirmance or avoidance, unless prior to such vote the Secretary of the Corporation has received written notice or has actual knowledge that such shareholder is a minor. Shares held by a minor may be voted by a personal representative, administrator, executor, guardian or conservator representing the minor if evidence of such fiduciary status is presented and acceptable to the Corporation.

(f) Incompetents and Spendthrifts. Shares held by an incompetent or spendthrift may be voted by such incompetent or spendthrift in person or by proxy and no such vote shall be subject to disaffirmance or avoidance, unless prior to such vote the Secretary of the Corporation has actual knowledge that such shareholder has been adjudicated an incompetent or spendthrift or actual knowledge of filing of judicial proceedings for appointment of a guardian. Shares held by an

incompetent or spendthrift may be voted by a personal representative, administrator, executor, guardian or conservator representing the minor if evidence of such fiduciary status is presented and acceptable to the Corporation.

(g) Joint Tenants. Shares registered in the names of two or more individuals who are named in the registration as joint tenants may be voted in person or by proxy signed by any one or more of such individuals if either (i) no other such individual or his or her legal representative is present and claims the right to participate in the voting of such shares or prior to the vote files with the Secretary of the Corporation a contrary written voting authorization or direction or written denial or authority of the individual present or signing the appointment form of proxy proposed to be voted or (ii) all such other individuals are deceased and the Secretary of the Corporation has no actual knowledge that the survivor has been adjudicated not to be the successor to the interests of those deceased.

**2.12** *Waiver of Notice by Shareholders.* Whenever any notice whatever is required to be given to any shareholder of the Corporation under the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws or any provision of law, a waiver thereof in writing, signed at any time, whether before or after the time of meeting, by the shareholder entitled to such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice and the Corporation shall include copies of such waivers in its corporate records; provided that such waiver in respect to any matter of which notice is required under any provision of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, shall contain the same information as would have been required to be included in such notice, except the time and place of meeting. A shareholder's attendance at a meeting, in person or by proxy, waives objection to the following:

(i) lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting unless the shareholder at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon arrival objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting; and

(ii) consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose described in the meeting notice, unless the shareholder objects to considering the matter when it is presented.

**2.13** Unanimous Consent Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws or any provision of law to be taken at a meeting of the shareholders, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the shareholders entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter thereof.

## **ARTICLE III. BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

**3.01** *General Powers and Number.* All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the Corporation managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors, subject to any limitation set forth in the Articles of Incorporation. The number of Directors of the Corporation shall be as provided in Section 0.03. The number of Directors may be increased or decreased from time to time by amendment to this Section adopted by the shareholders or the Board of Directors but no decrease shall have the effect of shortening the term of an incumbent director.

**3.02** *Tenure and Qualifications.* Each Director shall hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until his or her successor shall have been elected, or until his or her prior death, resignation or removal. A Director may be removed from office by the shareholders if, at a meeting of shareholders called for that purpose, the number of votes cast to remove the Director exceeds the number of votes cast not to remove him or her; provided, however, if a Director is elected by a voting group of shareholders, only the shareholders of that voting group may participate in the vote to remove that Director. A Director may resign at any time by filing his or her written resignation with the Secretary of the Corporation. Directors need not be residents of the State of Wisconsin or shareholders of the Corporation.

**3.03** *Regular Meetings.* A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this by-law immediately after the annual meeting of shareholders, and each adjourned session thereof. The place of such regular meeting shall be the same as the place of the meeting of shareholders which precedes it, or such other suitable place as may be announced at such meeting of shareholders. The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, for the holding of additional regular meetings without other notice than such resolution.

**3.04** *Special Meetings.* Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chairman, Secretary or any two Directors. The Chairman, Secretary or Directors calling any special meeting of the Board of Directors may fix any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them, and if no other place is fixed, the place of meeting shall be the principal business office of the Corporation in the State of Wisconsin.

**3.05** *Notice; Waiver.* Notice may be communicated in person, by telephone, telegraph, teletype, facsimile or other form of wire or wireless communication, or by mail or private carrier, and, if these forms of personal notice are impracticable, notice may be communicated by a newspaper of general circulation in the area where published, or by radio, television or other form of public broadcast communication. Notice of each meeting of the Board of Directors (unless otherwise provided in or pursuant to Section 3.03) shall be communicated to each Director at his or her business address or telephone number or at such other address or telephone number as such Director shall have designated in writing filed with the Secretary, in each case not less than that number of hours prior thereto as set forth in Section 0.04. Written notice is effective at the earliest of the following:

- (i) when received;
- (ii) on deposit in the U.S. Mail, if mailed postpaid and correctly addressed; or

(iii) on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and the receipt is signed by or on behalf of the addressee.

Oral notice is effective when communicated and the Corporation shall maintain a record setting forth the date, time, manner and recipient of the notice.

Whenever any notice whatsoever is required to be given to any Director of the Corporation under the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws or any provision of law, a waiver thereof in writing, signed at any time, whether before or after the time of meeting, by the Director entitled to such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice, and the Corporation shall retain copies of such waivers in its corporate records. A Director's attendance at or participation in a meeting waives any required notice to him or her of the meeting unless the Director at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his or her arrival objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assert to action taken at the meeting. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

**3.06** *Quorum.* Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or by the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws, a majority of the number of Directors as provided in Section 0.03 or a majority of the number of Directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, but a majority of the Directors present or participating (though less than such quorum) may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice.

**3.07** *Manner of Acting.* If a quorum is present or participating when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a majority of Directors present or participating is the act of the Board of Directors

or a committee of the Board of Directors, unless the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws require the vote of a greater number of Directors.

**3.08** *Conduct of Meetings.* The Chairman of the Board, or in the Chairman's absence, the President, or in the President's absence, the Executive Vice President (if one be designated), or in the Executive Vice President's absence, a Vice President in the order provided under Section 4.08, and in their absence, any Director chosen by the Directors present, shall call meetings of the Board of Directors to order and shall act as chairman of the meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of all meetings of the Board of Directors, but in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding Officer may appoint any Assistant Secretary or any Director or other person present to act as Secretary of the meeting.

**3.09** *Vacancies.* Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including a vacancy created by an increase in the number of Directors, may be filled until the next succeeding annual election by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors then in office, though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors or by the shareholders; provided, that in case of a vacancy created by the removal of a Director by vote of the shareholders, the shareholders shall have the right to fill such vacancy at the same meeting or any adjournment thereof.

**3.10** *Compensation.* The Board of Directors, by affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors then in office, and irrespective of any personal interest of any of its members, may establish reasonable compensation of all Directors for services to the Corporation as Directors, Officers or otherwise, or may delegate such authority to an appropriate committee. The Board of Directors also shall have authority to provide for or to delegate authority to an appropriate committee to provide for reasonable pensions, disability or death benefits, and other benefits of payments, to Directors, Officers and employees and to their estates, families, dependents or beneficiaries on account of prior services rendered by such Directors, Officers and employees to the Corporation.

**3.11** *Presumption of Assent.* A Director of the Corporation who is present at or participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof of which he or she is a member, at which action on any corporate matter is taken, shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless his or her dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless he or she shall file his or her written dissent to such action with the person acting as the Secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof or shall forward such dissent by registered mail to the Secretary of the Corporation immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a Director who voted in favor of such action.

3.12 Committees. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the number of Directors as provided in Section 0.03, may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of two or more Directors elected by the Board of Directors, which to the extent provided in said resolution as initially adopted, and as thereafter supplemented or amended by further resolution adopted by a like vote, shall have and may exercise, when the Board of Directors is not in session, the powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, except that a committee may not do any of the following: (i) authorize distributions; (ii) approve or propose to shareholders action that the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law requires be approved by shareholders; (iii) fill vacancies on the Board of Directors or on any of its committees, unless the Board of Directors provides by resolution that any vacancies on a committee shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining committee members; (iv) amend the Articles of Incorporation under Section 180.1002 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law; (v) adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws; (vi) approve a plan of merger not requiring shareholder approval; (vii) authorize or approve reacquisition of shares, except according to a formula or method prescribed by the Board of Directors; or (viii) authorize or approve the issuance or sale or contract for sale of shares, or determine the designation and relative rights, preferences and limitations of a class or

series of shares, except that the Board of Directors may authorize a committee or a senior executive officer of the Corporation to do so within limits prescribed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may elect one or more of its members as alternate members of any such committee who may take the place of any absent member or members at any meeting of such committee, upon request by the President or upon request by the chairman of such meeting. Each such committee shall fix its own rules governing the conduct of its activities and shall make such reports to the Board of Directors of its activities as the Board of Directors may request.

**3.13** Unanimous Consent Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the Articles of Incorporation or the Bylaws or any provision of law to be taken by the Board of Directors at a meeting or by resolution may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the Directors then in office.

**3.14** *Meetings By Telephone Or By Other Communication Technology.* Meetings of the Board of Directors or committees may be conducted by telephone or by other communication technology in accordance Section 180.0820 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (or any successor statutory provision).

#### **ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS**

**4.01** *Number.* The principal Officers of the Corporation shall be a Chairman, a President, the number of Vice Presidents as may be determined by the Board of Directors, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, each of whom the Board of Directors shall from time to time determine. Such other Officers and assistant officers as may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may authorize a duly appointed Officer to appoint one or more Officers or Assistant Officers. The same natural person may simultaneously hold more than one office in the Corporation.

**4.02** *Election and Term of Office.* The Officers of the Corporation to be elected by the Board of Directors shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at the first meeting of the Board of Directors held after each annual meeting of the shareholders. If the election of Officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently may be. Each Officer shall hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected or until his or her prior death, resignation or removal.

**4.03** *Removal.* Any Officer or agent may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment shall not of itself create contract rights.

**4.04** *Vacancies.* A vacancy in any principal office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise, shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

**4.05** *Chairman of the Board.* The Chairman shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Corporation. He or she shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors. The Chairman shall have authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to appoint such agents and employees of the corporation as he or she shall deem necessary, to prescribe their powers, duties and compensation, and to delegate authority to them. Such agents and employees shall hold office at the discretion of the Chairman. The Chairman shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the Corporation, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, stock certificates, contracts, leases, reports and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the corporation's regular

business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and, except as otherwise provided by law or the Board of Directors, the Chairman may authorize the President or any Vice President or other officer or agent of the Corporation to sign, execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his or her place and stead. In general, the Chairman shall perform all duties incident to the office of chief executive officer and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

**4.06** *President.* The President shall be the chief operating officer of the Corporation and, subject to the control of the Chairman, shall supervise and control the operations of the Corporation. He or she shall, in the absence of the Chairman, preside at all meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors. He or she shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the Corporation, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, stock certificates, contracts, leases, reports and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the Corporation's regular business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and, except as otherwise provided by law or the Board of Directors, he or she may authorize any Vice President or other Officer or agent of the Corporation to sign, execute and acknowledge such documents or instruments in his or her place and stead. In general, he or she shall perform all duties incident to the office of chief operating officer and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or Chairman from time to time.

**4.07** *The Executive Vice President.* The Executive Vice President, if one be designated, shall assist the or President in the discharge of supervisory, managerial and executive duties and functions. In the absence of the President or in the event of his or her death, inability or refusal to act, the Executive Vice President shall perform the duties of the President and when so acting shall have all the powers and duties of the President. He or she shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors, the Chairman or the President.

**4.08** *The Vice Presidents.* In the absence of the Chairman, President and the Executive Vice President or in the event of their death, inability or refusal to act, or in the event for any reason it shall be impracticable for them to act personally, the Vice President (or in the event there be more than one Vice President, the Vice Presidents in the order designated by the Board of Directors, or in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election) shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. Any Vice President may sign, with the Secretary or Assistant Secretary, certificates for shares of the Corporation; and shall perform such other duties and have such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him or her by the Chairman, the President, the Executive Vice President or by the Board of Directors. The execution of any instrument of the Corporation by any Vice President shall be conclusive evidence, as to third parties, of his or her authority to act in the stead of the Chairman or the President.

**4.09** *The Secretary.* The Secretary shall: (i) keep the minutes of the meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (ii) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws or as required by law; (iii) be custodian of the corporate records; (iv) keep or arrange for the keeping of a register of the post office address of each shareholder which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such shareholder; (v) have general charge of the stock transfer books of the Corporation; and (vi) in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and have such other duties and exercise such authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him or her by the President or by the Board of Directors.

**4.10** *The Treasurer.* The Treasurer shall: (i) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Corporation; (ii) receive and give receipts for monies due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such monies in the name of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance

with the provisions of Section 5.05 hereof; and (iii) in general, perform all of the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and have such other duties and exercise such other authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned to him or her by the Chairman, the President or by the Board of Directors. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of his duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine.

**4.11** Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. There shall be such number of Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers as the Board of Directors may from time to time authorize. The Assistant Treasurers shall, if required by the Board of Directors, give bonds for the faithful discharge of their duties in such sums and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall perform such duties and have such authority as shall from time to time be delegated or assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the President or the Board of Directors.

**4.12** Other Assistants and Acting Officers. The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint any person to act as assistant to any Officer, or as agent for the Corporation in his or her stead, or to perform the duties of such Officer whenever for any reason it is impracticable for such Officer to act personally and such assistant or acting Officer or other agent so appointed by the Board of Directors shall have the power to perform all the duties of the office to which he or her is so appointed to be assistant, or as to which he or her is so appointed to act, except as such power may be otherwise defined or restricted by the Board of Directors.

**4.13** *Salaries.* The salaries of the principal Officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by a duly authorized committee thereof, and no Officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary by reason of the fact that he or she is also a Director of the Corporation.

## ARTICLE V. CONFLICT OF INTEREST TRANSACTIONS, CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS: SPECIAL CORPORATE ACTS

**5.01** *Conflict of Interest Transactions.* A "conflict of interest" transaction means a transaction with the Corporation in which a Director of the Corporation has a direct or indirect interest. The circumstances in which a Director of the Corporation has an indirect interest in a transaction include but are not limited to a transaction under any of the following circumstances: (i) another entity in which the Director has a material financial interest or in which the Director is a general partner is a party to the transaction; or (ii) another entity of which the Director is a director, officer or trustee is a party to the transaction and the transaction is or, because of its significance to the Corporation should be, considered by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. A conflict of interest transaction is not voidable by the Corporation solely because of the Director's interest in the transaction if any of the circumstances set forth in Section 180.0831 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (or any successor statutory provision) are true or occur.

**5.02** *Contracts.* The Board of Directors may authorize any Officer or Officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.

**5.03** *Loans.* No indebtedness for borrowed money shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation and no evidences of such indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.

5.04 Checks, Drafts, etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by such Officer

or Officers, agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.

**5.05** *Deposits.* All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as may be selected by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.

5.06 Voting of Securities Owned by this Corporation. Subject always to the specific directions of the Board of Directors, (i) any shares or other securities issued by any other corporation and owned or controlled by this Corporation may be voted at any meeting of security holders of such other corporation by the Chairman of this Corporation if he or she be present, or in the Chairman's absence, by the President, or in the President's absence, by the Executive Vice President (if one be designated), or in the executive Vice President's absence, by any Vice President of this Corporation who may be present, and (ii) whenever, in the judgment of the Chairman, or in the Chairman's absence, of the President, or in the President's absence, of the Executive Vice President, or, in the Executive Vice President's absence, of any Vice President, it is desirable for this Corporation to execute an appointment of proxy or written consent in respect to any shares or other securities issued by any other corporation and owned by this corporation, such proxy appointment or consent shall be executed in the name of this Corporation by the Chairman, the President, the Executive Vice President, or one of the Vice Presidents of Corporation in the order as provided in clause (i) of this Section, without necessity of any authorization by the Board of Directors or countersignature or attestation by another officer. Any person or persons designated in the manner above stated as the proxy or proxies of this Corporation shall have full right, power and authority to vote the shares or other securities issued by such other corporation and owned by this Corporation the same as such shares or other securities might be voted by this Corporation.

# ARTICLE VI. CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER

**6.01** *Certificates for Shares.* Certificates representing shares of the Corporation shall be in such form, consistent with law, as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. Such certificates shall be signed by the Chairman or by another Officer designated by the Chairman or the Board of Directors. All certificates for shares shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified. The name and address of the person to whom the shares represented thereby are issued, with the number of shares and date of issue, shall be entered on the stock transfer books of the Corporation. All certificates surrendered to the Corporation for transfer shall be cancelled and no new certificate shall be issued until the former certificate for a like number of shares shall have been surrendered and cancelled, except as provided in Section 6.06 hereof.

**6.02** *Facsimile Signatures.* The signature of the Chairman or other authorized Officer upon a certificate may be facsimiles if the certificate is manually signed on behalf of a transfer agent, or a registrar, other than the Corporation itself or an employee of the Corporation.

**6.03** Signature by Former Officers. In case any Officer, who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon, any certificate for shares, shall have ceased to be such Officer before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if he or she were such Officer at the date of its issue.

**6.04** *Transfer of Shares.* Prior to due presentment of a certificate for shares for registration of transfer, the Corporation may treat the registered owner of such shares as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notifications and otherwise to have and exercise all the rights and powers of an owner. Where a certificate for shares is presented to the Corporation with a request to register for transfer, the Corporation shall not be liable to the owner or any other person suffering loss as a result of such registration of transfer if (i) there were on or with the certificate the necessary endorsements,

and (ii) the corporation had no duty to inquire into adverse claims or has discharged any such duty. The Corporation may require reasonable assurance that said endorsements are genuine and effective and in compliance with such other regulations as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.

**6.05** *Restrictions on Transfer.* The face or reverse side of each certificate representing shares shall bear a conspicuous notation of any restriction imposed by the Corporation upon the transfer of such shares.

**6.06** Lost, Destroyed or Stolen Certificates. Where the owner claims that his or her certificate for shares has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken, a new certificate shall be issued in place thereof if the owner (i) so requests before the Corporation has notice that such shares have been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, and (ii) files with the Corporation a sufficient indemnity bond, and (iii) satisfies such other reasonable requirements as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.

**6.07** *Consideration for Shares.* The shares of the Corporation may be issued for such consideration as shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors, provided that any shares having a par value shall not be issued for a consideration less than the par value thereof. The consideration to be received for shares may consist of any tangible or intangible property or benefit to the Corporation, including cash, promissory notes, services performed, contracts for services to be performed or other securities of the Corporation. When the Corporation receives the consideration for which the Board of Directors authorized the issuance of shares, the shares issued for that consideration are fully paid and nonassessable, except as provided by Section 180.0622 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (or any successor statutory provision) which may require further assessment for unpaid wages to employees under certain circumstances. The Corporation may place in escrow shares issued for a contract for future services or benefits or a promissory note, or make other arrangements to restrict the transfer of the shares, and may credit distributions in respect of the shares against their purchase price, until the services are performed, the benefits are received or the note is paid. If the services are not performed, the benefits are not received or the note is not paid, the Corporation may cancel, in whole or in part, the shares escrowed or restricted and the distributions credited.

**6.08** *Stock Regulations.* The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such further rules and regulations not inconsistent with the statutes of the State of Wisconsin as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of certificates representing shares of the Corporation.

# **ARTICLE VII. INDEMNIFICATION**

#### 7.01. Indemnification.

(a) Any person, or such person's estate or personal representative, made or threatened with being made a party to any action, suit, arbitration, or proceeding (civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, whether formal or informal), which involves foreign, federal, state or local law, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a Director or Officer of the Corporation or of any corporation or other enterprise for which he or she served at the Corporation's request as a director, officer, partner, trustee, member of any decision-making committee, employee, or agent, shall be indemnified by the Corporation for all reasonable expenses incurred in the proceeding to the extent he or she has been successful on the merits or otherwise.

(b) In cases where a person described in Paragraph (a) of this Section is not successful on the merits or otherwise, the Corporation shall indemnify such person against liability and reasonable expenses incurred by him or her in any such proceeding, unless liability was incurred because the

person breached or failed to perform a duty he or she owed to the Corporation and the breach or failure to perform constituted any of the following:

(1) A willful failure to deal fairly with the Corporation or its shareholders in connection with a matter in which the Director or Officer had a material conflict of interest;

(2) A violation of criminal law, unless the Director or Officer had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful;

(3) A transaction from which the Director or Officer derived an improper personal profit; or

(4) Willful misconduct.

(c) The determination whether indemnification shall be required under Paragraph (b) of this Section shall be made according to one of the following methods selected by the Director or Officer:

(1) By a majority vote of a quorum of the Board of Directors consisting of Directors who are not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings. If a quorum of such disinterested Directors cannot be obtained, by majority vote of a committee duly appointed by the Board of Directors and consisting solely of two or more Directors who are not at the time parties to the same or related proceedings. Directors who are parties to the same or related proceedings may participate in the designation of members of the committee;

(2) By independent legal counsel selected by a quorum of the Board of Directors or its committee in the manner prescribed in paragraph (1) of this Section or, if unable to obtain such a quorum or committee, by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, including Directors who are parties to the same or related proceedings; or

(3) By the court conducting the proceedings or another court of competent jurisdiction, either on application by the Director or Officer for an initial determination or on application for review of an adverse determination under Clause (1) or (2) of this paragraph (c).

(d) The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of no contest or an equivalent plea, does not, by itself, create a presumption that indemnification of the Director or Officer is not required.

(e) A Director or Officer who seeks indemnification under this Section shall make a written request to the Corporation.

(f) Upon written request by a Director or Officer who is a party to a proceeding described in Paragraph (a) of this Section, the Corporation may pay or reimburse his or her reasonable expenses as incurred if the Director or Officer provides the Corporation with all of the following:

(1) A written affirmation of his or her good faith belief that he or she has not breached or failed to perform his or her duties to the Corporation; and

(2) A written undertaking, executed personally or on his or her behalf, to repay the allowance and reasonable interest thereon, to the extent that it is ultimately determined under Clause (1) or (2) of Paragraph (c) of this Section, that indemnification is not required or to the extent that indemnification is not ordered by a court under Clause (3) of Paragraph (c) of this Section. The undertaking under this Clause (2) shall be an unlimited general obligation of the Director or Officer, may be accepted without reference to his or her ability to repay the allowance and may be secured or unsecured.

(g) Paragraphs (a) through (f) of this Section shall also apply where a person or such person's estate or personal representative is made or threatened with being made a party to any proceeding described in Paragraph (a) of this Section by reason of the fact that such person is or was an employee of the Corporation, except that in addition to the categories of conduct set forth in Paragraph (b) of

this Section in relation to which the Corporation has no duty to indemnify, the Corporation also shall have no duty to indemnify the employee against liability and reasonable expenses incurred by him or her in any such proceeding if liability was incurred because the person breached or failed to perform a duty he or she owed to the Corporation and the breach or failure to perform constituted material negligence or material misconduct in performance of the employee's duties to the Corporation.

(h) Unless a Director or Officer of the Corporation has knowledge that makes reliance unwarranted, a Director or Officer, in discharging his or her duties to the Corporation, may rely on information, opinions, reports or statements, any of which may be written or oral, formal or informal, including financial statements and other financial data, if prepared or presented by any of the following:

(1) An Officer or employee of the Corporation whom the Director or Officer believes in good faith to be reliable and competent in the matters presented;

(2) Legal counsel, public accountants or other persons as to matters the Director or Officer believes in good faith are within the person's professional or expert competence; or

(3) In the case of reliance by a Director, a committee of the Board of Directors of which the Director is not a member if the Director believes in good faith that the committee merits confidence.

This Paragraph (h) does not apply to the liability of a Director for improper declaration of dividends, distribution of assets, corporate purchase of its own shares, distribution of assets to Shareholders during liquidation, corporate loans made to an Officer or Director under Wisconsin Business Corporation Law Section 180.0832(1) or the reliance of a Director on financial information represented as correct by Officers or independent or certified public accountants under Wisconsin Business Corporation Law Section 180.0826.

(i) In discharging his or her duties to the Corporation and in determining what he or she believes to be in the best interest of the Corporation, a Director or Officer may, in addition to considering the effects of any action on Shareholders, consider the following:

- (1) The effects of the action on employees, suppliers and customers of the Corporation;
- (2) The effects of the action on communities in which the Corporation operates; or
- (3) Any other factor the Director or Officer considers pertinent.

#### 7.02. Limited Liability of Directors and Officers to the Corporation and Shareholders.

(a) Except as provided in Paragraph (b) of this Section, a Director or Officer is not liable to the Corporation, its shareholders or any person asserting rights on behalf of the Corporation or shareholders, for damages, settlements, fees, fines, penalties or other monetary liabilities arising from a breach of, or failure to perform, any duty resulting solely from his or her status as a Director, unless the person asserting liability proves that the breach or failure to perform constitutes any of the following:

(1) A willful failure to deal fairly with the Corporation or Shareholders in connection with a matter in which the Director or Officer had a material conflict of interest;

(2) A violation of criminal law, unless the Director or Officer had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful;

- (3) A transaction from which the Director or Officer derived an improper personal profit; or
- (4) Willful misconduct.

(b) This Section does not apply to the liability of a Director or Officer for improper declaration of dividends, distribution of assets, corporate purchase of its own shares, or distribution of assets to shareholders during liquidation, or for corporate loans made to an Officer or Director under Wisconsin Business Corporation Law Section 180.0832(1).

#### **ARTICLE VIII. SEAL**

There shall be no corporate seal.

#### **ARTICLE IX. AMENDMENTS**

**9.01** By Shareholders. The Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted by the shareholders by the affirmative vote specified in Section 2.07 of these Bylaws.

**9.02** By Directors. The Bylaws may also be altered, amended or repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted by the Board of Directors by affirmative vote of a majority of the number of Directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is in attendance; but no Bylaw adopted by the shareholders shall be amended or repealed by the Board of Directors if the Bylaw so adopted so provides.

**9.03** *Implied Amendments.* Any action taken or authorized by the shareholders or by the Board of Directors, which would be inconsistent with the Bylaws then in effect but is taken or authorized by affirmative vote of not less than the number of shares or the number of Directors required to amend the Bylaws so that the Bylaws would be consistent with such action, shall be given the same effect as though the Bylaws had been temporarily amended or suspended so far, but only so far, as is necessary to permit the specific action so taken or authorized.

#### Exhibit 5.11

, 2003

WellPoint Health Networks Inc. 1 WellPoint Way Thousand Oaks, California 91362

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 3, 2003 (the "Merger Agreement"), among WellPoint Health Networks Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Purchaser"), Crossroads Acquisition Corp. a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Purchaser ("Merger Sub") and Cobalt Corporation, a Wisconsin corporation ("Target"), Target will merge with and into Merger Sub (the "Merger"). Immediately following the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Target shall cease and Merger Sub shall continue as the surviving corporation under the name Cobalt Corporation. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined have the meanings assigned to them in the Merger Agreement.

The undersigned has been advised that as of the date the Merger is submitted to stockholders of Target for approval, the undersigned may be an "affiliate" of Target as the term is defined for purposes of paragraphs (c) and (d) of Rule 145 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "*Commission*") under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "*Securities Act*"), although nothing contained herein shall be construed as an admission of such fact, or as a waiver of any rights that the undersigned may have to object to any claim that the undersigned is such an affiliate on or after the date of this letter.

The undersigned hereby represents, warrants and covenants with and to Purchaser that in the event the undersigned receives any Purchaser Common Stock as a result of the Merger:

(A) The undersigned will not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of such Purchaser Common Stock unless (i) such sale, transfer or other disposition has been registered under the Securities Act, (ii) such sale, transfer or other disposition is made in conformity with the provisions of Rule 145 under the Securities Act (as such rule may hereafter from time to time be amended), or (iii) in the opinion of counsel in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser, or under a "no-action" or interpretive letter obtained by the undersigned from the Commission specifically issued with respect to the transaction to be engaged in by the undersigned, such sale, transfer or other disposition will not violate or is otherwise exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

(B) The undersigned understands that Purchaser is under no obligation to register the sale, transfer or other disposition of shares of Purchaser Common Stock by the undersigned or on the undersigned's behalf under the Securities Act, or to take any other action necessary in order to make compliance with an exemption from such registration available.

(C) The undersigned understands and agrees that this letter agreement shall apply to all shares of the capital stock of Target that are deemed to be beneficially owned by the undersigned immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger pursuant to applicable federal securities laws.

(D) The undersigned has carefully read this letter and discussed its requirements and other applicable limitations upon the undersigned's ability to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the capital stock of Purchaser, to the extent the undersigned felt necessary, with the undersigned's counsel or counsel for Target.

This letter agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

This letter agreement shall terminate if and when the Merger Agreement is terminated according to its terms.

[signature page follows]

Very truly yours,

Name:

[add below the signatures of all registered owners of shares deemed beneficially owned by the affiliate]

Name:

Name:

Name:

# APPENDIX B OPINION OF UBS WARBURG LLC [LETTERHEAD OF UBS WARBURG LLC]

June 3, 2003

The Board of Directors Cobalt Corporation 401 West Michigan Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203

Dear Members of the Board:

We understand that Cobalt Corporation ("Cobalt") proposes to enter into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 3, 2003 (the "Agreement"), by and among WellPoint Health Networks Inc. ("WellPoint"), Crossroads Acquisition Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of WellPoint ("Merger Sub"), and Cobalt pursuant to which (i) Cobalt and Merger Sub will be merged (the "Merger") and (ii) each outstanding share of the common stock, no par value, of Cobalt ("Cobalt Common Stock"), other than shares held by WellPoint, Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsin ("BCBSUW"), or their respective affiliates, will be converted into the right to receive (A) \$10.25 in cash (the "Cash Consideration") and (B) 0.1233 of a share (such number of shares, the "Stock Consideration" and, together with the Cash Consideration, the "Merger Consideration") of the common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of WellPoint ("WellPoint Common Stock"); provided, that if the average of the closing sales prices of WellPoint Common Stock on each of the 15 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the business day immediately following the day on which all closing conditions (other than certain specified conditions and those conditions which by their terms cannot be satisfied until the closing date of the Merger) have been satisfied or waived (such average closing sales price, the "WellPoint Common Stock Price") is less than \$70.97, then the Stock Consideration will be equal to \$8.75 divided by the WellPoint Common Stock Price. The terms and conditions of the Merger are more fully set forth in the Agreement.

You have requested our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger Consideration to the holders of Cobalt Common Stock (other than WellPoint, BCBSUW, and their respective affiliates).

UBS Warburg LLC ("UBS Warburg") has acted as financial advisor to Cobalt in connection with the Merger and will receive a fee for its services, a significant portion of which is contingent upon the consummation of the Merger. UBS Warburg also will receive a fee in connection with this opinion. As you are aware, UBS Warburg in the past has acted as a joint book-running manager for certain public offerings of Cobalt Common Stock, including a secondary offering of Cobalt Common Stock in February 2003, for which services UBS Warburg received compensation. UBS Warburg and its predecessors and affiliates in the past also have acted as managing underwriters for certain public offerings of securities of WellPoint, including a public offering in June 2001 of WellPoint's 63% Notes due 2006, for which services UBS Warburg and its predecessors and affiliates have received compensation. In addition, an affiliate of UBS Warburg currently is a lender under certain bank credit facilities of WellPoint. In the ordinary course of business, UBS Warburg, its successors and affiliates may hold or trade securities of Cobalt and WellPoint for their own accounts and accounts of customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

Our opinion does not address the relative merits of the Merger as compared to other business strategies or transactions that might be available with respect to Cobalt or the underlying business decision of Cobalt to effect the Merger. Our opinion does not constitute a recommendation to any stockholder of Cobalt as to how such stockholder should vote or act with respect to any matters relating to the Merger. We have not been asked to, nor do we, offer any opinion as to the terms of the Agreement or related documents and the obligations thereunder, or the form of the Merger. We

The Board of Directors Cobalt Corporation June 3, 2003 Page 2

express no opinion as to what the value of WellPoint Common Stock will be when issued pursuant to the Merger or the prices at which WellPoint Common Stock will trade or otherwise be transferable at any time. In rendering this opinion, we have assumed, with your consent, that the Merger will be treated as a tax-free reorganization for federal income tax purposes. We also have assumed, with your consent, that each of Cobalt, WellPoint and Merger Sub will comply with all material covenants and agreements set forth in, and other material terms of, the Agreement and that the Merger will be consummated in accordance with its terms, without waiver, modification or amendment of any material term, condition or agreement. We further have assumed, with your consent, that all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Merger will be obtained without any adverse effect on Cobalt, WellPoint or the Merger. In connection with our engagement, we were not requested to, and we did not, solicit third party indications of interest in the possible acquisition of all or a part of Cobalt.

In arriving at our opinion, we have, among other things: (i) reviewed certain publicly available business and financial information relating to Cobalt and WellPoint, including publicly available financial forecasts and estimates relating to WellPoint that were reviewed and discussed with us by the management of WellPoint; (ii) reviewed certain internal financial information and other data relating to the business and financial prospects of Cobalt, including financial forecasts and estimates prepared by the management of Cobalt, that were provided to us by the management of Cobalt and are not publicly available; (iii) conducted discussions with members of the senior managements of Cobalt and WellPoint concerning the businesses and financial prospects of Cobalt and WellPoint; (iv) reviewed current and historical market prices and trading volumes of Cobalt Common Stock and WellPoint Common Stock; (v) reviewed publicly available financial and stock market data with respect to certain companies in lines of businesses we believe to be generally comparable to those of Cobalt and WellPoint; (vi) compared the financial terms of the Merger with publicly available financial terms of certain other transactions which we believe to be generally relevant; (vii) considered certain pro forma effects of the Merger on the financial statements of WellPoint; (viii) reviewed the Agreement and certain related documents; and (ix) conducted such other financial studies, analyses and investigations, and considered such other information, as we deemed necessary or appropriate.

In connection with our review, with your consent, we have not assumed any responsibility for independent verification of any of the information provided to or reviewed by us for the purpose of this opinion and have, with your consent, relied on such information being complete and accurate in all material respects. In addition, at your direction, we have not made any independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise and including, without limitation, actuarially determined liabilities) of Cobalt or WellPoint, nor have we been furnished with any such evaluation or appraisal. With respect to the publicly available financial forecasts and estimates relating to WellPoint referred to above, we were advised by the management of WellPoint that such forecasts represent reasonable estimates and judgments as to the future financial performance of WellPoint. With respect to the internal financial forecasts and estimates relating to Cobalt referred to above, we have assumed, at your direction, that they have been reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the management of Cobalt as to the future financial performance of Cobalt. Our opinion is necessarily based on economic, monetary, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information available to us as of, the date of this opinion.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Cobalt Common Stock (other than WellPoint, BCBSUW, and their respective affiliates).

Very truly yours, /s/ UBS Warburg LLC UBS WARBURG LLC

**B-2** 

# PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

# **ITEM 20. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS**

WellPoint is a Delaware corporation. Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of the state of Delaware empowers a Delaware corporation to indemnify any persons who are, or are threatened to be made, parties to any threatened, pending or completed legal action, suit or proceedings, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than action by or in the right of such corporation), by reason of the fact that such person was an officer or director of such corporation or is or was serving at the request of such corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or enterprise. The indemnity may include expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, provided that such officer or director acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the corporation's best interests, and, for criminal proceedings, had no reasonable cause to believe such person's conduct was illegal. A Delaware corporation may indemnify officers and directors in an action by or in the right of the corporation under the same conditions, except that no indemnification is permitted without judicial approval if the officer or director is adjudged to be liable to the corporation in the performance of such person's duty. Where an officer or director is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense of any action referred to above, the corporation must indemnify such person against the expenses which such officer or director actually and reasonably incurred.

WellPoint's certificate of incorporation provides that the liability of WellPoint's directors to WellPoint or WellPoint's stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty will be eliminated to the fullest extent permissible under Delaware law except for (i) breaches of the duty of loyalty; (ii) acts or omissions not in good faith or involving intentional misconduct or knowing violations of the law; (iii) the payment of unlawful dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions; and (iv) transactions in which a director received an improper personal benefit.

The effect of these provisions is to eliminate the rights of WellPoint and its stockholders (through stockholders' derivative suits on behalf of WellPoint) to recover monetary damages against a director for breach of fiduciary duty of care as a director (including breaches resulting from negligent or grossly negligent behavior) except in certain limited situations. These provisions do not limit or eliminate the rights of WellPoint or any stockholder to seek non-monetary relief such as an injunction or rescission in the event of a breach of a director's fiduciary duty of care. In addition, these provisions do not alter the liability of directors under federal securities law.

WellPoint's bylaws provide that WellPoint will indemnify each present and former director and officer of WellPoint or its predecessor, WellPoint Health Networks Inc., a California corporation, to the fullest extent provided by Delaware law.

In addition, WellPoint has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and certain officers that provide for the maximum indemnification permitted by law and WellPoint carries directors' and officers' liability insurance.

#### **ITEM 21. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES**

(a) See the Exhibit Index included immediately preceding the exhibits to this registration statement.

(b) All of the financial statement schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Commission are not required under the applicable instructions or are not applicable and therefore have been omitted.

#### **ITEM 22. UNDERTAKINGS**

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in this registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows: that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through the use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Rule 145(c) of the Securities Act of 1933, the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items of the applicable form. The registrant undertakes that every prospectus: (i) that is filed pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence, or (ii) that purports to meet the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933 and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, will be filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11 or 13 of this form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of this registration statement through the date of responding to the request.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in this registration statement when it became effective.

#### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Thousand Oaks, State of California, on June 30, 2003.

# WELLPOINT HEALTH NETWORKS INC.

By: /s/ LEONARD D. SCHAEFFER

Leonard D. Schaeffer Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

#### **POWER OF ATTORNEY**

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Leonard D. Schaeffer and Thomas C. Geiser, and each of them, with full power to act without the other, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this registration statement and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person thereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ LEONARD D. SCHAEFFER Leonard D. Schaeffer	<ul> <li>Chairman of the Board of Directors</li> <li>And Chief Executive Officer</li> <li>(Principal Executive Officer)</li> </ul>	June 30, 2003
/s/ DAVID C. COLBY David C. Colby	<ul> <li>Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)</li> </ul>	June 30, 2003
/s/ KENNETH C. ZUREK Kenneth C. Zurek	Senior Vice President, Controller and Taxation (Principal Accounting Officer)	June 30, 2003
/s/ ROGER E. BIRK Roger E. Birk	– Director	June 30, 2003

II-3

Τ

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ SHEILA P. BURKE Sheila P. Burke	Director	June 30, 2003
/s/ WILLIAM H.T. BUSH William H.T. Bush	Director	June 30, 2003
/s/ JULIE A. HILL Julie A. Hill	Director	June 30, 2003
/s/ WARREN Y. JOBE Warren Y. Jobe	Director	June 30, 2003
/s/ RAMIRO G. PERU Ramiro G. Peru	Director	June 30, 2003
/s/ JANE G. PISANO Jane G. Pisano	Director	June 30, 2003
/s/ ELIZABETH A. SANDERS Elizabeth A. Sanders	Director	June 30, 2003

# EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT NUMBER	DESCRIPTION
2.1 -	Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 3, 2003, among WellPoint Health Networks Inc., Crossroads Acquisition Corp. and Cobalt Corporation (included as Appendix A to the proxy statement/prospectus, which forms a part of this registration statement).
5.1 -	Opinion of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP regarding the validity of the shares of WellPoint common stock registered hereunder
8.1* -	Tax Opinion of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
8.2* -	Tax Opinion of Foley & Lardner
15.1 -	Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP regarding unaudited interim financial information
23.1 -	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
23.2 -	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
23.3 -	Consent of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP (contained in Exhibit 8.1)
23.4 -	Consent of Foley & Lardner (contained in Exhibit 8.2)
23.5 -	Consent of UBS Securities LLC (formerly known as UBS Warburg LLC)
24.1 -	Power of Attorney (contained on the signature page of this registration statement)
99.1 -	Form of Proxy Card of Cobalt Corporation

\* To be filed by amendment